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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I don't want

          3  anybody here to believe that I am a one woman show,

          4  but I can be a one woman show, if it is necessary.

          5  For reasons that are beyond my control, my entire

          6  group of people in charge of this Committee are not

          7  here now, but I cannot wait for them, because the

          8  mentally ill in their own homes are not waiting for

          9  anybody when they are abused, and some time even

         10  silent.  Then we will proceed with this hearing, and

         11  I don't want, under no circumstance, to disrespect

         12  the Commissioner of Mental Health, and Health in

         13  general, of our City that has been so kind to come

         14  here today.

         15                 Before we continue and begin our

         16  hearing, I just need to take care of some in- house

         17  issues.  Before I take care of those inside issues,

         18  I just want to make an announcement.  At 11:30,

         19  today, the District Attorney of Manhattan,

         20  Morgenthal, announced indictment of two individuals

         21  and their company for allegedly stealing more than

         22  $2 million in financial fraud scheme from their

         23  management of an adult home for residents with

         24  mental disabilities.  DA's Office, Morgenthal, has

         25  announced that today, and is just a pure accident
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          2  that we were having this hearing today.

          3                 It is no surprise to me that the DA

          4  of Manhattan has proceeded with this indictment,

          5  because this issue is a true, real scandal, similar

          6  to the scandal that we witnessed over 30 years ago

          7  with Willowbrook, when we thought that New York

          8  learned a lesson that we do not have no right to

          9  abuse just one who cannot defend themself.  And at

         10  the time, New York and New York City took very

         11  serious to stop those abuses.  And from those abuses

         12  some people became famous and some people became

         13  infamous.

         14                 I hope that in this case we don't

         15  need to go through that, and what we really will get

         16  is a resolution to this problem. Because the

         17  residents of New York City, at least, I can say that

         18  have real, true advocates living in this city that

         19  will not allow this to continue.  If the rest of the

         20  State does not take care of this problem, because

         21  the Governor is too busy doing other things, that is

         22  his problem.  In the City this is going to be

         23  handled differently, and I know that this Mayor and

         24  the Commissioner of Health will do everything

         25  possible to see how we can do something at this
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          2  level to deal with this problem, and say, here stop

          3  the ball.

          4                 With that introduction and saying no

          5  more, I would like the two staff members of this

          6  Committee to introduce themselves, and we will

          7  proceed to hear the testimony of the Commissioner of

          8  Health and Mental Health that is here graciously

          9  waiting for us.  Anne.

         10                 MS. EMERMAN:  Anne Emerman, Senior

         11  staff person to the Committee.

         12                 MR. POLENBERG:  Michael Polenberg,

         13  Council Finance.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.  And

         15  Commissioner, the floor is yours.

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN:  Good

         17  afternoon.  I'm Dr. Thomas Frieden, the Commissioner

         18  of New York City's Department of Health, and Acting

         19  Commissioner of Mental Health, Mental Retardation

         20  and Alcoholism Services.  I appreciate the

         21  opportunity to appear before the Committee today and

         22  to testify on the critically important need to

         23  provide housing for mentally ill people in New York

         24  City.  I'm grateful to you, as a Committee, for

         25  providing a forum for discussing this critically
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          2  important mental hygiene issue, as well as other

          3  mental hygiene issues.

          4                 I want to begin with a short of

          5  review of the development of community- based

          6  housing for mental health consumers. Prior to the

          7  1950s, the New York State Mental Health System

          8  consisted of State psychiatric hospitals, which at

          9  their peak provided inpatient care for nearly

         10  100,000 individuals.  During the mid- 1950s, the

         11  deinstitutionalization movement, which sought to

         12  move mentally ill people out of the hospitals and

         13  into the community, was launched thanks to a

         14  combination.  This combination included advances in

         15  drug therapy, changing attitudes toward community

         16  care and legal decisions.  Since that time, mentally

         17  ill people have been discharged from State inpatient

         18  hospitals into many different housing options.

         19  These different housing options, include patient's

         20  own home or their families' home, private SRO hotels

         21  and apartments, nursing homes, adult homes, and more

         22  recently, mental health housing programs designed

         23  specifically for mentally ill individuals.  Today,

         24  the population of the State psychiatric hospitals is

         25  down to about 4,300 seriously mentally ill adults,
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          2  while more than 150,000 mentally ill people are

          3  receiving community- based services.

          4                 Mental health housing programs have

          5  been a significant source of housing placements only

          6  for the past 10 years.  Today, the State Office of

          7  Mental Health and the City Department of Mental

          8  Health, Mental Retardation and Alcoholism Services

          9  fund and monitor more than 10,600 units of this type

         10  of specialized housing in New York City.  Of this

         11  total, New York City, itself, funds about 2,300

         12  units along with their associated services through

         13  the New York/New York Agreements and the Community

         14  Mental Health Reinvestment program.  Another 1,800

         15  unit are currently under development.

         16                 These 10,600 units of mental health

         17  housing provide a continuum of community- based

         18  residential service from transitional, highly

         19  supervised congregate facilities to permanent,

         20  independent- living apartments.  There are two basic

         21  categories of mental health housing:  Community

         22  residences and supported housing.

         23                 First, the State Office of Mental

         24  Health licenses 4,900 units of housing in New York

         25  City, generally referred to as community residences.
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          2    These programs provide intensive supervision due

          3  to the psychiatric needs of the residents and are

          4  considered transitional, with the length of stay

          5  expected to be less than two years.

          6                 Second, the State Office of Mental

          7  Health and the Department of Mental Health, Mental

          8  Retardation and Alcoholism Services fund and monitor

          9  another 5,700 units in New York City, referred to as

         10  supported housing.  Supported housing is designed

         11  for mentally ill individuals who can live more

         12  independently and require a lower level of service

         13  than in community residences.  The majority of

         14  supported housing is located in scattered- site

         15  apartments.  Case management services are provided

         16  to link the residents to a wide range of community-

         17  based health, mental health, employment and other

         18  rehabilitative services on an as needed basis.

         19  Supported housing programs are considered to be

         20  permanent housing in which the consumers are tenants

         21  and hold leases for their own apartments.  We

         22  believe that the community residences and supported

         23  housing models are the most effective housing

         24  alternatives for mentally ill individuals who cannot

         25  live on their own or with families.  They are cost-
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          2  effective, they respect the consumer's right to self

          3  determination and help his or her recovery process.

          4                 Adult homes, on the other hand, are

          5  not under the purview of either the State or City

          6  mental health authorities or the City Department of

          7  Health.  Adult homes are licensed and monitored by

          8  the State Department of Health.  They were

          9  originally developed for the frail elderly, but they

         10  have also served as destinations for mentally ill

         11  individuals released from State psychiatric

         12  hospitals and local hospital inpatient units.  The

         13  use of adult homes as discharge placements is

         14  clearly associated with the lack of other mental

         15  health housing alternatives.  Today, it is estimated

         16  that 30 percent of the more than 8,700 adult home

         17  residents in New York City are mentally ill.

         18                 Some adult homes are well-

         19  maintained, run by caring people, and offer on- or

         20  off- site mental health services.  However, as the

         21  series in the New York Times makes clear, far too

         22  many of these homes provide substandard care.

         23                 We concur with this Committee that

         24  action must be taken to improve this situation.  The

         25  Department will be closely monitoring the State's
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          2  actions closely as it is critically important that

          3  there is significant, positive reform of the current

          4  system.  Although we do not have the authority to

          5  license, fund or inspect Adult Homes, the Department

          6  has worked with the State to identify alternative

          7  housing and mental health services for those

          8  residents of Adult Homes where serious deficiencies

          9  were identified.  For example, during the closure of

         10  Seaport Manor, the Department is assisting with the

         11  transfer of residents of this Adult Home to

         12  appropriate housing placements.

         13                 While the State Department of Health

         14  controls the process, the Department meets regularly

         15  with all concerned parties to place individuals in

         16  other housing and to ensure residents receive

         17  necessary services elsewhere.  For those seriously

         18  mentally ill individuals who are living in Adult

         19  Homes, and who are not expected to live

         20  independently, particularly as they grow older, we

         21  support efforts to provide additional on- site

         22  services that are appropriate to their unique needs.

         23                 In addition, MFY Legal Services,

         24  which the Department has funded since 1983, nearly

         25  20 years, will continue to address the civil and

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            12

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  legal rights of mentally ill individuals living in

          3  this and other community residences.  The long- term

          4  solution for mental health consumers is to increase

          5  the supply of supportive mental health housing.

          6  With treatment, those with mental illness can lead

          7  productive lives.  Adult Homes should not be an

          8  option for those capable of living more

          9  independently.  In the current system, the financial

         10  arrangement gives operators of Adult Homes no

         11  incentive other assist those residents who are

         12  capable of moving to more independent living

         13  arrangements.  In contrast, mental health housing

         14  programs promote a recovery model to move consumers

         15  towards self- sufficiency.  We plan to continue to

         16  use our budget to fund as much of supportive housing

         17  as possible, and to press the State and the Federal

         18  Government for additional grant housing funding.

         19  I'm very pleased that the Legislature has recently

         20  passed a new reinvestment program bill to enable

         21  savings from the continued downsizing of State

         22  Psychiatric Hospitals to be used for community and

         23  mental health services, including housing services.

         24  These funds, as you know, will funds that are

         25  currently being to support hospitalization, which
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          2  may not, in all cases, be necessary,  to be used on

          3  a continuing basis to support community living of

          4  individual with mental illness.

          5                 In closing, I join you in calling

          6  upon the State to update its analysis of the need

          7  for housing services, and to urgently improve the

          8  quality of care for mentally ill individuals in

          9  various housing options.

         10                 New York has made much progress in

         11  recent years by increasing its housing stock for

         12  mentally ill people.  However, there is a need for a

         13  new look at how much further we have to go to

         14  adequately fund effective and supportive housing for

         15  those who clearly need it.

         16                 Thank you for giving me the

         17  opportunity to testify. Let me also mention, as I

         18  forgot to at the outset, that sitting on my left is

         19  First Deputy Commissioner Dan Still, and on my right

         20  is Mr. Peter Bittel, who is Coordinator of Housing

         21  Programs for the Department of Mental Health, Mental

         22  Retardation and Alcoholism Services.

         23                 I would be happy to answer any

         24  questions that you have at this time.  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you,
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          2  Commissioner.  Before we continue with our hearing,

          3  I would like to ask the two members of the

          4  Committee, who have joined us, to introduce

          5  themselves for the benefit of the public to know who

          6  they are and what areas they represent.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Good

          8  afternoon.  Helen Foster, the 16th District in the

          9  Bronx.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTIN- DILAN:  Good

         11  afternoon.  Eric Martin- Dilan, 37th District,

         12  Brooklyn.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.  I

         14  would like my Counsel to introduce herself for the

         15  public also to know who she is, sitting to my right.

         16                 MS. BOLANOS:  Yes, my name is Maritza

         17  Bolanos, and I'm Counsel to the Committee.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Commissioner, I

         19  am extremely pleased to hear you indicate to me, to

         20  the public and to the Committee that you and I are

         21  in sync into how we can impact this problem in a

         22  positive way.  And I know that you and I have spoken

         23  in many occasions out of these hearings, and I know

         24  that you and I have very similar views in how we can

         25  address this problem.
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          2                 I'm curious from your testimony to

          3  know if at this moment when you mentioned that you

          4  are looking forward for new investment into creating

          5  new affordable housing for the mentally ill, if

          6  there is any plan in the pipeline from your

          7  administration at this moment, or are you planning

          8  to put a plan, can you be more specific about what

          9  are your thoughts on that?

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL:

         11  Yes, I'm Dan Still, the First Deputy Commissioner.

         12  I will try to address that question.  There are two

         13  parts of reinvestment, there is the original

         14  reinvestment bill that continued for about seven and

         15  a half years and ended last September.  And under

         16  that program, the City and some other localities did

         17  develop housing programs.  And then that bill

         18  expired, and the Legislature just, both houses of

         19  the Legislator passed a new reinvestment bill.  It

         20  is anticipated it will be signed by the Governor.

         21  As far as I know it has not yet been signed, but it

         22  is anticipated that it will be.  And that bill will

         23  start next Fiscal Year, 2003, so we lost about 18

         24  months of hospital closures without reinvestment, or

         25  will have lost 18 months.
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          2                 While the new reinvestment bill is

          3  very needed and will be very helpful, it's primarily

          4  oriented toward, in the language of the bill,

          5  workforce retention and recruitment.  That is to

          6  support the current workforce for higher rates and

          7  higher salaries.  Because among the other problems

          8  in the housing programs, that are very good in the

          9  Mental Health area, are the salaries and the

         10  recruitment are very problematic.

         11                 So we're not confident that the new

         12  reinvestment bill by itself will allow that much

         13  more new development.  It will allow us to protect

         14  and secure what we have, but the amount of funding

         15  that is anticipated by the hospital beds that are

         16  remaining that can be closed and the need to do the

         17  callers and the salary will probably not,

         18  realistically, provide that much opportunity for

         19  major new development.

         20                 And we just want to be, you know, try

         21  to share with you what our impression is of that

         22  bill.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And that is very

         24  sad.  Because the majority of the population is here

         25  in New York City, and we continue not to have the
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          2  fair share of these dollars.  And perhaps you and I

          3  need to fight together for this at the State level

          4  and convince the Governor and the Legislature that

          5  this is another unfair action to the New York City

          6  area when those dollars are not fairly shared, when

          7  the majority of the population in need is here.

          8                 But in regard of this Committee issue

          9  today, before I continue, Council Member McMahon,

         10  could you introduce yourself, please?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you,

         12  Madam Chairwoman.  Michael McMahon from Staten

         13  Island.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.  We

         15  know in the Committee that this is not under your

         16  jurisdiction.  But let me tell you what it is that I

         17  have found out in studying this issue, and I have

         18  been very much helped by the lawyer who is in charge

         19  of this Committee, and the person in charge of the

         20  financial aspect, and Anne, who have given me a lot

         21  of information about it.

         22                 One of the things that I found out,

         23  is that the Department, the Health and Hospital

         24  Corporation discharge people from their hospitals

         25  when they are in the psychiatric unit, directly into
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          2  these places.

          3                 What is the follow- up that has been

          4  done from the part of the Health and Hospital

          5  Corporation, if you know of any, in regard of these

          6  particular individuals who get discharged in there?

          7  And the same thing in regard of the Department of

          8  Homeless Services?  They are discharging individuals

          9  from the shelter system directly into these homes.

         10  And those are placements that are being located by

         11  these two agencies, and although, I know that you

         12  are not in charge of them, you are in charge of

         13  policy, Health and Mental Health Policy in this

         14  city.  And to what degree we have the responsibility

         15  to begin establishing policy that do not allow our

         16  institutions to discharge people to these places,

         17  when these places are violating fundamental human

         18  rights?

         19                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN:  I think I will

         20  make two comments and then ask Mr. Still to add

         21  information, which may be helpful in giving a

         22  broader picture.

         23                 I serve, as Commissioner of Health, I

         24  serve on the Board of the Health and Hospital

         25  Corporation, and as Chairman of the Quality Control
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          2  Committee of the Health and Hospitals Corporation.

          3  And in that role, I can address some of the issues,

          4  though not specifically.

          5                 We know from our own experience in

          6  New York City and nationally that the single, most

          7  important predictor of successful community living,

          8  and someone discharged from a psychiatric hospital

          9  is whether they keep their outpatient appointment

         10  within a short period of time, ideally, seven days,

         11  certainly, 30 days, and so they're on their way to

         12  recovery and to stable care.  That is an indicator

         13  that is intensively tracked and case managed at the

         14  different HHC facilities.

         15                 In terms of DHS, I just cannot

         16  comment.  Clearly, what we want in the longer run

         17  and as soon as possible is for a really

         18  comprehensive system whereby we can, as a society,

         19  say that we're responsible for ensuring the

         20  adequate, ongoing care of every individual with

         21  serious and persistent mental illness.  And that is

         22  a goal, clearly, improving the quality of services

         23  and housing services, is a critically important

         24  component in achieving that goal.

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL:
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          2  Yes, I would just like to add one or two comments.

          3  In the New York/New York Program, which was designed

          4  to provide housing for the, in this case, the

          5  homeless mentally ill, there have been approximately

          6  5,000 units developed by the City and the State.

          7  And those houses were provided specifically for

          8  homeless mentally ill, but about 30 percent of the

          9  total placements did come from City and State

         10  hospitals so that there was a connection between the

         11  discharge needs of the hospitals and the development

         12  of these houses.

         13                 And in addition individuals from the

         14  City shelters were also placed in the New York/New

         15  York housing.  Now, I think, then the other part of

         16  the program is the Discharge Planning Regulations of

         17  the State require the hospitals, including the

         18  Health and Hospitals Corporation, to ensure that

         19  there is an appropriate discharge plan for

         20  individuals, and they have done that and they have

         21  increased their discharge planners in the City

         22  hospitals.  But I think the underlying problem is

         23  that there really aren't enough houses to provide

         24  discharge options for everybody. Even though we have

         25  developed approximately 5,000 New York/New York
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          2  places, it really is not enough.  And I think the

          3  Commissioner said in his testimony, that is the

          4  underlying problem.

          5                 And so in some cases, then people are

          6  discharged to general housing rather than special

          7  mental health housing.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I don't disagree

          9  with you that we don't have enough housing, that is

         10  clearly the problem, housing that is appropriate for

         11  the population.  Those homes are not an appropriate

         12  place to discharge them, the population that has

         13  been discharged there now.  In my opinion and the

         14  opinion of this Committee, discharging people with

         15  mental illness to these places in the majority of

         16  the cases is violating ADA laws, Accommodation, it's

         17  not been obeyed in here.  And the less restricted

         18  setting has not been obeyed here either.  Then the

         19  Adult Homes is not the place where we should be

         20  discharging the population of the mentally ill, who

         21  can function very well anywhere in one of the other

         22  facilities that, you have very well stated, are run

         23  by the City and money provided to the City.  Those

         24  are best setting for them.

         25                 But the problem is that they continue
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          2  to be discharged there, and they are there now as we

          3  speak.  And when we're doing that, when we continue

          4  to discharge them, then my question is, what are we

          5  doing to monitor better the situation in there, even

          6  when this is under the State?  Because, at least,

          7  morally, ethically and any psychiatrist who is

          8  providing care to anyone of those individuals who

          9  knows what is going on in there, in my opinion,

         10  ethically have the responsibility to monitor what is

         11  going on.  And the American Psychiatric Association,

         12  the social workers who are involved with these

         13  clients who are not reporting the abuses that are

         14  going, in my opinion, their license should be

         15  questioning this moment, because they are not

         16  protecting that population the way that they should.

         17    When they learn about these scandals and these

         18  problems that are going on.

         19                 I mean, to put it very simple, 25 men

         20  were put in a van, taken from one of these

         21  facilities to the hospital and the prostate gland

         22  was removed, and they did not need that prostrate

         23  gland to be removed because there was nothing wrong

         24  with it.  Then the doctors who did the operation,

         25  the hospital who allowed it, the social worker, the
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          2  psychiatrist who know, in my opinion, are

          3  responsible for this too.  Because under our ethical

          4  promises, we should not allow that to happen.

          5  Therefore, and looking at this from an angle that

          6  although they have the responsibility, we in the

          7  City have a responsibility not to send our people,

          8  one, they are in one of our hospitals, one, they are

          9  in one of our shelters, literally to hell, and we

         10  know is hell.

         11                 Then I'm saying to you, we need to

         12  move together in trying to monitor this better and

         13  to make the State do the right thing.

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN:  Thank you very

         15  much.  I will look forward to reading, and my staff

         16  will be taking notes on the testimony this

         17  afternoon.  And any specific suggestions, which are

         18  given, we will actively consider in terms of what

         19  more we can do.

         20                 We do recognize that some of the

         21  Adult Homes, as I say, are reasonably well run.  We

         22  also recognize that some of the clients who are

         23  discharged are at a level of functioning for which

         24  Adult Homes are an appropriate placement for them.

         25  We also recognize that, as I said in my testimony,
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          2  there are close to approximately 3,000 mentally ill

          3  individuals in Adult Homes today. And there is not

          4  the capacity in community residences for all of

          5  those individuals.  That doesn't mean that we

          6  shouldn't do anything, and we look forward to

          7  learning from and reading about the suggestions that

          8  are made in your hearing this afternoon.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.  Any

         10  questions from the members of the Committee?  I

         11  thank you very much for coming here today.  I want

         12  to clarify also that a lot of people were invited to

         13  this hearing, and you are the only Commissioner who

         14  answered my call and came here.  I appreciate very

         15  much you're being here today.  Thank you very much.

         16                 Before we continue with this hearing,

         17  I want to make clear who were the Commissioners and

         18  the people invited to this hearing today.

         19  Commissioner Frieden, who you just saw. Commissioner

         20  Linda Gibbs, Department of Homeless Services;

         21  Commissioner Verna Eggleston, New York City Human

         22  Resources Administration; Honorable Richard N.

         23  Gottfried, who is here and will testify soon;

         24  Honorable Deborah Glick from the Assembly; Doctor

         25  Antonia C. Novello, Commissioner New York State

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            25

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  Department of Health; Mr. Harvey Rosenthal,

          3  Executive Director, New York Association of

          4  Psychiatric Rehabilitation Services, he sent

          5  testimony to us.  Mr. David Saey, Executive Director

          6  of New York State National Alliance for the Mentally

          7  Ill; Jody Silver, Community Access; Mrs. Florence

          8  Weil, National Association for the Mentally Ill, New

          9  York State; Jennette Zelhof, Esquire, MFY Legal

         10  Services; Mr. Clifton J. Levy, reporter, New York

         11  Times, and I'm going to stop there.

         12                 We have some of the people that we

         13  invited here, and we're going to proceed with the

         14  testimony.  I want to call to the podium, four

         15  residents of the units that we're talking about.

         16  They are also, will be accompanied by some of the

         17  lawyers who represent them.  Can you please called

         18  them?

         19                 MS. BOLANOS:  Mr. Geoff Lieberman,

         20  Ms. Karen Burkoff, Ms. Kimberly Velasquez, Mr. Woody

         21  Wilson, Ms. Rosary Marinaro, and Mr. Kurt Trentman.

         22                 Yes, any other residents of Adult

         23  Homes who are here to testify, we may not have your

         24  name, please, come forward.

         25                 Please, all of you, raise your right
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          2  hand, I will swear you in all at once and

          3  individually.  Do you each, individually, swear that

          4  the testimony you're going to provide before this

          5  Committee is the whole truth and to the best of your

          6  knowledge?

          7                 ALL:  Yes.

          8                 MS. BOLANOS:  Okay, please, state

          9  your name and where you reside, before you begin

         10  your testimony?  And we will start with this person

         11  right here, Ms. Karen Burkoff and we will go right

         12  down the line.  Thank you.

         13                 MS. BURKOFF:  Okay, my name is Karen

         14  Burkoff, I'm from Seaport Manor.  I'm the Resident

         15  Council Vice- President.

         16                 To begin with today, there has been

         17  an enormous change of night and day at Seaport since

         18  Menaces (phonetic) has took over from the previous

         19  administrators.  There is such a difference and such

         20  a shortage in Adult Homes, and the beds that are

         21  needed.  The ideas of opposing Seaport becomes very

         22  major because there is 340, or there were 340

         23  residents in Seaport.  That is a lot of people who

         24  have called this placed their home for a lot of

         25  years.  To close it, there is just not enough beds,
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          2  there is not enough places for these people, it's

          3  criminal.

          4                 With the change around, with the

          5  Menace's from the old administrators who abused,

          6  intimidated the residents and somehow had over a

          7  half of a million dollars in fines with the New York

          8  State Health Department, has been allowed to forfeit

          9  their lease or to hand it in for a mere $20,000.  It

         10  is a slap on the wrist, you slap a toddler harder

         11  than you do that.  And is sending a message to, not

         12  only the residents that the people in this state and

         13  city don't care, it is also sending a message to the

         14  owners that you also don't care, because nothing is

         15  going to happen to them if they aren't held

         16  responsible at all for anything that happens.

         17                 We would like, we want to push to

         18  keep Seaport open. It's needed, with the correct

         19  administration it's a good place, all it needs is

         20  the administration, in which, as I said, there is a

         21  night and day.  We have air conditioning for the

         22  first time in five years, there is a lot of

         23  immediate changes that have just come about.  Even

         24  as far as trying to do something about the mice

         25  infestation, which is a nightmare, if you have ever
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          2  had to live with mice, you know, sleeping with your

          3  hair up at night so that you don't, they don't run

          4  through your hair and get tangled up.

          5                 The security there has improved 100

          6  percent, there are guards there 90 percent of the

          7  time.

          8                 This is why when you talk about

          9  closing Seaport, this is our main thing here today

         10  with us, it does not need to be closed, it should be

         11  kept open, these people need to be made to either

         12  lease it or to sell the property to somebody, to a

         13  legal and responsible person who can run it.  But to

         14  allow the current administrators to close it and

         15  accept, be able to weasel some way its license,

         16  whether it's for a shelter, which we have heard, or

         17  to profit from an NYPD training center, which we

         18  have heard, is truly not fair.  It's not fair to the

         19  people who have lived there for the last 20 years,

         20  it's not fair to many, many other people who might

         21  live there, or just the whole principle of the idea

         22  of Adult Homes, letting them do this.

         23                 What they have done in the past and

         24  what they do, is either have mothers, fathers,

         25  sisters, cousins, somebody acquire another license
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          2  to do this.  So this is what they originally were

          3  planning to do, I think, and opening a homeless

          4  shelter.  Now they're talking about opening an NYPD

          5  training center.

          6                 Why should all these people have to

          7  suffer so they can profit from this, when they had

          8  the $5 million or half of a million dollars worth of

          9  fines and not even be held responsible for it?  It

         10  really makes no sense whatsoever.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 MR. LIEBERMAN:  Good afternoon.

         13  Geoff Lieberman, I personally reside at 93 Sherman

         14  Street in Brooklyn, New York. Again, my name is

         15  Geoff Lieberman, I'm the Executive Director of the

         16  Coalition of Institutionalized Aged and Disabled,

         17  called CIAD for short.  It's a non- profit, consumer

         18  led advocacy organization of adult home and nursing

         19  home residents and Resident Councils. CIAD was

         20  established in 1973, and our mission is to provide

         21  residents with the information and skills they need

         22  to advocate for themselves to protect and promote

         23  the rights of residents and to improve the quality

         24  of their lives and their care.  We have been

         25  advocating for adult home residents for over 25
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          2  years.

          3                 Adult Homes originally served only

          4  the elderly, but they started housing younger,

          5  mentally ill people in the 1960s when New York State

          6  began downsizing its State psychiatric hospitals.

          7  Almost 10,000 live in New York City's 50 plus Adult

          8  Homes.  Many are mentally ill who are also low-

          9  income people of color, who are not able to afford

         10  private care options and must rely on the public

         11  system.  Other residents are the frail elderly who

         12  are mostly low income older women.

         13                 During the last year, CIAD served

         14  about 2,300 adult home residents during nearly 300

         15  site visits to 36 Adult Homes in New York City.  The

         16  whole staff of CIAD currently consists of three

         17  hardworking people, our Adult Home Project Director,

         18  named George Gitlitz, and a volunteer peer advocate

         19  named Rosary Marinaro, and me.  We're one of the few

         20  organizations advocating for Adult Home residents in

         21  New York City.  And Mr. Gitlitz is the only advocate

         22  who regularly visits Adult Homes and Adult Home

         23  residents.  Our work is greatly enhanced by the

         24  close, collaborative relationship we have with MFY

         25  Legal Services.  This successful relationship brings
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          2  together both non- legal and legal advocacy services

          3  for mentally ill Adult Home residents in New York

          4  City.

          5                 There is a growing consensus that

          6  broad systemic reform is necessary to reverse the

          7  years of substandard care that mentally ill

          8  residents have received in Adult Homes.  But an

          9  immediate response is also necessary, in the form of

         10  continued organizing of residents, and through

         11  increased advocacy services: That includes in- home

         12  advocacy, legal advocacy and peer advocacy.

         13                  "Home" is a misnomer for these

         14  living spaces.  They are poorly regulated

         15  institutions, some housing as many as 350 residents.

         16    Most force residents to lead isolated and

         17  circumscribed lives in an institutionalized

         18  atmosphere of fear, stigma, and disrespect.  People

         19  lack basic information about their rights. They're

         20  cut off from programs and services in the outside

         21  community that could help them improve the quality

         22  of their lives and become more independent.  Many

         23  suffer from the stigma of their illness and their

         24  learned helplessness.

         25                 Dismayingly, once people become Adult
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          2  Home residents, they're often part of a nameless

          3  warehoused population. Some decent and caring

          4  operators struggle to do the best by residents.  But

          5  perversely, the state has cobbled together a system

          6  that isn't invested in the successful transition of

          7  residents back into the mainstream.  Recovery makes

          8  operators and mental health providers lose money.

          9  As a result, many residents receive substandard

         10  care.  After facing retaliation for speaking up and

         11  defeat at every turn in resolving their problems,

         12  many become apathetic.

         13                 As an illustrative example, let me

         14  tell you about Frank.  Before Frank's mental illness

         15  got the best of him, he wrote for a children's TV

         16  show, directed public relations for a museum, and

         17  taught high school English.  Frank's illness forced

         18  him into psychiatric hospitals, and he was

         19  eventually discharged to an Adult Home.  No one at

         20  the home knew or ever even inquired about his

         21  accomplished past, or the potential that with the

         22  proper support he could live a productive,

         23  fulfilling life again.

         24                 Frank's rich history is no exception.

         25    There are others now living in Adult Homes who led

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  vibrant, productive lives before their illnesses.

          3  They could potentially become more independent

          4  again.  Yet, as recent attention shows, many

          5  residents are psychologically abused, neglected, and

          6  consistently receive poor or no care.  Some have

          7  received allegedly unnecessary prostate and eye

          8  surgery.  Others were almost shipped 200 miles away

          9  on a moment's notice when their home closed.  Many

         10  have died suspicious deaths.  Recent headlines may

         11  make this news to the public, but it has been the

         12  sad legacy of many Adult Homes.

         13                 Because Adult Homes were never meant

         14  to serve people with psychiatric disabilities, they

         15  have not been designed or regulated to provide

         16  adequate mental health services.  Government

         17  oversight is fragmented, and enforcement is terribly

         18  inconsistent, to say the best for it.  In many

         19  cases, mental health service staff fail to act as

         20  advocates on behalf of the residents.  And the

         21  families who are involved with their relatives

         22  living in Adult Homes, and who could be an important

         23  additional source of support, are themselves

         24  isolated and lack the information they need to help

         25  the residents.
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          2                 This leaves residents vulnerable and

          3  often subjected to tormenting threats of eviction,

          4  return to hospitalization, or withholding of their

          5  small monthly government allowance.  As a result,

          6  residents become fearful and their voices become

          7  muted. When they do act, as in Frank's case, they

          8  face retaliation.

          9                 Frank, by working with our

         10  organization, began to advocate for change and to

         11  encourage other residents to call for improvements

         12  in their living conditions.  The windows were

         13  broken, the plastic chairs were cracked, mice ran

         14  freely in the halls, and pillows were gray from a

         15  lack of laundry services.  Frank began to organize a

         16  Resident Council for change, and he started getting

         17  better.  Sadly, not for long.

         18                 His journey toward mental wellness

         19  upset the status quo.  Residents aren't encouraged

         20  to be individuals or get better, and they certainly

         21  aren't supposed to raise issues about their care or

         22  conditions.  Frank's actions angered the home's

         23  management. They challenged and undermined him,

         24  which led to his decomposition and subsequent re-

         25  hospitalization.
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          2                 Under these circumstances and this

          3  environment, where residents feel they have no

          4  voice, the presence of advocates, attorneys, and

          5  peer advocates is crucial to help residents voice

          6  their needs, know their rights, and exercise these

          7  rights.

          8                 CIAD's program of organizing and

          9  advocacy educates residents about their rights and

         10  helps them negotiate to solve their individual

         11  problems and complaints.  We assist and train

         12  residents to form Resident Councils.  We also

         13  strengthen already established councils, so

         14  residents can build community and address issues in

         15  their homes.  Building upon empowered residents and

         16  stronger resident councils, CIAD brings residents

         17  together to help develop and ensure long- term

         18  systemic reform.  If meaningful reform is to be

         19  successful, it needs the input and participation of

         20  the people it will directly affect.  CIAD and its

         21  Adult Home constituency must have a seat at this

         22  table.

         23                 As Frank's story shows, the work of

         24  organizing Resident Councils is extremely difficult.

         25    But we believe that with the necessary support
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          2  from outside advocates, a responsive management and

          3  State regulatory agencies, Resident Councils can be

          4  an important vehicle for addressing the concerns of

          5  residents, transforming institutions into real homes

          6  and communities, and giving residents a sense of

          7  pride, purpose and self- determination. This effort

          8  must always be supplemented by the regular presence

          9  of advocates for both non- legal and legal issues,

         10  to monitor Adult Homes and advocate on behalf of

         11  residents when they cannot advocate for themselves.

         12                 Since the expose in the New York

         13  Times, the story continues to unfold.  The issues

         14  have finally captured the public eye, and therefore,

         15  the eyes of our government.  We have a window of

         16  attention and opportunity to help residents with

         17  immediate needs, and to change the system that has

         18  so failed us.  I believe there are crucial steps we

         19  must take to correct years of neglect Adult Home

         20  residents have been subjected to.

         21                 First, the key to change is our

         22  moving away from a system of treatment and

         23  management and towards a system of empowerment,

         24  rehabilitation and recovery.  Many residents, like

         25  Frank, see themselves at a dead end.  Too often,
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          2  people do not grow but regress.  There is no

          3  incentive for operators to assist consumers in

          4  moving to a more independent setting.  This must

          5  change.  Many other residents are so

          6  institutionalized, they cannot move to more

          7  independent settings.  We have already failed them

          8  in this regard.  And we must not ignore the need to

          9  protect the increasingly frail and sick elderly in

         10  Adult Homes.  The people who are residents in Adult

         11  Homes have diverse needs, but every one of them

         12  should have the opportunity to reach their highest

         13  potential in humane residential settings.

         14                 One of the greatest challenges, as we

         15  redefined this system, will be to create and fund

         16  diverse supportive housing models.  Ensuring access

         17  to appropriate housing is a critical step to a

         18  different future.

         19                 Second, the responsibility for the

         20  oversight of Adult Homes must be examined and

         21  improved, because the Health Department has not

         22  demonstrated the capacity or expertise for

         23  appropriately monitoring Adult Homes for the

         24  mentally ill.  Given the severe housing shortage for

         25  persons with mental illness that must be addressed
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          2  in the long term, the State must create viable

          3  alternatives between the extremes of facility

          4  closure and ignoring abuse for fear that closure is

          5  the only answer.

          6                 Finally, we must continue to organize

          7  and empower residents so that their voices are heard

          8  in policy debates.  We must continue to link these

          9  voices with advocacy efforts that will raise the

         10  issues, monitor progress, and hold operators and the

         11  government accountable.

         12                 In closing, I cannot express to you

         13  my deep frustration and anger at what we as a State

         14  and community have done to people who are our

         15  neighbors and fellow human beings.  I ask you to do

         16  everything in your power to finally fix this broken

         17  system. Action must transform these words.

         18                 Thank you very much.

         19                 MS. VELASQUEZ:  Hi, my name is

         20  Kimberly Velasquez. I live at Seaport Manor, please,

         21  bear with me, this is the first time I have ever

         22  spoke in public.  I have lived at Seaport for almost

         23  15 months.  I will be living at another adult care

         24  facility next month, for me it will be the second

         25  one I have ever been in, and life will go on.  That
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          2  does not mean I like it, it does not mean that what

          3  has gone on at Seaport and other homes should be,

          4  once again, forgotten.  And as one Assemblyman said,

          5  continue to be a dirty little secret.

          6                 I'm really tired of the ups and downs

          7  of this mess, the deaths, the violence,

          8  prostitution, rodents, threats, wrong medications,

          9  drinking and drug abuse, it's become a broken

         10  record. I have spent a lot of time trying to figure

         11  out what to say without giving into total rage, it

         12  would be so easy to go overboard and make no sense

         13  whatsoever.  I would like someone to explain to me

         14  and make me understand why this broken record can be

         15  fixed, but why bother.  If you're old, mentally

         16  challenged and poor, you don't count.  It's okay to

         17  use and abuse, because some don't even vote, why

         18  care about people like that.  Let's close them down,

         19  let the dust settle, and let's do it again.

         20                 Earlier this week, a mental health

         21  worker told me, when I first came here, Seaport, I

         22  told my boss, I cannot be at a place like this, I

         23  cannot be here.  This is an educated person that was

         24  totally overwhelmed by what was going on here.

         25  However, now that someone else is responsible for
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          2  the do's and the don'ts, Seaport seems to be running

          3  much smoother, requests are being dealt with a

          4  positive attitude.  For the first time there is air

          5  conditioning in my room, something I was told was a

          6  given when I first walked into Seaport.  Issues are

          7  being resolved.  Yes, there are fewer residents now,

          8  but there are also less staff members.

          9                 Why does a building of this size with

         10  so many beds, with the potential to care properly

         11  for people, be shut down, only to reopen later on by

         12  the same people who caused its downfall? Seaport is

         13  capable of being a good, decent, positive place to

         14  live, somewhere that one can be proud of, not the

         15  embarrassment its been.

         16                 It's amazing to me how some people

         17  sleep at night. I would like to thank the attorneys

         18  who have managed to keep Seaport opened this long,

         19  and of course, the New York Times for exposing the

         20  horrors of some of these homes.  My gut tells me

         21  nothing will be done by the powers that be.  This

         22  was a great cause, but the current world is in big

         23  time trouble, and we are low on the totem pole.

         24                 Three and a half million dollars per

         25  year, and you will allow this to happen again, same
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          2  place, same family, there is something so wrong and

          3  twisted about this whole mess.  This is some message

          4  to give our youth, it's all about money and power,

          5  and the only people that count are those who possess

          6  them.

          7                 Thank you for your time.

          8                 MS. MARINARO:  Hi, my name is Rosary

          9  Marinaro.  I am speaking here today in my role as

         10  Volunteer Peer Advocate with the Coalition of the

         11  Institutionalized Aged and Disabled.  Since October

         12  2001, I have been assisting residents at Leben Home

         13  renamed Queens Adult Care Center, in the formation

         14  and running of a Resident's Council.  We identify

         15  issues and try to work with the administration to

         16  resolve different situations.  These activities have

         17  no support, no computers, note pads, calendars, no

         18  base of operation, no place to file meeting minutes,

         19  et cetera.  Yet, we persist in trying to create a

         20  space for residents to voice their concerns.

         21                 It's been a long and slow process,

         22  yet I witness the need for residents to talk about

         23  and express the frustrations, problems and concerns

         24  that residents have.  Please remember that no matter

         25  how bad things are, Adult Homes are where the
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          2  residents live and it is their home.  People are

          3  often afraid of speaking up and addressing issues

          4  for they fear the alternative is homelessness if

          5  they voice their concern.  No one has asked for his

          6  or her opinions, no one has helped the residents to

          7  develop a sense of community in the home.  Queens

          8  Adult Care Center has more than 300 residents with

          9  room for 361 people.  This is huge.  It would be

         10  helpful if one room would be donated for a meeting

         11  space/resident council work area, even though this

         12  would result in a potential revenue loss of

         13  approximately $1,700 per month.  This room could

         14  represent the goodwill of the administration towards

         15  the support of resident empowerment.  It would be a

         16  step to building community.

         17                 The Resident Council process needs

         18  more resources and support to help residents to

         19  organize into an effective group. Currently, there

         20  is only one paid advocate for all Adult Homes

         21  citywide or statewide.  With training and support

         22  residents can learn to advocate for themselves and

         23  others.  If QUIP continues, residents would like to

         24  have input into how QUIP dollars are spent.

         25                 Food is always an issue, not enough,
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          2  terrible tasting, good.  These comments can be about

          3  the same meal from different people.  The operator

          4  receives about a quarter of a million dollars a

          5  month for room and board, $858 a month per person.

          6  About five months ago, we found out that the monthly

          7  food budget was $15,000 and includes condiments and

          8  some non- food kitchen stuff.  This works out to

          9  $1.67 per day for three meals per person.  The chef

         10  has to be a magician.  It's understandable why the

         11  quality of the meals leaves something to be desired.

         12                 An area to investigate is the mental

         13  health programs that some residents are bused to

         14  every day.  Someone needs to evaluate the quality of

         15  these groups to see if they are recovery oriented

         16  and what outcomes are expected.

         17                 Another area is the personal needs

         18  allowance. Currently, residents receive about $4.00

         19  a day, from which all their personal items must be

         20  purchased, e.g., shampoo, deodorant, clothes, books,

         21  magazines, transportation, anything they may need or

         22  want.  Residents need an increase in their Personal

         23  Needs Allowance and additional money for a clothing

         24  allowance.

         25                 In 1999, I spent five months at
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          2  Creedmoor.  They wanted to place me in an adult

          3  home, I refused.  I was lucky to get supported

          4  housing through Venture House.  Creedmoor staff did

          5  not assist me.  OMH should provide additional

          6  housing slots and Adult Home residents must be

          7  allowed to move.  Currently, they are not eligible

          8  since Adult Homes are considered permanent housing.

          9  However, given the institutional quality of the

         10  Adult Homes, there may be a case to be made under

         11  Olmstead to force the State to assist residents to

         12  move to more independent settings.

         13                 Before I close, I listened to what

         14  the Commissioner had to say, and housing is a very

         15  big issue, it's very, very important.  He seemed to

         16  want to stress supportive housing, yes, that is

         17  important.  But I do believe that supported, which

         18  is the more independent kind of housing is also

         19  needed.  There are plenty of residents that I have

         20  come in contact with who could move and be on their

         21  own.

         22                 The other thing I need to clear up

         23  is, it has always been my understanding that

         24  supportive housing is transitional.  So, in fact,

         25  instead of transitioning into more independent
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          2  setting, we have got people from the Adult Homes

          3  that came from supportive housing.  So I just want

          4  you to be aware of that.  Okay?

          5                 The other thing I want you to be

          6  aware of is that, I hope that they do not do this

          7  again, but the Department of Mental Health in one of

          8  their RFP's for supported housing, supported, that

          9  is the kind which is independent, insisted that the

         10  providers hold the leases, which is a little bit

         11  different from what Mr. Frieden said.  That the

         12  supported housing, like I hold my own lease.  They

         13  actually made an RFP that had the providers, they

         14  wanted the providers to actually hold the leases,

         15  which is not a good idea for lots of reasons,

         16  because you lose your tenant protection.  You're not

         17  a tenant, an agency cannot be a tenant, and so they

         18  do not fall under rent stabilization laws.

         19                 So I just wanted to point those

         20  things out to you. I found, maybe I'm mistaken, but

         21  I don't think so, I just wanted to point that out to

         22  you.

         23                 The other thing I want to point out

         24  to you is there is a report here called, "There is

         25  No Place Like Home."  People know what to do, people
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          2  sat together and they came up with really good

          3  recommendations.  This is produced in June 2000,

          4  Office of Mental Health was here, all kinds of

          5  people were here, and they produced a pretty

          6  interesting report with recommendations.  And of

          7  course, I don't know if these recommendations were

          8  ever followed through on, I don't think they were

          9  followed through on.

         10                 Governor Pataki has now set up

         11  another committee, some advisory committee.  But

         12  when I looked at this advisory committee, it doesn't

         13  include any residents.  So, you know....

         14                 Okay, so let's make some system

         15  changes, okay, but please, you have got to include

         16  the residents in the process.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 MR. WALKER:  Good afternoon,

         19  everyone.  My name is Dave Walker.  I am a former

         20  resident of the Garden of Eden Adult Home in

         21  Bensonhurst.  I lived there for five years.  It was

         22  a very rough experience.

         23                 I'm going to try to make this all

         24  short.  First of all, would it be all right if I

         25  record what I have to say?  Thank you.  I have a
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          2  habit of doing that, whenever I speak in public, and

          3  I have been doing it for a lot of years, I always

          4  record it.

          5                 I would like to say, first of all,

          6  thank you for CIAD, I worked with Mr. George Gitlitz

          7  for the full five years when I was living at the

          8  Garden of Eden, and thank you for MFY, our Janet

          9  Kalpman is here, and I also worked with Judy

         10  Rossner, most of you should know her.  And the young

         11  lady sitting near, I think, are you with MFY also?

         12  Oh, I thought I saw you at one of the conferences.

         13  Okay.

         14                 Being in an Adult Home is to give

         15  away all of your rights as a citizen of the United

         16  States.  Thanks to MFY and also Mr. George Gitlitz,

         17  I worked hard and became President of the Resident

         18  Council at the Garden of Eden, I always call it the

         19  Garden of Evil, the Garden of Eden Adult Home.  And

         20  I made a point of putting every meeting on tape, so

         21  if you want to know what really goes on in these

         22  Adult Homes, I'm willing to loan these tapes to you.

         23    This is every meeting we ever had of my final year

         24  there.

         25                 The food is horrible, it is inedible.
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          2    I have written reports, which I did not bring with

          3  me today, but I will make them available to you.  I

          4  have a written report from the Department of Health,

          5  when they came there and made an independent survey

          6  on an unannounced visit.  The kitchen and the

          7  facilities that were in the kitchen were filthy and

          8  they were fined for it. The State Commission on

          9  Quality Care also came and they made independent

         10  investigations, and they came out with their written

         11  results also, which I also have a copy of.  This was

         12  in the year 2000 that this happened.

         13                 Since then a lot of changes have been

         14  made at the Garden of Eden, but they are only

         15  physical changes.  The place looks great when you

         16  walk in now, before it did not.  The biggest problem

         17  is that the owner is a bully, he likes to pick on

         18  the weakest people there and bully them.  He didn't

         19  have much luck when he ran into me, because I'm an

         20  ex- Marine, so that is the way that went.

         21                 We have a boiler there that every

         22  year it will go out for a week or so, and the

         23  residents would suffer through a winter, a week or

         24  two of winter of having no heat.  This is one of the

         25  things that the State Commission on Quality Care
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          2  discovered when they called, because we all called

          3  whenever we had problems here.  The room that I was

          4  living in during February of 2000, when we had below

          5  freezing weather for two weeks in that February of

          6  2000, we were sleeping in our street clothes for a

          7  two- week period. We were never refunded for that,

          8  and it was all covered up nicely. That same year the

          9  boiler blew up.  Who took care of the boiler? Well,

         10  sometimes one of the maid aides, other times one of

         11  the porters.  As you know, in order to service a

         12  boiler you have to have an engineer's license, this

         13  does not exist at the Garden of Eden, that is how

         14  the boiler is maintained.  They need to replace it

         15  and put in a new one.  They will not, because they

         16  do not have to because there is no oversight, no one

         17  is going to make them.

         18                 Another thing they used to serve food

         19  on paper plates, and they had small carts, and one

         20  plate sat on top of the other, like thus and such,

         21  that is unsanitary.  They were told to stop doing

         22  that.  They finally did get plastic plates, but they

         23  still stacked plates on top of one another.  Cups

         24  and plates are not thoroughly washed.  They should

         25  be washed at 180 degrees. They're hand- washed and
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          2  this is terrible, it is very unsanitary.

          3                 They have rodents there.  They have

          4  some roach infestations in rooms where you have

          5  people that are not very clean.

          6                 The bullying that goes on, it's

          7  horrific.  You can smell the fear when you walk in

          8  there.  It was very difficult, there are 200

          9  residents, the largest number of people I ever got

         10  for a Resident Council's meeting was 40 people.  But

         11  after the meeting people would come to me and pat me

         12  on the back and say, right on, Dave, we're with you.

         13    But I would only get about 40 people, but we got a

         14  lot done.

         15                 One of the things they would never

         16  allow us to do, is to have our own bulletin board,

         17  so that we could communicate throughout the place.

         18  I even got notices that were torn down by one of the

         19  administrative assistants, I took it out of the

         20  garbage can with rubber gloves on, I have got her

         21  fingerprints all over it, whenever I need to use it.

         22    Hopefully, I will use it some day, maybe before

         23  one of these committees present it, let somebody

         24  check it out, prove what has been going on there.

         25                 I feel like I'm rambling, so I'm
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          2  going to close by saying that one of the things that

          3  I did, because I function at a much higher level

          4  than many of the people there, I suffer from bipolar

          5  manic depression.  I work as a Peer Advocate

          6  Supervisor with our organization that works with

          7  people who have mental disabilities.  I took a day

          8  off from work, I'm here representing myself, I'm not

          9  going to name the organization.

         10                 The way I got out of that terrible

         11  place was by becoming the owner's worse nightmare.

         12  I caused them to spend a lot of money in upgrading

         13  the place.  In the end I quit paying rent, I told

         14  them I would not pay rent until you make these

         15  improvements. He had not made the improvements,

         16  finally, after owing a year's rent, my girlfriend

         17  and I lived, she, we met when I moved into that

         18  home, and we shared a room together.  We paid for a

         19  9 foot by 17 foot room, one room, we paid $2,000 a

         20  month.  We called a halt to it one year before we

         21  finally left.  He wanted me to leave so bad, that he

         22  offered to pay me to leave, and he said, I will give

         23  you 30 days to leave.  I said, no.  We waited

         24  another month, he took me to court again, he said, I

         25  will give you 60 days to leave, and you don't have
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          2  to pay any back rent.  I said, no.  We went to court

          3  a third time, he says, well, what if I gave you 90

          4  days to leave and you can forget about the $30,000

          5  you owe me.  I said, great, I will leave.  So after

          6  that I left.

          7                 I still go back, so far, I have

          8  gotten three people housing outside of that place.

          9  I still go back there, I keep in touch with

         10  everybody, and they tell me what their problems are.

         11    If you want to know more about the problems, I

         12  will gladly leave these tapes for you.

         13                 Thank you very much for your time.

         14  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.  If

         16  you can give us, don't leave, please, we are going

         17  to have some questions for you. If you can leave

         18  that for us, we will appreciate it?  Would you like

         19  us to copy this and return the originals to you?

         20                 MR. WALKER:  That would be great,

         21  yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.  I

         23  really appreciate it, you giving us this

         24  information.

         25                 MR. WALKER:  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Any of you

          3  currently of the people who live in Adult Homes,

          4  still live in Adult Homes, or no more?  You do, you

          5  do, you do.  You don't.

          6                 MR. WALKER:  No.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You don't.

          8                 MS. MARINARO:  I never did.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Currently, the

         10  Adult Homes in which you live, I hear you that you

         11  don't want it to be closed. What you want is to be

         12  repaired?

         13                 MS. BURKOFF:  We want Seaport to be

         14  able to stay open.  What it is, is it needs new

         15  administration in there, that is the point.  The old

         16  administrators, it was nothing but pure chaos and

         17  pure hell.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  What is the name

         19  of the place, if you can, please, repeat that?

         20                 MS. BURKOFF:  Seaport Manor.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Seaport Manor,

         22  can you give us the address of the place?

         23                 MS. BURKOFF:  Yes, 615 East 114th

         24  Street in Canarsie, Brooklyn.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, thank you.
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          2                 MS. BURKOFF:  Okay.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And the address

          4  of where you live, is it the same place?

          5                 MS. BURKOFF:  Same place.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And you have the

          7  same sentiment?

          8                 MS. VELASQUEZ:  Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  That you want it

         10  to stay?

         11                 MS. VELASQUEZ:  Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And in your case,

         13  that is the same situation?

         14                 MR. WALKER:  I would like to say

         15  something, I work in Canarsie and I see some of the

         16  people from Seaport.  Some of the people are really,

         17  really in bad shape.

         18                 MR. BURKOFF:  They are.

         19                 MR. WALKER:  They have like steady

         20  job of begging on the streets.  These gentlemen

         21  happen to be alcoholics, and you see them every day

         22  at the same time, same place.  And that says a lot

         23  about how they're being taken care of there.

         24                 I would hate to see anybody, I would

         25  hate to see Seaport close down.  Like the lady just
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          2  said, just get the place into receivership, fix it

          3  up, and ban the present owners from having anything

          4  to do with it, sell it to new owners that are going

          5  to take care of things properly.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  When you were

          7  there, or if you are there still and you need, you

          8  have a need of psychiatric care, where do you get

          9  the psychiatric care provided to you?

         10                 MS. BURKOFF:  Some of the people

         11  there is the CSS or Kingborough Psychiatric that

         12  holds, that has, you know, a clinic in the building.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  There is a clinic

         14  in the building?

         15                 MS. BURKOFF:  More or less, I don't

         16  know that much about it, I don't belong to CSS.  But

         17  otherwise, you will see a psychiatrist once a month,

         18  maybe, and that is it.  If you don't belong to the

         19  program, you know, CSS in the building.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  This psychiatrist

         21  that see the patients in there or the clients is

         22  hired by whom, who monitor the work of this

         23  psychiatrist?

         24                 MS. BURKOFF:  The Staten Island

         25  University Hospital.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The Staten Island

          3  University Hospital, in the case of your particular

          4  location.

          5                 MS. BURKOFF:  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But that is not

          7  the same for everybody.  Every location may have a

          8  different psychiatric services attached to it.

          9                 MS. BURKOFF:  Right, that is it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And the residents

         11  have to go to those psychiatric services in order to

         12  get the services provided to them?

         13                 MS. BURKOFF:  No, there has been - -

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  It is never

         15  provided in the residence?

         16                 MR. LIEBERMAN:  No, in some - -

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes?

         18                 MR. LIEBERMAN:  In some Adult Homes -

         19   -

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  In some of them,

         21  yes.

         22                 MR. LIEBERMAN: - -  are provided on-

         23  site.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But they are not

         25  part of the adult home.  It is another organization
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          2  that come in and provide psychiatric services.

          3                 MR. LIEBERMAN:  Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, yes, Sir.

          5                 MR. WALKER:  At the Garden of Eden,

          6  when I lived there, they had psychiatrists that were

          7  in- house psychiatrists.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  In- house.

          9                 MR. WALKER:  Yes.  They had there own

         10  practices outside, but they were also part of Garden

         11  of Eden.  And they ran what many of the people would

         12  call a production line psychiatric practice, you

         13  would walk in and two minutes later you're out, you

         14  have been billed.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Who gives the

         16  medication to the clients in the Adult Homes?  That

         17  the medication is given to them, for them to

         18  dispense the medication, or somebody dispenses that

         19  medication?

         20                 MS. MARINARO:  I would like to

         21  address that.  Right now if any staff goes through

         22  some kind of training program, that I have not been

         23  able to identify, they're allowed, by State

         24  regulation, to dispense psychotropics.  They do not

         25  have to have a nursing degree, they do not even have
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          2  to have a high school diploma.  All they have to do

          3  is pass this two- week course, and then they're

          4  entitled to, or their allowed to, not entitled, but

          5  allowed to dispense the medication.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then it is your

          7  impression that the staff who works in these places

          8  who are not psychiatric social workers, nurses,

          9  doctors, or people who have been licensed - -

         10                 MS. MARINARO:  It is not just my

         11  impression.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: - -  to provide

         13  this medication, it is your impression that none of

         14  those people are the one that dispenses the

         15  medication to the people in the Adult Homes?

         16                 MS. MARINARO:  That is correct.  I

         17  mean, - -

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  That is your

         19  impression.  That is the impression of everybody

         20  here?

         21                 MR. WALKER:  What I know for a fact

         22  is that the Garden of Eden, when they had hired some

         23  new people to dispense medication, I asked one of

         24  the young ladies if she had a PDR?  She did not know

         25  what a PDR was, Physicians Desk Reference.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But then who

          3  gives this medication to the place, to dispense this

          4  medication?

          5                 MR. WALKER:  People who are not

          6  qualified.

          7                 MS. BURKOFF:  Excuse me.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

          9                 MS. BURKOFF:  There are people, staff

         10  members that have absolutely no letters after their

         11  names.  If there is nobody else working there, they

         12  are told to please go into the medication room and

         13  dispense the medication.  And they deal with

         14  controlled substances, and throughout my 15 months,

         15  I'm on self- medication, but there is a lot of

         16  different things that have happened where people

         17  have been actually sold medication out of the

         18  medication room.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Let me understand

         20  something here.  I'm a little bit confused, because

         21  I'm in disbelief of what I'm hearing.

         22                 MS. BURKOFF:  And receptionists give

         23  them out.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Let me ask this

         25  question in a very specific way.  We have the
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          2  client, we have a resident who go for psychiatric

          3  care, outside of the place.  They get prescribed

          4  psychiatric medication.  How does the medication get

          5  into the hands of the home?

          6                 MS. BURKOFF:  Prescriptions are given

          7  out to a pharmacy.  The pharmacy comes and picks up

          8  the prescriptions, and then gives, you know, brings

          9  the prescriptions filled back, and then they're put

         10  into the medication room.  And in the medication

         11  room, whoever happens to be working there at those

         12  hours, gives out the medication.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then is a

         14  pharmacy involved in this?

         15                 MS. BURKOFF:  Yes.

         16                 MR. LIEBERMAN:  Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Is a psychiatrist

         18  involved in this?

         19                 MS. BURKOFF:  Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Is a hospital

         21  that hired the psychiatrist involved in this?

         22                 MS. BURKOFF:  Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The client go to

         24  the psychiatric services, for the services - -

         25                 MS. BURKOFF:  Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: - -  they are

          3  never given the medication, the medication is given

          4  to the adult home directly, --

          5                 MS. BURKOFF:  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: - -  for the adult

          7  home to dispense this medication?

          8                 MS. BURKOFF:  Correct.

          9                 MS. MARINARO:  Correct.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And for all what

         11  I know in here, the client, the patient, the adult

         12  home resident, perhaps don't even know what they are

         13  taking?

         14                 MS. BURKOFF:  Oh, that has happened.

         15                 MS. MARINARO:  Many of them don't.

         16                 MS. BURKOFF:  That has happened.

         17  There has also been people that, at Seaport, that

         18  have had to go to the hospital because they have

         19  given them overdoses of their medication, and they

         20  almost died.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The people who

         22  suffer from mental illness and have psychiatric care

         23  provided outside, inside, do they go through the

         24  process of doing a plan for the recovery as is

         25  mandated by the Department of Mental Health?
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          2                 MS. BURKOFF:  Nothing is - -

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Do they see - -

          4                 MR. WALKER:  They have a yearly - -

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I have been out

          6  of my job for a while and I don't remember the names

          7  of this particular things that we needed to do every

          8  three months.  But every three months we needed to

          9  do a treatment plan.  Does treatment plans occur

         10  where the Adult Home resident participate with

         11  anybody that does this treatment plan for them, the

         12  treatment plan success?

         13                 MS. BURKOFF:  No.  The closest thing

         14  to a treatment plan, I think, is the people that go

         15  to what they call a day program.  And that, the only

         16  reason they go there is for a good meal.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Where is a

         18  treatment program?

         19                 MS. VELASQUEZ:  Brooklyn Day - -

         20                 MS. BURKOFF:  Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Outside of the

         22  Adult Home?

         23                 MS. BURKOFF:  Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then some of the

         25  Adult Home residents go to treatment program.
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          2                 MS. BURKOFF:  Well it's not exactly a

          3  treatment program, it's someplace to go to, what

          4  they end up doing is playing bingo, shooting pool,

          5  watching TV, but getting a good meal.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  These treatment

          7  programs are funded by who, do you know?

          8                 MS. BURKOFF:  The State.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  By Medicaid?

         10                 MS. BURKOFF:  Yes.

         11                 MR. WALKER:  At the Garden of Eden,

         12  it is funded in conjunction with the Jewish Board.

         13  They have a contract - -

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  With the Jewish

         15  Board?

         16                 MR. WALKER:  Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  To provide

         18  treatment plan - -

         19                 MR. WALKER:  A day treatment program.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  A treatment

         21  program for some of the residents of that particular

         22  place.

         23                 MR. WALKER:  Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then perhaps some

         25  not- for- profit organizations are providing
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          2  services to this particular residences in those

          3  areas?

          4                 MR. WALKER:  Well as I understand it,

          5  the Jewish Board is a non- profit organization.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, they are.

          7                 MR. WALKER:  Okay.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But what you're

          9  telling me is that perhaps would not be the only

         10  organization that is providing treatment for people

         11  who live inside of the Adult Homes?

         12                 MR. WALKER:  Well I can only speak

         13  for the Garden of Eden.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

         15                 MR. WALKER:  I wanted to mention

         16  something else too.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But the other

         18  people here, do you know of any situation similar to

         19  that?  Okay.

         20                 MR. WALKER:  I wanted to mention

         21  something else, it was normal to go to get your

         22  medication and sometime be handed someone else's

         23  medication.  And also, on two occasions - -

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Wait, wait, some,

         25  you go for medication, and the medication that is
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          2  given to you belongs to somebody else?

          3                 MR. WALKER:  Yes.  You know by the

          4  color of the pills, you know what you're taking.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.  And when

          6  those situations happen, what people do?

          7                 MR. WALKER:  Oh, you just say to

          8  them, oh, you gave me the wrong one.  And they will

          9  say, oh, okay, and they will go back and get the

         10  right one.  And usually - -

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You know for a

         12  fact that the people who are giving these

         13  medications are not licensed to give this

         14  medication, you know that for a fact?

         15                 MS. BURKOFF:  Oh, yes.

         16                 MS. MARINARO:  The receptionist give

         17  them out.

         18                 MR. WALKER:  They're very illiterate.

         19                 MS. VELASQUEZ:  Oh, yes.

         20                 MR. WALKER:  Barely literate.

         21  Another problem that comes up is, you see they

         22  happen to be on pretty good terms with the

         23  residents, people who are doing this.  And so,

         24  you're pretty friendly, so if something like that

         25  happens, you give it back to them because there are
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          2  few staff people who will give you the time of day

          3  and even talk nice to you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then the person

          5  who suffers from mental illness who has been placed

          6  there by the Shelter System of the City of New York,

          7  by the Health and Hospital Corporation of the City

          8  of New York, or by the Adult, or by the, because you

          9  said it happened in reverse, by the transitional

         10  housing units, anyone of those organizations,

         11  agencies of the City or not- for- profit

         12  organization that place people in these facilities

         13  should be aware that treatment does not happen in

         14  there, and it is not happening in there.

         15                 MR. WALKER:  Exactly.  In order to

         16  operate an Adult Home, you do not have to have any

         17  psychiatric training whatsoever. That is one of the

         18  biggest problems.

         19                 You will find on those tapes, we used

         20  to, I used to start every meeting by giving lessons

         21  in First Aide and CPR.  Why? Because in the middle

         22  of the night there is nobody there to help anybody

         23  out in a medical emergency.  So I made it my

         24  business to take what I learned in the Marine Corp.

         25  And also as a psychiatric technician in the State of
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          2  California, to teach people how to help each other.

          3  So we went through CPR and we went through emergency

          4  first aide.  I made sure that everybody there knew

          5  what to do for their roommate or someone else that

          6  they saw in trouble.

          7                 Those places they do not have an

          8  emergency medical staff on at night.  You have very

          9  low paid workers who are home health aides and

         10  porters.  They come there to sleep at night, because

         11  this is their second or third job, and that is the

         12  problem. There is no security, it's just

         13  indescribable.

         14                 I wanted to mention one other thing,

         15  that is why I have go this thing out, I went to get

         16  my medication one time.  The lady that works, we

         17  call them medication dollies.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

         19                 MR. WALKER:  She works in the

         20  medication room, she comes to the window with a

         21  cigarette, she says hi, Dave, oh, here is your

         22  medicine.  I didn't look in the cup, I just took it

         23  and I started coughing, it was full of ashes along

         24  with my medication. Things like that happen.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  How nice.  Any of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            68

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  my colleagues want to ask questions to this panel?

          3  Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I would,

          5  thank you, Madam Chairwoman.  And before I ask a

          6  question, I would just like to say something really

          7  briefly, if I may.  I'm not a full- time member of

          8  this Committee.  However, well, let me say this,

          9  quite often in government now you hear the phrase

         10  the right person at the right time.  You have heard

         11  that about the former and current Mayor, and

         12  irrespective on your position on that, it's a common

         13  a phrase now. And when I read the story in the New

         14  York Times about the conditions in the Adult Homes

         15  for the Mentally Ill, some of which are in my own

         16  district, I said to myself, that thank God,

         17  Margarita Lopez is the right person in charge of

         18  this Committee at the right time.  And I think it

         19  was very reassuring for me to know that you're in

         20  charge of this Committee and you're bringing your

         21  passion and conviction to shed light on this very,

         22  very disturbing situation.  And I thank you for that

         23  on behalf of my constituents and all the people of

         24  the City.  And I would like to thank you all also,

         25  for your advocacy.
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          2                 I would actually like to ask you, Mr.

          3  Lieberman, and if I ask something that everybody

          4  knows on this Committee, I apologize, because it is

          5  not an area that I'm well versed in.  But having

          6  listened to the Commissioner and hearing your

          7  testimony here, it sounds almost like the Adult

          8  Homes operate outside of direct government

          9  supervision.  Is that correct?  I mean, I know that

         10  many things we look at, it is like, like they said

         11  in the movie Shrek, you know, it's like an onion and

         12  you have got to peel layers and layers.  But what I

         13  have learned just sitting here now is that it seems

         14  that, is there a government agency that is directly

         15  overseeing the Mental Health Services provided by

         16  these Adult Homes?

         17                 MR. LIEBERMAN:  Well, indeed, there

         18  are three governmental agencies that have

         19  responsibility for the oversight of the mentally ill

         20  in Adult Homes.  The New York State Department of

         21  Health is charged with regulating and monitoring

         22  Adult Homes and adult home operators, the room and

         23  board, the personal care services, the food, the

         24  laundry services, the physical plant, that is the

         25  responsibility, the housing.
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          2                 The outside mental health service

          3  providers, the teams that you have heard these folks

          4  talk about, those teams are regulated and monitored

          5  by the New York State Office of Mental Health.  And

          6  for many years there was supposed to be a joint

          7  responsibility where the Department of Health and

          8  OMH would work jointly in conducting inspections,

          9  and we have never seen that happen in the past.

         10                 And the other agency, the State

         11  agency that works as a watchdog group is the New

         12  York State Commission on Quality of Care.  And to

         13  the degree and to the powers that they have, we feel

         14  they do a relatively good job, and under the

         15  conditions.  But we certainly feel, given the

         16  intimidation that exists for residents, given the

         17  terrible conditions that have been outlined in the

         18  New York Times articles, there is just a complete

         19  lack of proper regulation.

         20                 Seaport Home for Adults is a perfect

         21  example, and it is a test case for all of us as to

         22  whether under this new public light whether the

         23  State will begin to do something that makes sense

         24  and that actually benefits the residents who live

         25  there.  Seaport has a long, long history of
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          2  problems.  The State finally moved to revoke the

          3  operators' license.  They were fined a half of a

          4  million dollars in fines with what the Health

          5  Department found wrong with that facility.  Those

          6  fines were negotiated down to $20,000, there was no

          7  admission of guilt, the operators were able to tell

          8  the Department, we're simply going to get out of the

          9  adult home business, we're going to give over our

         10  Adult Home license.  And the residents for quite

         11  some time now have been hearing rumors on that in

         12  going out of the Adult Home business, they're going

         13  to try and receive licenses to operate a shelter for

         14  women.  From which what I understand would involve

         15  some City approval.  So I think you should have,

         16  take some attention to that matter.

         17                 But I think as Karen said, up until

         18  not so long ago the Health Department seems to be

         19  following a much more sensible public policy agenda.

         20    But for a long time now, many residents have

         21  already been discharged from the facility.  Many

         22  have been discharged to facilities, Adult Homes, as

         23  bad as Seaport.  That kind of message sends a

         24  terrible public policy message both to operators

         25  that you can operate with little accountability, and

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  to residents that if you raise your voices and you

          3  complain, that indeed, you may end up on the

          4  streets, and this is what these people are afraid

          5  of.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I thank the panel

          7  for your testimony.  It has been very revealing to

          8  me.  I want to, before you leave, to let you know

          9  the following thing:

         10                 This is the first hearing on a series

         11  of hearings that I'm going to have on this

         12  particular issue.  I just opened the hearings today,

         13  because I wanted to begin exploring what was this

         14  issue more about and more clear for me.  It is my

         15  belief that the City has jurisdiction over this

         16  problem, although, it has been told to us that we

         17  don't.  The more you gave me information, the more

         18  convinced I got of that.  And I want to reassure you

         19  that this is just the beginning of it.

         20                 And the reason I'm saying that is

         21  because under the City Mental Health and Health

         22  Department are certain things that have to be taken

         23  care, when we're talking about providing services to

         24  the mentally ill, particularly provision of

         25  psychiatric care. If that psychiatric care has been
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          2  provided by public hospitals or by institutions that

          3  exist in this city, that perhaps many of them are

          4  receiving City dollars from the Council or from the

          5  City, in themselves, I believe we have jurisdiction.

          6                 I believe we also have jurisdiction,

          7  if we're having patients being discharged from the

          8  hospital system that is part of the public hospital

          9  that we have to these facilities and from the

         10  Department of Homeless Services to these facilities.

         11    Then this is just the beginning for me to get to a

         12  point, and I'm going to get to that point one way or

         13  another.

         14                 And I thank you for being here, and I

         15  will probably need your help in the near future and

         16  you're going to hear from me again.  Thank you for

         17  being here today.

         18                 ALL:  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  We're going to

         20  call Honorable Assemblyman Gottfried to testify now.

         21    From now on the testimony that we are going to

         22  receive is going to be monitored by the clock. I

         23  need to do that in order to be able to move the

         24  hearing forward. I'm sorry that I needed to take

         25  more time with the panel that just finished, it is
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          2  that I feel that this particular panel have more

          3  light to share on the issue with us than anybody

          4  else.  Because if somebody understands this problem

          5  it is the people who lives in these facilities who

          6  can give us the true, real information that we need

          7  in order to deal with this particular problem.

          8                 Then from now on you're going to see

          9  that clock go on and we're going to set the clock

         10  for three minutes per person. Please, I'm going to

         11  ask you to refrain yourself, to present your

         12  testimony in that time frame.  I need to finish this

         13  hearing today no later than five o'clock.  And the

         14  reason I had to do that is because I made a promise

         15  to Senator Martin Connors who is going to use this

         16  space after five o'clock, and I need to preserve my

         17  good relationship with people, and I hope that you

         18  understand that.

         19                 But this is not, as I said, the last

         20  meeting that we're going to have this.

         21                 Therefore, with that said, I think

         22  this is set on two minutes only.  Thank you.  With

         23  that said, we're going to set the minutes, the clock

         24  on three minutes.  And thank you for coming,

         25  Assemblyman Gottfried.
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          2                 MS. BOLANOS:  Please raise your right

          3  hand?  Do you swear the testimony you're going to

          4  give to this Committee is the whole truth and to the

          5  best of your knowledge?

          6                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  Yes.

          7                 MS. BOLANOS:  Please state your name

          8  and organization for the record?  Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  Okay.  My

         11  name is Richard N. Gottfried.  I Chair the Committee

         12  on Health in the New State Assembly.  And I commend

         13  you Madam Chair and the other Council members for

         14  holding this hearing today, and I appreciate this

         15  opportunity to testify.  I will try to keep it to

         16  three minutes. It is a pleasure for the first time

         17  to see you in your role as Chair of the Committee.

         18                 The Assembly's Committee on Health,

         19  together with our Committees on Mental Health,

         20  chaired by Martin Luster; Aging, chaired by Steve

         21  Engelbright; and Oversight, chaired by Jeffrey

         22  Kline, held hearings in New York and Albany on Adult

         23  Homes.  My colleagues and I have introduced

         24  legislation to help begin to reform the system and

         25  to protect the people who live in Adult Homes.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            76

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 Recent articles in the New York Times

          3  on Adult Homes document, and our hearings confirm

          4  and so does yours, that there are serious weaknesses

          5  in New York's licensing and inspection and

          6  enforcement of standards.  More important is the

          7  State's failure to support quality care and

          8  alternative community- based housing and services

          9  for the mentally ill and other at- risk people now

         10  in Adult Homes.  The inevitable result is the

         11  warehousing of human beings and the abuse of their

         12  health safety and welfare.  Unscrupulous owners get

         13  away with inhuman conditions and scandalous

         14  activities.

         15                 Adult Homes were originally intended

         16  to house predominantly low- income elderly who

         17  needed some supportive services.  Over the years

         18  they have become filled with more and more frail,

         19  disabled and mentally ill residents.

         20                 The Constitution, federal and state

         21  policy and common sense call for the

         22  deinstitutionalization of the mentally ill, as much

         23  as possible, into community settings with services.

         24  Instead we now have what has been called

         25  transinstitutionalization, moving mentally ill
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          2  people from State Psychiatric Hospitals into large

          3  Adult Homes.  Institutions with all the problems

          4  that so often come with institutionalization.  These

          5  facilities must be effectively policed, but there is

          6  just so much that policing can do to fix an

          7  inherently, flawed system.

          8                 In addition to an immediate policing

          9  response, we need long- term reform.  What is really

         10  needed is a commitment, number one, to invest in

         11  quality services delivered by qualified operators in

         12  Adult Homes.  And two, to move aggressively toward

         13  community- based supported, supportive housing with

         14  services.

         15                 Over the last decade the Legislature

         16  created programs to improve care and services in

         17  Adult Homes.  The Quality Improvement Payment, or

         18  QUIP program, offers targeted increased subsidies to

         19  Adult Homes with qualified operators to support

         20  improved services.

         21                 But Governor George Pataki's

         22  Administration has allowed QUIP payments to go to

         23  operators with bad records, has cut the program

         24  every year, and tried to zero it out totally in this

         25  year's budget.
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          2                 Other programs, such as the Limited

          3  License Home Care program and the so- called

          4  Assisted Living program are aimed at helping Adult

          5  Home residents who need additional services by

          6  bringing in Home Care services under Health

          7  Department licensure with Medicaid funding.  But the

          8  Pataki Administration has hamstrung these programs

          9  with bureaucratic delays, under- funding and

         10  regulations that block effective use of these

         11  programs.  For years, New York State benefited from

         12  the Community Reinvestment Act, which took the funds

         13  freed up by the downsizing of State Psychiatric

         14  Hospitals and put these funds into community- based

         15  treatment.  And we had the New York/New York

         16  program, a New York State/New York City partnership

         17  that produced additional supportive housing.  The

         18  Pataki Administration, on the other hand, let both

         19  of these programs die with no alternatives.

         20                 In contrast, witnesses at our hearing

         21  said that New York's system for another at- risk

         22  population, the developmentally disabled, is a

         23  national model.  That population has also been

         24  subjected to dehumanizing institutionalized,

         25  institutional warehousing in New York's past.  Now
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          2  we have individual and small groups housing with

          3  supportive services under non- profit sponsorship in

          4  the community.  That is for the developmentally

          5  disabled population.

          6                 New York knows how to help those in

          7  need, the scandal is that we are choosing not to.

          8  The Governor knew that the articles in the New York

          9  Times were coming, but instead of offering a long-

         10  term vision for quality services and appropriate

         11  housing alternatives, Governor Pataki responded with

         12  a legislative package of minimal first steps aimed

         13  at more effective policing, but little more.

         14                 Witnesses at our hearings told us

         15  that, what the press has documented.  This

         16  administration has failed to effectively use the

         17  policing powers it already has.  It has pulled the

         18  plug on enforcement proceedings against truly bad

         19  operators. Let others off the hook with drastically

         20  reduced fines, and understaffed the inspection

         21  operation.     What you were hearing about Seaport

         22  Manor is another example of the administration's

         23  failure to use powers effectively.

         24                 The Administration, the officials, on

         25  the other hand, testified that current laws have
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          2  obstacles that block effective enforcement.  It is

          3  important that they have now, at long last, given

          4  the Legislature the benefit of their experience in

          5  working with those laws.  But why didn't they come

          6  forward years before the newspapers' stories broke?

          7                 New York's nursing home scandal in

          8  the 1970s, in those scandals a special prosecutor

          9  and a blue ribbon Commission of highly respected

         10  independent membership helped clean up the situation

         11  and produced lasting reform.  We could use such help

         12  again.  A special prosecutor unit for Adult Homes

         13  should be created under the State Attorney General

         14  to ensure its independence of the administration.  A

         15  Commission would, hopefully not be "just another

         16  Commission," if it has the clear commitment of the

         17  Governor and the Legislature to support plans for

         18  quality housing and services for the mentally ill

         19  and others who are now being warehoused in Adult

         20  Homes.

         21                 In this year's State budget, the

         22  Assembly was successful in restoring funding cut by

         23  the Governor for the QUIP program.  We also

         24  appropriated $100,000 for the Coalition for the

         25  Institutionalized Aged and Disabled to expand the
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          2  superb advocacy work that the Coalition does for

          3  Adult Home residents. Unfortunately, we were not

          4  successful in our effort to fund a New York/New York

          5  III housing program.

          6                 The legislation that we have

          7  introduced, Assembly Bill A- 11783, and I will leave

          8  copies with you, includes all of the elements

          9  proposed by Governor Pataki, but it goes well beyond

         10  that, including:

         11                 1.  Expanding the limited license and

         12  assisted living programs to bring professional home

         13  care services to Adult Home residents.

         14                 2.  Strengthening the law for

         15  appointing a receiver to take over an Adult Home.

         16  Receivers must be empowered to run a home properly

         17  until a qualified operator can take over

         18  permanently. Today, instead, a receiver often serves

         19  simply to shutdown a home, forcing the residents out

         20  of their homes and dispersing them.

         21                 3.  Setting up a quality enhancement

         22  fund to be financed by fines levied on Adult Home

         23  operators.

         24                 4.  Setting up emergency interagency

         25  inspection teams.
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          2                 5.  Requiring criminal background

          3  checks on Adult Home operators and owners.

          4                 6.  Giving the State Attorney

          5  General, as I said, broad prosecutorial jurisdiction

          6  over all matters relating to Adult Home operation

          7  and regulation.

          8                 7.  Appointing a temporary Commission

          9  with temporary Executive, Legislative and public

         10  appointees to develop further reforms.

         11                 This package is a start, but it is

         12  only a start.  I hope that before this Legislative

         13  Session adjourns for the summer, we will reach an

         14  agreement with the Governor and the Senate on

         15  legislation.  Whatever happens, the Assembly will

         16  continue to work with advocates for the residents,

         17  responsible Adult Home operators and others to end

         18  the warehousing and provide quality- based,

         19  community- based quality housing and services.

         20                 In closing I commend the Council for

         21  holding this hearing and look forward to working

         22  with you on these issues.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Assemblyman, I

         25  hear you that you have legislation pending right
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          2  now.  What has been the reaction of the Governor in

          3  regard to this preliminary?

          4                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  That is a

          5  good question, we have not had a response from the

          6  Governor to our proposals.  The Governor's

          7  proposals, as I said, are a set of minimal first

          8  steps. I hope that we're now on, what I guess may be

          9  a couple of weeks separating the, it's like

         10  separating boxers who are in a clinch, perhaps, with

         11  the Legislature somewhat disbursed.  I hope in this

         12  period we will be able to get talks going with the

         13  Governor and the Senate on this issue, and that we

         14  will be able to get some agreed on legislation.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Do you think that

         16  is likely that that will happen?

         17                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  I don't know

         18  if it is likely, I think it is possible, hard to

         19  say.  I think the proposals that we have made are

         20  pretty moderate initial steps.  I think they're

         21  worth taking and they would have important benefit,

         22  but it's hard to say at this point what the

         23  administration's reaction will be.  They are, our

         24  proposals are based on the testimony that we had at

         25  the hearings, and what people in the community, many
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          2  of whom I think will be testifying before you here

          3  today, our proposals are based on what they told us

          4  were the problems.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Do you agree that

          6  the current Memorandum of Understanding between the

          7  three agencies that were signed in December 2001,

          8  Department of Health, Department of Mental Health,

          9  and the Commission of Quality of Care, in order to

         10  see how they are going to monitor these facilities,

         11  do you think that that Memorandum of Understanding

         12  is sufficient to deal with this problem at this

         13  moment?

         14                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  No, I think

         15  the MOU was a worthwhile coordinating of effort.

         16  Although, the mandate for that kind of coordination

         17  has been on the books for years.  What is among the

         18  things that are needed are a substantial increase in

         19  staffing in the inspection and enforcement effort.

         20  It is severely understaffed.  There are legal

         21  changes needed to beef up the laws on receivership,

         22  but what is, before we get to that we need a

         23  commitment in the Administration, in the Pataki

         24  Administration to use the tools that they have.  And

         25  we have seen repeated cases, in the case of Brooklyn
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          2  Manor where a painstaking enforcement effort had

          3  gone through extensive hearings leading up to

          4  recommendations for hundreds of thousands of dollars

          5  in fines, and the State Health Department came in

          6  and pulled the plug on the enforcement and let them

          7  go with about one- tenth of the recommended fines.

          8                 In the case of Seaport Manor, the

          9  fines levied are piddling, the State's receivership

         10  power is being used to deliver to the owner of

         11  vacant building.  And as we all know from dealing

         12  with developers, what a developer loves to have is

         13  to be delivered a vacant building with no troubling

         14  tenants.  And that is what is happening in Seaport

         15  Manor.

         16                 The receiver who seems to be running

         17  a good operation is not being allowed to continue to

         18  run that operation until a good operator is found.

         19  Instead the receiver is being used to empty out the

         20  building, disperse the residents, get them out of

         21  the building that they have called home for, in many

         22  cases for many years, in many cases sending them to

         23  Adult Homes that are as bad as Seaport Manor, so

         24  that the owner of that building will have delivered

         25  to him a nice empty building that he can go and find
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          2  some other way to make money out of, probably at the

          3  expense of poor people, once again.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then in that case

          5  what we're talking is about gentrification.  It is a

          6  different set of problem related to make money out

          7  of the facility, when the facility was dedicated to

          8  provide services to adults who --

          9                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  I mean

         10  whether that operator will try to run a shelter, or

         11  whether that operator will find that he can enhance

         12  his fortune by redeveloping the building as housing,

         13  who knows, but people like that generally find a way

         14  to make a buck, and the State is essentially handing

         15  him an empty building to make another buck with.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But, stop one

         17  minute in there. In order for that person who owns,

         18  or is the owner of record of that property, to do

         19  such a thing, they will have to have a ULURP process

         20  for that to happen, correct?

         21                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  Well,

         22  possibly - -

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  In the City?

         24                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED: - -  I don't

         25  know what the zoning for the site is, or what its
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          2  development potential is, or what the area around it

          3  might, may be.  But it does appear that the owner of

          4  Seaport Manor is going to walk away with a minimal

          5  slap on the wrist and a easy opportunity to get back

          6  into business in some line of business.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, the reason

          8  I'm asking this question is because if right now I

          9  can find out that this owner is intending to empty

         10  out this building with the purpose of converting it

         11  into a profit- making venture, like creating luxury

         12  housing, and for that he or she will need a change

         13  in the Zoning Laws, we need to be aware here in the

         14  City, because perhaps one of the slap on the wrist

         15  will be in the pocket instead of the hand, not

         16  approving that Zoning Law change, if that is what

         17  we're looking about here.

         18                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  Well I think

         19  it would be very worthwhile for the Council to look

         20  at the zoning for the area, look at what sort of

         21  neighborhood it is, what kind of potential the owner

         22  may be looking at, and keep an eye on, and hopefully

         23  with the cooperation of City agencies, keep an eye

         24  on what that owner may be looking to do, what permit

         25  he may be applying for, and keep that owner hemmed
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          2  in.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.  And my

          4  last question is in regard to the program that the

          5  Assembly created in rewarding good Adult Homes, the

          6  Quality Incentive Payment program.  How many of

          7  those Incentive Quality Payment programs has been

          8  given to the Adult Homes in New York City, do you

          9  know?

         10                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  I don't know

         11  how many Adult Homes have been funded by QUIP, not

         12  very many because the funding has never gotten to be

         13  more than, I think, three or four million dollars in

         14  any one year, and that does not go very far.  Some

         15  owners have used that money to do some very good

         16  work, but what we have found that though some QUIP

         17  recipients have a string of violations on their

         18  buildings.  And so - -

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Wow, and that

         20  didn't suppose to be?

         21                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  And that is

         22  not supposed to be, and so there is a lot to be done

         23  that needs to be done to improve the operation of

         24  the QUIP program.

         25                 The Pataki Administration came up
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          2  with an interesting idea, and it is in their

          3  legislation and it is our bill, and I don't go out

          4  of my way to say nice things about the Pataki

          5  Administration, but - -

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Me either.

          7                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED: - -  you know,

          8  give credit where its due, they have proposed that

          9  an Adult Home that applies for QUIP funding that

         10  their proposed use of the money be subject to

         11  approval by the Resident Council in the building.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

         13                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  Which among

         14  other things, well, one it would help assure that

         15  the money was put to a good use.  And number two, it

         16  would tell the owner of the building that the

         17  Resident Council is now going to have a little bit

         18  of real power, and you better be nice to them, you

         19  better pay attention to them.  I think that that is

         20  a piece that, at least, in Adult Homes that may be

         21  in line for QUIP funding could have a very

         22  beneficial effect.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Well, I'm looking

         24  forward to working with you on this issue.

         25                 And Council Member Brewer has a
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          2  series of questions for you.

          3                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  Okay.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I think you

          5  know everything, but this is my question.

          6                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  Far from it.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  The New

          8  York/New York proposal,- -  it's true, Dick

          9  Gottfried, you do know everything. The New York/New

         10  York proposal that I know was in existence in the

         11  past, and that you mentioned was not funded this

         12  year.  And when it was funded, and of course I know

         13  Steve Coe and many people have worked so hard on

         14  that, did that make a difference?  In other words,

         15  would it be, perhaps, an outcome of your work with

         16  your bill and with the work of this Committee that

         17  that could be funded in the future as part of a

         18  package to work on this issue overall, because it is

         19  such an important proposal?

         20                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  Well the

         21  Mental Health System is not under the jurisdiction

         22  of my Committee.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I know, no, I

         24  know that.

         25                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  So that I
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          2  haven't been, I couldn't tell you as much about that

          3  as probably my colleague, Marty Luster could.  But

          4  what I have heard over the years from advocates,

          5  from people in the housing field, from people in the

          6  mental health field, when they have come to the

          7  Legislature urging that we restart and re- initiate

          8  the New York/New York program, that it was highly

          9  successful, that it did create new housing, it did

         10  create quality, affordable, accessible housing with

         11  the kinds of services that people need, and it did

         12  make a difference in the lives of a lot of people.

         13                 Its main failing was the limitation

         14  on the quantity of housing that was able to be

         15  created, and that is why New York/New York I had to

         16  be followed by New York/New York II, and should have

         17  been followed by New York/New York III.

         18                 I think the State and the City could

         19  get back into the business of making a real

         20  difference in the lives of a lot of people with real

         21  need.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  The other

         23  question that I have is that during the Andrew Stein

         24  years on this issue and the Barbara Bear issues, era

         25  on this issue, do you think the ownership of these
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          2  homes has changed, or is it similar?  I mean, the

          3  people who are owning the homes and the ones who own

          4  them now, do we know if there is a similarity in

          5  terms of ownership?

          6                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  I don't think

          7  a lot has changed.  I mean, the individuals may have

          8  changed, there are, I believe there are some for-

          9  profit people running Adult Homes who do a good job

         10  with limited resources and who try to do a good job.

         11    I know there are people in the not- for- profit

         12  world who also do a good job with Adult Homes.  I

         13  think that shows that a good job can be done, but

         14  there are an awful lot of people who continue to

         15  take advantage of the Adult Home system to do a

         16  horrible job and to profit at the expense of very

         17  at- risk people.

         18                 We learned some lessons in the

         19  nursing home scandals a generation ago.  I don't

         20  think those lessons have been applied to the Adult

         21  Home world, and we are paying the price.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  The

         23  last question that I have is that when you think

         24  about this on the State level, do you sort of

         25  differentiate, I know that you may not be trained
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          2  what the State role is, and in our case, what the

          3  City role is, or would that be helpful?  Because,

          4  obviously, with this Committee there could be a

          5  multifaceted approach, which maybe without this

          6  Committee there couldn't be.  And I know that, you

          7  know, a lot of this is State, this is a heavily

          8  State, could be with your input a lot of oversight.

          9  Is that something that comes up in your hearings, or

         10  is that something you have thought about?

         11                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  I guess in

         12  the nature of things, people at our hearings focused

         13  almost entirely on what the State can do.  But I

         14  think you and the Chair make a very good point.  I

         15  mean, the New York/New York program was called New

         16  York/New York because it was a partnership of the

         17  State and the City.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Yes, correct.

         19                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  And I think

         20  both levels of government contributed very valuably

         21  (sic) to that program, and that kind of partnership

         22  is needed again.

         23                 Chair Lopez mentioned the ULURP

         24  authority of the City.  There may well be good

         25  potential there.  The City's Fire and Building
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          2  Inspection role may well have a valuable role to be

          3  played.

          4                 Certainly, this is a problem that

          5  cries out for help, and I think to have creative,

          6  dedicated people at the City level taking a hard

          7  look at what the City's powers, how the City's

          8  powers can be brought to bear, would be enormously

          9  useful.  Because there is bound to be things in the

         10  City's toolbox that we haven't even thought of yet

         11  that could be very useful.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, thank

         13  you.

         14                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Just my last

         16  question.

         17                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I have been

         19  looking at this issue, and I don't hear anybody

         20  mention this, but there is a certain level of

         21  criminality in this.  It is not just bad care given

         22  to people, it is not just people not complying with

         23  regulations, and it is not just an owner who have a

         24  place who is making money of it.  It is certain

         25  criminality in this, and I don't see the State
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          2  moving into that arena.

          3                 How could we, I mean, I think that a

          4  hospital, a doctor who perform operation on a human

          5  being that did not need that operation, period, it

          6  didn't need it, and took away a part of the body of

          7  that human being, that is criminal.  And I don't

          8  understand what are we doing here that we are not

          9  prosecuting those people for criminal involvement in

         10  doing that, and I don't understand what we are doing

         11  here that if we don't have the law in place to turn

         12  that into criminal behavior, that we should turn

         13  that into criminal behavior.  And I want to know

         14  what is your sense on this?  And I don't know if it

         15  is that I am a person who gets outraged about this

         16  brutality in ways that I should not get outraged, or

         17  is it that I come from the Caribbean and we are too

         18  passionate in there, I don't what it is.  But this

         19  really, really makes me feel that the Constitution

         20  of this Country is taken by people and do whatever

         21  they want with it, and we are not defending it.

         22                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  Yes, well,

         23  first of all, the fact that you are someone who gets

         24  outraged at brutality is one of your finer

         25  qualities.  And you are, I think, correct to apply
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          2  that outrage here.

          3                 I know the State's Health Department

          4  is, has begun professional discipline investigations

          5  of the doctors involved. But without prejudging

          6  anyone's guilt, it certainly looks like both the

          7  doctors and the operators of the homes were engaged

          8  in just simple assault on these human beings.  And

          9  when I say simple I mean probably first or second

         10  degree assault on these human beings.  You know,

         11  assault is not just something a mugger does, you can

         12  assault someone with a scalpel, and New York law has

         13  recognized that for many, many years.

         14                 And I think a criminal investigation

         15  of that surgery is certainly appropriate.  I think

         16  criminal investigations, as you announced earlier

         17  this morning, with Bob Morgenthal's indictments, I

         18  think a lot of what is going on in these homes is

         19  undoubtedly criminal.  Whether it is larceny or

         20  assault or what have you, larceny of State funds.

         21                 And in the nursing home scandals a

         22  generation ago, people were prosecuted and went to

         23  jail.

         24                 Another area that I think warrants

         25  criminal investigation is the following:
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          2                 When you look at the extent to which

          3  the State of New York had strong cases against some

          4  of these Adult Home operators, and basically pulled

          5  the plug on its own investigations, it is hard to

          6  imagine how that kind of activity took place in an

          7  appropriate way without some kind of impropriety

          8  being involved. Now whose impropriety it was and

          9  what it entailed and who were the guilty parties and

         10  at what level of government they were, you know, we

         11  can only speculate on it at this point  But one of

         12  the reasons I believe we need special prosecutorial

         13  power in the Office of the Attorney General of this

         14  State, is that I find it hard to believe that this

         15  kind of situation could go on without criminality

         16  both outside of government and inside government.

         17  And that is why I think it is important that

         18  prosecutorial authority, independent of the

         19  Executive Branch, in the Office of the Attorney

         20  General be created.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

         22                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  Thank you.

         23                 MS. BOLANOS:  Our next panel of

         24  witnesses are going to testify with respect to the

         25  resolutions that are before the Committee, Ms. Rina
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          2  Kitazawa, Ms. Edith Prentiss, Ms. Frieda Zames, and

          3  Ms. Parvati Devi.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Let me make a

          5  clarification in the proceedings that we are having.

          6    This panel is now going to address the abuses in

          7  the Adult Home.  But this panel had to address two

          8  issues, that in my opinion, are directly related to

          9  the question of the Adult Homes.  It is two

         10  resolutions pending in this Committee that are

         11  dealing with the approval of two benefits being

         12  equally transferred from the seniors to the mentally

         13  ill who continue to be in a limited income.  Those

         14  two pieces of legislation are the following ones.

         15  Can you read them Maritza?

         16                 MS. BOLANOS:  We have Resolution 59.

         17  Resolution 59 calls upon the New York State

         18  Legislature to adopt Senate Bill S.3378- B, which

         19  would create the disabled pharmaceutical insurance

         20  coverage program, which legislation is modeled on

         21  the Elderly Pharmaceutical Insurance Program, known

         22  as EPIC, to assist the low income disabled persons

         23  in paying for the high cost of prescription drugs

         24  and medications.  This resolution supports the

         25  inclusion of the disabled in the pharmaceutical
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          2  program, because they are also often on fixed

          3  incomes and of low- income.

          4                 The other resolution, Resolution No.

          5  21, supports the inclusion of disabled persons in

          6  the Senior Citizen Rent Increase Exemption, also

          7  known as SCRIE program that protects tenants who are

          8  senior citizens from rent increases, provided that

          9  they meet the annual maximum threshold.  To qualify

         10  an applicant must be 62 years of age or older under

         11  SCRIE currently, and have an annual household income

         12  of not more than $20,000 and be paying one third or

         13  more of his or her income in rent.

         14                 Resolution No. 121 pertains to Rent

         15  Regulated Non Public Housing including rent

         16  controlled and rent stabilized apartments in

         17  Mitchell- Lama rental buildings.

         18                 Resolution No. 221 supports the

         19  current income eligibility levels as provided in the

         20  SCRIE program of $20,000 or less, and for households

         21  whose rents constitutes at least one- third of that

         22  income.  Resolution 221 supports the inclusion of

         23  low income disabled persons being eligible for SCRIE

         24  protection as currently the elderly are.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And the first
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          2  panelist will have, and each one of you will have

          3  three minutes to testify.  You need to wrap up at

          4  the end of the three minutes, and then we will

          5  proceed.  This issue will come back to this

          6  Committee again, because we are not voting on it

          7  today.  I need to open that today in this meeting in

          8  order to bring it back to the second in order to

          9  vote on it.

         10                 Then this is a procedural matter that

         11  I'm following in here, and I hope that you work with

         12  me on this.  Therefore, can you swear in the

         13  testimony, please?

         14                 MS. BOLANOS:  Yes, please raise your

         15  right hand?  Do each of you independently swear that

         16  the testimony you're about to provide to this

         17  Committee is the whole truth and to the best of your

         18  knowledge?  Okay, please state your name and

         19  organization, and on which resolution you will, you

         20  are testifying on behalf of, before you begin your

         21  testimony?  And we will start with Ms. Kitazawa.

         22  Thank you.

         23                 MS. KITAZAWA:  My name is - -

         24                 MS. BOLANOS:  Press the button so it

         25  looks like it is off.  Okay.
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          2                 MS. KITAZAWA:  My name is Rina

          3  Kitazawa, and I'm the Program Coordinator for Public

          4  Policy and Advocacy at Cancer Care. I would like to

          5  thank the City Council for providing us with an

          6  opportunity to talk about the possible expansion of

          7  EPIC to people with disabilities under the age of

          8  65.

          9                 Cancer Care is a non- profit

         10  organization that provides free professional

         11  counseling services, education, information and

         12  referral, and direct financial assistance to more

         13  than 80,000 individuals with cancer and their family

         14  members a year.  At Cancer Care we hear too often

         15  from individuals who struggle to take their

         16  medications because they lack a prescription drug

         17  plan.  Individuals whose quality of life is severely

         18  affected because they cannot access medications that

         19  control their pain, nausea and diarrhea.

         20                 We recently received a call from a

         21  44- year- old African- American man who has

         22  metastatic lung cancer and cannot afford medications

         23  to control the severe pain he experiences in his

         24  chest.  He receives too much in social security

         25  disability to qualify him for Medicaid, yet, he
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          2  makes too little to afford private health insurance

          3  with a drug plan.  He must choose every month

          4  between paying for his basic needs, such as food and

          5  rent, or paying for pain management medications.

          6  Recently, the pain was so excruciating that he had

          7  to go to the ER of Kings County Hospital where he

          8  had to wait six hours before he received a shot of

          9  morphine.

         10                 The EPIC program has allowed for many

         11  of our clients over the age of 65 to obtain

         12  necessary medications.  Because of the EPIC program,

         13  a 72- year- old man with advanced prostate cancer is

         14  now able to take Flomax to help aid urination,

         15  control hot flashes, as well as other medications to

         16  control his condition.  Before he enrolls in the

         17  EPIC program he was unable to fill all of his

         18  medications and often split his pills in half to cut

         19  medication costs.

         20                 EPIC doesn't make it tough for people

         21  to enroll either.  EPIC employs a user- friendly,

         22  two- page application that asks for only one

         23  documentation requirement.  The pathway into EPIC is

         24  a model for other public programs like Medicaid and

         25  Family Health Plus, which have burdensome
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          2  application and enrollment requirements.  Once

          3  completed the EPIC applicants receives a card in the

          4  mail used to obtain prescription drugs.  It does

          5  have cost sharing requirements, but they are

          6  reasonable.

          7                 Cancer Care is in strong support of a

          8  resolution that would include people with

          9  disabilities under the age of 65 in the EPIC

         10  program.  We have seen firsthand how beneficial this

         11  program has to been to our Medicare clients over the

         12  age of 65, and believe that this program should be

         13  expanded to include those under age of 65, as well.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 MS. BOLANOS:  Edith Prentiss, please.

         18                 MS. PRENTISS:  Hello, my name is

         19  Edith Prentiss, as you know.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You need to pull

         21  up the microphone.

         22                 MS. PRENTISS:  Pull it up?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Up, yes, there,

         24  better.

         25                 MS. PRENTISS:  I'm a tall person?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Huh?

          3                 MS. PRENTISS:  I said, I'm tall for

          4  the first time in my life.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

          6                 MS. PRENTISS:  No, Rina was shorter,

          7  that is all I'm saying.  Okay.

          8                 I'm here today to strongly support

          9  the City Council's Resolution in support of State

         10  Legislation to aid persons with disabilities to the

         11  Epic program.  I am also testifying on behalf of

         12  NYNAMS, the New York Network for Action on Medicare

         13  and Social Security, which is a Coalition, including

         14  seniors, the disabled, aging and health advocates,

         15  and union retirees.  And for the New York Statewide

         16  Action Council, because these are major priorities

         17  for these groups.

         18                 According to the Social Security

         19  Administration statistical supplements to the Social

         20  Security Bulletin for 2000. In December 1999,

         21  327,000 disabled worker beneficiaries receiving

         22  Social Security Disability Insurance, SSDI, residing

         23  in New York State.  In the National Status 15

         24  percent also receive Supplemental Security

         25  Insurance, SSI, and therefore, we can assume these
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          2  individuals also have Medicaid.

          3                 Fifty- five thousand disabled adult

          4  children receive Social Security as dependents of

          5  retired, disabled or deceased workers.  Forty- one

          6  percent of the disabled adult children also receive

          7  SSI.  Extrapolating from the federal statistics, we

          8  can assume there are approximately 277,950 disabled

          9  workers, and 34,450 disabled adult children

         10  beneficiaries not receiving SSI, and therefore,

         11  without Medicaid.

         12                 Between these two categories there

         13  are 310,410 New Yorkers without prescription

         14  coverage or very limited coverage.  If we assume

         15  that about 50 percent of these would have incomes

         16  above the current eligible for EPIC, the maximum

         17  number that would possibly be eligible for EPIC

         18  would be approximately 263,840.  If they were

         19  residents of Connecticut or New Jersey, many of them

         20  would have been included in those states

         21  prescription benefit programs.

         22                 I am one of those disabled workers.

         23  For most of my career I worked in Washington Heights

         24  as a geriatric case manager in a DFTA contracted

         25  community- based organization.  As a result my only
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          2  benefit is SSDI.  In the early 1990s I was the first

          3  worker insured under the CIP program of the City to

          4  meet the $50,000 lifetime cap.  As a result of that

          5  I'm extremely careful and would never be without

          6  adequate medical insurance again.  Little did I know

          7  that I would be disabled in less than 10 years.

          8                 In August 2001, I was eligible for

          9  Medicare, and therefore, ineligible to continue the

         10  direct private insurance that I had paid for

         11  privately after running out of COBRA.  With no

         12  prescription plan, drug benefit, okay, I'm sorry.

         13  With no prescription drug benefit traditional

         14  Medicare was not an option, and I enrolled in a

         15  Medicare Plus Choice Plan in New York City, known as

         16  an HMO.  I am lucky to be a resident of New York

         17  City, as Medicare HMOs withdrawn from great, many

         18  markets in other areas of the State.

         19                 Unfortunately, only two of these 15

         20  medications I was on previously generic, and

         21  therefore, widely covered under this insurance.

         22  Moreover, there is a $750 annual cap for brand

         23  medications.  I suffer from pulmonary conditions,

         24  Shogrin's (phonetic) Disease, which is an autoimmune

         25  connective tissue, and an array of related
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          2  conditions, including arthritis, polymyositis,

          3  steroid neuropathy, osteoporosis, cataracts,

          4  diabetes, chronic bacterial and viral infections,

          5  systemic fungal infections and shingles.  I have had

          6  these medical problems and conditions for most of my

          7  life.  They were greatly exacerbated as insurances

          8  changed, like everyone else's, our insurances change

          9  in contract over times.

         10                 When I had coverage that included

         11  prescriptions, my medical conditions were well

         12  managed and under control.  Even though I struggled

         13  to meet my deductible, once I met that, I knew I

         14  would have coverage.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You need to wrap

         16  up.

         17                 MS. PRENTISS:  It is.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Good.

         19                 MS. PRENTISS:  Those days are long

         20  gone.  Mostly, I simply went off medications and the

         21  conditions have gotten much worse.  Medigap is not

         22  an option for me under official Medicaid because

         23  they're too expensive and too limited.  They're

         24  equally limited for prescription coverage with large

         25  deductibles.
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          2                 With EPIC I would have a choice, I

          3  can enroll in official Medicare and be able to have

          4  by former health care providers and hopefully return

          5  to my former medications.  I'm 50 years old now,

          6  without EPIC I will not make it to 65 to be eligible

          7  for EPIC.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Can you submit

          9  your testimony in writing to us?

         10                 MS. PRENTISS:  Yes, yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, the

         12  Sergeant- At- Arms will pick it up from you.

         13  Sergeant, may I have that piece of testimony given

         14  to me, please?

         15                 MS. PRENTISS:  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you, I

         17  appreciate it, thank you.  All right.

         18                 DR. ZAMES:  I'm Doctor Frieda Zames,

         19  and I'm speaking today for Disabled In Action, and

         20  the Center for Independence of the Disabled in New

         21  York, as well as the Fair Housing Coalition of

         22  People with Disabilities, that include these two

         23  groups that meet at Sydney.

         24                 The Senior Citizen Rent Increase

         25  Exemption must be amended to include non- elderly
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          2  tenants with disabilities.  Many people with

          3  disabilities have low incomes.  In addition, many

          4  have substantial expenses due to their disabilities

          5  including the cost of medical services and

          6  equipment, transportation and other personal

          7  services.  These tax, combined with the deepening

          8  housing crisis in New York State represent a

          9  significant threat to people's ability to remain in

         10  their homes.  Many people with disabilities receive

         11  income from the federal and state, SSI and SSD

         12  programs.

         13                 The current SSI benefit for a person

         14  living alone in New York is about $600 or maybe a

         15  little more.  The incomes of people receiving SSD

         16  vary between $600 and $1,000 per month.  These

         17  benefits clearly do not reflect the high cost of

         18  housing in New York City.

         19                 A person depending on SSI or SSD for

         20  income has virtually no chance of finding an

         21  apartment to move into in New York City.  Most

         22  people receiving SSI or SSD are in eminent danger of

         23  losing their apartment as rents rise.  If they do

         24  so, many will wind up living in nursing homes or in

         25  homeless shelters.  The cost for New York City for

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            110

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  nursing homes and shelters is a lot more than the

          3  cost of the SCRIE.

          4                 The critical shortage of affordable

          5  housing effects all low- income tenants, but the

          6  situation for many people with disabilities is made

          7  even worse by the need to find shelter that is not

          8  just safe and affordable, but also accessible.  In

          9  New York City only about 20 percent of all

         10  apartments are accessible to people using

         11  wheelchairs, and even a lower percent give

         12  apartments with lower rents.  People with other

         13  kinds of disabilities also often have special

         14  housing needs.

         15                 For example, deaf people and those

         16  with hearing impairments may need a special intercom

         17  system for entry into the building.  Blind people

         18  and those with visual impairments need housing that

         19  is close to public transportation and shopping.

         20  People with mental disabilities may need a very

         21  quiet apartment.

         22                 The Senior Citizen Rent Exemption

         23  program is one of the State of New York's most

         24  successful and cost- effective housing affordability

         25  program.  SCRIE enables low- income seniors in rent
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          2  controlled, rent stabilized, and Mitchell- Lama

          3  apartments to remain in their homes despite rising

          4  rents by exempting them from rent increases.  The

          5  program does not impose any cost on landlords

          6  because they receive property tax abatement equal to

          7  the rent not paid by the tenant.

          8                 Extending SCRIE to low- income, non-

          9  elderly tenants with disabilities is a win for

         10  disabled tenants, New York State and New York City.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And we agree with

         12  you.  Next.

         13                 MS. DEVI:  Hi, my name is Parvati

         14  Devi, and I hope you will bear with me, I have been

         15  two days testifying now, and I have made every

         16  effort to bring out other people and they could not

         17  wait any longer to testify.  I'm the sole consumer

         18  testifying on the SCRIE bill.

         19                 So a lot of the problems that I'm

         20  experiencing in fighting for this bill for five

         21  years is in this testimony, and let me just read it.

         22                 Three days of little sleep, anxiety

         23  coursing my veins, I was preparing for my testimony

         24  for the RGB when Anne called asking me to testify

         25  today, and thank you for inviting me. Suddenly I
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          2  must prepare two different housing speeches on the

          3  need for SCRIE to be extended to the disabled on

          4  SSI, SSD.  I am overwhelmed.  I am very well aware

          5  of why I was contacted only two days ago.

          6                 The last time I testified on the

          7  half- fare issue, I was the only consumer

          8  testifying.  Margarita, I would like to draw your

          9  attention to the problems I have experienced over

         10  the past five years dealing with paid advocates that

         11  fill this chamber each month.  These problems are

         12  particularly insidious when it comes to mental

         13  illness.  It doesn't help having it divide between

         14  the physical and the mentally disabled.  Then paid

         15  advocates have done and said things that would

         16  alienate me whenever I lobbied in New York and in

         17  Albany.  So many fail to understand that they lose

         18  their effectiveness when we are left out of the

         19  equation.

         20                 In time I learned from a respected

         21  political minded person that it is wrong to advocate

         22  for something without a person you are advocating

         23  for, I hope this is clear.  This man taught me how

         24  to stand up for myself with advocates, the paid

         25  advocates, I should say, I want to be clear on that.
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          2    So I have persevered with difficulty.

          3                 Five years ago, I learned about the

          4  SCRIE bill and went to Disabled In Action, I was new

          5  and excited, but eventually my need for relief of

          6  rising rents drove me to become politically active.

          7  Five years ago, my health deteriorated due to fear

          8  of homelessness, I had one panic attack after the

          9  other.  The doctors medicated me, I had a severe

         10  allergic reaction.  The cure exacerbated my

         11  depression.  There is nothing else that panics me,

         12  except fear of losing my home of over 30 years.  I

         13  have never needed assisted living arrangement and I

         14  fear living anywhere, where my landlord would know

         15  what kind of disability I have, even what is called

         16  Level IV Housing, for which I would qualify if I was

         17  homeless, would allow another kind of unnecessary

         18  disclosure just like the Transit Authority wants

         19  from us.

         20                 Yes, it is very easy to alienate

         21  mental health consumers.  This fact has made my

         22  plight to the SCRIE bill extremely difficult.  Paid

         23  advocates can easily stress us, however, without

         24  paid advocates we get nowhere.  So I have kept at

         25  it.
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          2                 The State Senate refused, so I went

          3  to the Housing Committee in my Community Board,

          4  success, the Committee passed a resolution, the full

          5  Board passes a resolution, and Ronnie Eldridge

          6  introduces the resolution that we are addressing

          7  today in the Council.  I persisted, I was in

          8  everyone's face, and some of you know this.  Except

          9  for tenants and neighbors, paid advocates, by in

         10  large, made little use of me and totally remained

         11  ignorant of my accomplishments.  It's been a long

         12  journey.

         13                 Now I have the added pressure, my

         14  landlord wants us all out.  My building hired a

         15  lawyer, as an SSI recipient I can sign no contract,

         16  this places me in a precarious predicament.  Any

         17  lawyer present in this room who will speak to me

         18  later is greatly appreciated.

         19                 Yesterday I stayed late at the RGB

         20  meeting waiting for Liz Kruger to speak, whom I had

         21  heavily campaigned for and asked her, what is

         22  preventing this bill from passing?  Nothing but the

         23  Mayor, she replied.  This Mayor treats the disabled

         24  like welfare recipients, just as the State Senate

         25  will not give us a cost- of- living adjustment for
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          2  13 years.  This is an insidious, rampant prejudice

          3  by the Republican Party.

          4                 I say you will not control us nor

          5  should we allow breeches of privacy or the

          6  continuation of unnecessary ghettoization (sic) of

          7  many people with disabilities of all kinds.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I just need a

         10  clarification. When you said that this particular

         11  resolution here has not been passed because of Mayor

         12  Bloomberg, that is who you are referring to?

         13                 MS. DEVI:  Yes.  Giuliani last year,

         14  and the Mayor this year is doing the same thing.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And this is known

         16  to you because, can you tell me?

         17                 MS. DEVI:  Liz Kruger said it very

         18  clearly to me. She said that they're ready to pass

         19  up there again as they were last year, and Giuliani

         20  first went to Bruno, and then - -

         21                 DR. ZAMES:  This was public, I

         22  thought this was publicly known?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  No, no, I'm

         24  talking about the resolution in this body, here.

         25  Because - -  Oh, Albany.  Thank you, I just needed
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          2  clarification because I want for the record that

          3  nobody from the administration had lobbied me

          4  against these resolutions, nobody.

          5                 MS. DEVI:  No, I don't think, I think

          6  there is something confused.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  No, no, I just

          8  needed clarification in regard of the resolutions

          9  that we have here today. If you're talking about the

         10  piece of legislation in Albany, that I understand.

         11                 MS. DEVI:  Oh, that is what it is.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But in regard of

         13  the pieces of resolutions in here - -

         14                 MS. DEVI:  Oh, no, no.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: - -  I want to

         16  clarify that no one has lobbied me against these

         17  resolutions.

         18                 MS. DEVI:  No, that is not what I

         19  mean.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I have received a

         21  lot of requests for approving these resolutions here

         22  in this body.  Okay, thank you.

         23                 These two resolutions are coming back

         24  to this meeting, in the next meeting that we have,

         25  in order to vote on it.
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          2                 MS. DEVI:  How did I get off the

          3  mailing list about these meetings?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I will make sure

          5  that from now on, Anne, this is going to be in

          6  place.  Thank you.

          7                 MS. DEVI:  And consumers, I just

          8  wanted to say when I make out those slips here and

          9  I'm asked what organization I'm representing, I

         10  don't think the first time I showed up in a meeting

         11  here that I was called, because I don't belong to an

         12  organization.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You don't need to

         14  belong to no organizations.

         15                 MS. DEVI:  No, I know, but it's

         16  problematic when I see that slip of paper - -

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Well don't fill

         18  out that part, that is just a piece of information.

         19  This is the Chamber of the People, not the Chamber

         20  of Organizations.  And the individuals who come to

         21  testify sometimes they represent organizations and

         22  we need to know that, if they are representing

         23  organizations or their own individual views.

         24                 MS. DEVI:  No, absolutely.  Just as

         25  when I would go to the Guideline Board, you know,
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          2  more questions are, and more time is spent on

          3  advocates and politicians, and you know, I feel

          4  jammed into a little, I'm the only person as a

          5  consumer speaking on this, and I was scared of that.

          6

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

          8                 MS. KITAZAWA:  Excuse me, can we also

          9  say that we stand together.  I forgot to say it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.  Can I have

         11  the testimony that both of you submitted in writing,

         12  the one that you have?

         13                 MS. DEVI:  Due to time measure I

         14  didn't have a chance to type it, but people have

         15  been able to read it.  Is there anywhere I can copy

         16  it and get it to you?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Can you do that,

         18  because it is important for me to have that

         19  testimony?  And the lady in the back, also, if you

         20  can give me the testimony, I will appreciate that.

         21                 MS. DEVI:  Where can I make a copy

         22  for you, I didn't have time?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, thank you.

         24  Thank you very much.  Then we're going back to the

         25  issue of the Adult Homes.  I appreciate that you
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          2  forgive me for breaking the order in here, but I

          3  have some logic to my illogical way of doing things,

          4  and I hope you can trust me on that.

          5                 The next panel?

          6                 MS. BOLANOS:  The next panel is Ms.

          7  Jeanette Zelhof, Ms. Jody Silver.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Give it to the

          9  Sergeant, he is supposed to do that job for us.

         10                 MS. BOLANOS:  Mr. Ray Schwartz, and

         11  Ms. Janet Ray Kalson.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you for

         13  coming here today. You see I have the fortune of

         14  having Jeanette as one of my constituency, and I

         15  have to behave good, because if not she doesn't vote

         16  for me, and then that is bad.  And I need to be a

         17  good person in my best behavior.

         18                 MS. ZELHOF:  That is how constituents

         19  keep their politicians in line.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

         21                 MS. BOLANOS:  Please raise your hand?

         22    Do you swear that the testimony that you're about

         23  to provide before this Committee is the whole truth

         24  and to the best of your knowledge?

         25                 ALL:  Yes, I do.
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          2                 MS. BOLANOS:  Okay, please state your

          3  name and organization, if you're with an

          4  organization, before you begin your testimony?

          5  Thank you.

          6                 MS. ZELHOF:  Okay, my name is

          7  Jeanette Zelhof, and I am the Managing Attorney of

          8  MFY Legal Services, Mental Health Law Project.  The

          9  project was funded in 1983 by the New York City

         10  Department of Mental Health, Mental Retardation and

         11  Alcoholism Services to address the civil legal needs

         12  of the deinstitutionalized mentally ill living in

         13  Adult Homes, community residences, supported

         14  housing, single room occupancy hotels and private

         15  apartments.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Can you wait just

         17  a second?

         18                 MS. ZELHOF:  Yes, I can.  I have more

         19  copies, if you would like.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  May I have that,

         21  please?  Where? No, it's not this.  Oh, thank you, I

         22  got it now.  Okay.

         23                 MS. ZELHOF:  Okay.  The City

         24  Department of Mental Health recognized that without

         25  safe, secure and affordable housing and a steady
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          2  stream of income, mental health consumers could

          3  become homeless, hospitalized or forced into a

          4  shelter.

          5                 Since that time, MFY has regularly

          6  advocated on behalf of Adult Home residence.  We do

          7  outreach to and training of Adult Home residence in

          8  the five boroughs of New York City.  We distribute

          9  MFY's Residents Rights Handbook, educate residents

         10  about their rights, listen to the concerns of

         11  residents and the issues that are important to them.

         12    MFY works closely with the Coalition for the

         13  Institutionalized Aged and Disabled, which organizes

         14  and empowers Resident Councils to advocate on behalf

         15  of themselves. This MFY and CIAD partnership is a

         16  successful mechanism for enforcing residents'

         17  rights.  Those issues that residents cannot resolve

         18  through Residents' Councils are referred to MFY for

         19  litigation.

         20                 MFY's advocacy for adult home

         21  residents includes both individual and group

         22  matters.  We represent individuals with issues such

         23  as operator misappropriation of person needs

         24  allowances and medication management issues.  We

         25  also represent large groups of residents in
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          2  affirmative litigation challenging poor living

          3  conditions and abusive practices in the homes.

          4  Currently, MFY is co- counseling a case on behalf of

          5  the disabled residents of the former Leben Home who

          6  were subjected to unnecessary prostate surgery at

          7  the hands of the operator and unscrupulous medical

          8  professionals.  We are also representing over 100

          9  Seaport Manor residents in their challenge to

         10  conditions at the home and the ill advised decision

         11  of the New York State Department of Health to permit

         12  the closure of the home.

         13                 My comments therefore are based on

         14  many years of advocacy for Adult Home residents and

         15  an intimate knowledge of Adult Homes in New York

         16  City where my staff and I have spent countless hours

         17  visiting, training and serving this vulnerable group

         18  of people.

         19                 The key to understanding why the

         20  conditions in Adult Homes are in such a dreadful

         21  state, is to recognize the failure of the State to

         22  enforce the current statutes and regulations

         23  governing the operation of Adult Homes.  It is also

         24  the key to understanding what must happen

         25  immediately to begin to remedy the living situation

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            123

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  of thousands of Adult Home residents, until other

          3  housing options are made available to them.

          4                 The question that I get from

          5  politicians, from private people who have nothing to

          6  do with Adult Homes, people have heard what is going

          7  on in the newspapers and have called me as how could

          8  it have deteriorated to this state?  I think a lot

          9  of testimony has been given, and it is our position

         10  that it is the State's lack of political will to

         11  enforce the laws and regulations as they exist.

         12                 We applaud recent proposals by the

         13  State to enhance fines and extract more

         14  accountability from Adult Home operators. But the

         15  reason for poor conditions at the homes has not been

         16  the lack of laws or regulations.  The problem has

         17  been the State's refusal to enforce the law, and the

         18  State's refusal to hold Adult Home operators

         19  accountable for violations of the law.  This refusal

         20  has made, has resulted in a history of enforcement

         21  precedings that makes a mockery of the process.  It

         22  has sent a signal to Adult Home operators that they

         23  can consistently violate the law with impunity.

         24                 In my written testimony I set forth

         25  examples of the State's failure to enforce the law,
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          2  some of which were alluded to by the many people who

          3  gave testimony earlier, and I don't think I will go

          4  into the details today, because it is getting late

          5  and I know a lot of people want to give their

          6  testimony.  So I would just refer you to what I have

          7  in my testimony about Brooklyn Manor Home for

          8  Adults, and what went on in that enforcement

          9  preceding, and point out to you that that home

         10  continues to exist under the very operator that was

         11  found unfit to run the home.  And 200 residents

         12  continue to live in that home.

         13                 And once again, I point out that the

         14  problem with that home is not the results of weak

         15  laws or regulations, it is a result of lack of

         16  political will.

         17                 I also set forth some of the details

         18  of what went on at the Leben Home for Adults just to

         19  clarify the New York State Department of Health, the

         20  Bureau of Professional Misconduct has already found

         21  that the surgeries were unnecessary.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Unnecessary?

         23                 MS. ZELHOF:  They were unnecessary,

         24  and that the residents never gave informed consent.

         25  Knowing that, the Department of Health did nothing.
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          2  We now have a lawsuit in federal court in which we

          3  are suing the operator and the doctors and the

          4  hospital and the caseworker involved for a

          5  discrimination, conspiracy and various other claims.

          6    Nobody else has stepped up to vindicate the rights

          7  of the residents.  But also to clarify or answer

          8  your question earlier, it is our understanding that

          9  the Federal US Attorney is investigating what went

         10  on at that home and what is going on in other homes,

         11  particularly with respect to Medicare and Medicaid

         12  abuse.

         13                 I am going to give the rest of my

         14  time to my colleague, Janet Kalson, because I would

         15  like you to hear what is going on at Seaport Manor,

         16  again, that was alluded to earlier, but it is

         17  actually something that we have some very concrete

         18  requests of you to help us in, to help us and the

         19  residents in that particular matter.  So I will give

         20  you Janet Kalson.

         21                 MS. KALSON:  Good afternoon.  My name

         22  is Janet Kalson, and I'm a staff attorney in the

         23  Adult Home Advocacy Project of MFY Legal Services'

         24  Mental Health Law Project.

         25                 Today I'm going to talk about Seaport
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          2  Manor, which is a 346- bed Adult Home located in

          3  Canarsie, New York.  It was a focus of the series,

          4  New York Times series on Adult Homes, which was

          5  written by Clifford Levy.  Seaport Manor is one of

          6  the largest homes in the City of New York, given its

          7  long history of egregious violations of the laws and

          8  regulations, serious allegations of negligent mental

          9  health care for its disabled residents, and large

         10  number of deaths at the facility, Seaport residents

         11  were relieved to learn that enforcement precedings

         12  were instituted in October of 2001 against the

         13  operators of the home.

         14                 A review of the charges reveals that

         15  had the State proved its case, the home could have

         16  been liable for a half of a million dollars in

         17  fines.  However, before the case was even concluded

         18  the State entered into a stipulation with the

         19  operators in which the home was permitted to

         20  surrender its license and move over 300 residents

         21  out of the home in consideration of a mere $20,000

         22  in fines.  Under the stipulation the operators could

         23  then reopen the facility for whatever uses they

         24  chose.

         25                 We have heard that they have been
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          2  making plans to open the facility as a homeless

          3  shelter, no doubt funded by public money from which

          4  the operator could profit greatly.  It is

          5  interesting to note that if the $20,000 in fines is

          6  divided by the 79 deaths at the facility reported by

          7  the New York Times between 1995 and 2001, the fines

          8  would work out to a mere $253 per death.

          9                 The operators and the State announced

         10  the closing of Seaport Manor to residents on March

         11  19th, 2002.  For two months thereafter, MFY engaged

         12  in negotiations with the State requesting that it

         13  immediately appoint a receiver to operate the

         14  facility, and then find a responsible operator to

         15  run the facility permanently to preserve these 346

         16  beds.  During this time the operators continue to

         17  violate the law and jeopardize the residents' health

         18  and safety and welfare by engaging in the following

         19  activities:

         20                 They threatened residents that if

         21  they did not leave quickly they would be transferred

         22  to the worst placements.

         23                 They individually called clients into

         24  the office and pressured them to fire MFY as their

         25  attorneys.
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          2                 They failed to give residents mail

          3  from MFY.

          4                 And they maintained a medication room

          5  placing residents at risk of eminent harm, there was

          6  lack of accountability for controlled substances,

          7  poor medication distribution and documentation

          8  practices, medication frequency and dosage

          9  discrepancy, and inappropriate storage and disposal

         10  of medication.

         11                 There was failure to supervise

         12  residents endangering the residents' health and

         13  safety.

         14                 In addition, residents have been

         15  transferred to other Adult Home facilities, which

         16  are grossly deficient with serious violations

         17  jeopardizing the health, safety and welfare of

         18  residents.

         19                 At least 11 residents were

         20  transferred to Brooklyn Manor, which my colleague,

         21  Jeanette Zelhof just spoke about.  This Adult Home

         22  has hazards conditions documented by the Department

         23  of Health, including endangerously inadequate

         24  staffing, unkept and unwashed residents, dangerous

         25  conditions in the medication room, and a generally
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          2  filthy facility.

          3                 At least six residents were

          4  transferred to the Garden of Eden, and four

          5  residents transferred to Anna Erica Adult Homes,

          6  which are also found to be plagued with violations

          7  in recent Department of Health inspections.

          8                 In the face of the State's failure to

          9  seek a receiver and it rescinds its decision to

         10  close Seaport Manor, MFY commenced a lawsuit in

         11  State Supreme Court in May of this year.  In

         12  response to MFY's lawsuit, the State finally decided

         13  to seek the appointment of a temporary receiver.  A

         14  receiver was appointed to run the home on June 10th,

         15  2002.  Unfortunately, the receiver's mandate is to

         16  continue with the closure process.

         17                 Currently, MFY is engaged in

         18  negotiations with the State Department of Health

         19  regarding the future of Seaport Manor. In June, MFY

         20  and the Department signed an agreement protecting

         21  residents' rights, which included the following:

         22                 Removal of the operators and their

         23  relatives from the facility.

         24                 Cessation of statements by staff and

         25  mental health providers that the facility would
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          2  close immediately.

          3                 And clarification that the facility

          4  would stay open until such time as all residents had

          5  been adequately and appropriately placed.

          6                 No transfers out of New York City

          7  unless the residents specifically want to leave the

          8  City.  I will note, parenthetically, that at seven

          9  o'clock in the morning, on a Monday, 11 residents

         10  were taken on a bus up to Binghampton, New York, but

         11  we exerted pressure and they were returned to the

         12  facility.

         13                 And no transfers of the approximately

         14  84 residents MFY represents remaining at Seaport to

         15  other facilities without prior notice to MFY, so

         16  that MFY can meet with the residents to ensure that

         17  any transfer is adequate and appropriate.

         18                 MFY and the Department of Health are

         19  currently engaged in negotiations on the issue of

         20  keeping Seaport Manor open as a supportive housing

         21  facility.  This is a complex problem because the

         22  nature of the leasehold of the building, but we are

         23  happy to report that the State is actively seeking a

         24  way to preserve the building for supportive housing.

         25                 In the midst of a housing crisis in
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          2  New York City and an even worse housing crisis for

          3  people who need supportive housing, it makes no

          4  sense to close a facility providing 346 supportive

          5  housing beds.  Currently, the vacancy rate for

          6  housing in New York City overall is 3.19 percent as

          7  of 1999.

          8                 In the New York State Office of

          9  Mental Health Supportive Housing System the vacancy

         10  rate was 2.15 percent as of May 3rd, 2002.

         11                 In addition, allowing a repeat

         12  offender, like Seaport, to evade regulatory

         13  oversight in this matter makes a mockery of the

         14  enforcement process.  It sends a message that Adult

         15  Home operators can continually violate the law with

         16  little accountability and then walk away with

         17  impunity when called to task.  It gives residents

         18  and their advocates the Hobson's choice of either

         19  acquiescing to the dangerous conditions in the home

         20  that endanger their lives, health or safety, or

         21  complaining about conditions with the end result

         22  being the shuttering of the homes' doors and

         23  transferred to another Adult Home, which is probably

         24  plagued with the same problems that forced the

         25  residents to complain in the first place.
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          2                 The Chairs of four New York State

          3  Assembly Committees, including Mr. Gottfried, who is

          4  here today, agree with Seaport Manor residents that

          5  the facility should not be closed.

          6                 What can City Council do to help the

          7  residents at Seaport Manor?  Two important ways that

          8  City Council can help are:

          9                 1.  Write a letter to the Department

         10  of Health urging the agency to find a way to keep

         11  Seaport Manor open so that New York City does not

         12  lose supportive housing beds.

         13                 2.  Ensure that no permits for a

         14  homeless shelter or any other type of government-

         15  funded facility are granted by any City agency for

         16  the Seaport property, and that no government funds

         17  are spent at this location.  It would be a travesty

         18  to open the City coffers to the Seaport operators

         19  who pocketed City, State and Federal funds for

         20  decades while running an abysmal facility

         21  endangering the lives of vulnerable people.

         22                 We anticipate that the Seaport

         23  operators will engage in complex, sham transactions

         24  purportedly transferring the property to third

         25  parties and apply for City permits and funds under
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          2  other names.  If the Seaport operators are

          3  foreclosed from receiving government funds to open

          4  other types of facilities at Seaport, they may then

          5  accede to the demands of Seaport residents and the

          6  State that they lease or sell the facility to a

          7  responsible Adult Home operator or other entities

          8  providing supportive housing.

          9                 Let me also state that nobody is

         10  going to build luxury housing at Seaport Manor,

         11  okay.  It's going to have to some sort of government

         12  funding, okay.  It's in an obscure area in Canarsie,

         13  there is a field there, there is no luxury housing

         14  going up there, gentrification has not arrived.

         15                 In summary, without our lawsuit and

         16  the New York Times series on Adult Homes documenting

         17  the atrocious conditions at Seaport and other

         18  facilities, it is doubtful that the State would have

         19  sort of a receiver at Seaport, or would be exploring

         20  ways of keeping Seaport open as a supportive housing

         21  facility.  Litigation and advocacy on behalf of

         22  Adult Home residents is an essential means of

         23  prodding the State to take necessary steps to

         24  enforce the Social Services Laws protecting Adult

         25  Home residents.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I don't know if

          3  this will help you, but before you asked for the

          4  things that you asked, you can ask the questions to

          5  the two staff members, I instructed them to get that

          6  done before you even asked me.  Because it occurred

          7  to me that that is the way that we need to proceed.

          8                 Then yes, a letter is going to go out

          9  immediately to the Commissioner of Health and the

         10  Mental Health at the State level.  Yes, another

         11  letter is going to go out to the Mayor of the City

         12  of New York warning him about what I see here, and

         13  to the Commissioner of the Department of Homeless

         14  Shelter Services.

         15                 But, I need to know from where this

         16  rumor came?

         17                 MS. KALSON:  We actually heard from

         18  other operators, some of whom are related to the

         19  current operators, because it is really a somewhat

         20  incestuous (sic) group, that this was their plans.

         21  But I recently heard a new plan from one of the

         22  residents and who had heard from somebody else in

         23  the neighborhood in Canarsie, that somehow they were

         24  going to get funding for a Police Training facility.

         25
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          2                 It's clear that the plan is to get

          3  government funds, you know, to change their name, so

          4  it's like in somebody else's name and get government

          5  funds and continue to make a profit off the misery

          6  of people here.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But you don't

          8  have no proof that it is an intention to put a

          9  shelter system in there at this point, these are

         10  just rumors?

         11                 MS. KALSON:  Well they have said it,

         12  they have said it to people.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  That they intend

         14  to do that?

         15                 MS. KALSON:  Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, thank you.

         17  The next person, please, Jody.

         18                 MS. SILVER:  Does this work?

         19                 MS. ZELHOF:  No, you have to turn it

         20  on more or something.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You know we are

         22  crewcut here. This is a very friendly, gay Council,

         23  instead of have the light on, we have it off to

         24  speak.

         25                 MS. SILVER:  Okay, this works.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You know the

          3  other way around.

          4                 MS. SILVER:  Okay, I'm getting

          5  confused, all right. My name is Jody Silver.  I'm

          6  Director of Advocacy and Public Policy for Community

          7  Access, and member of the New York State Coalition

          8  for Adult Home Reform.  And I want to thank you for

          9  letting me testify today.

         10                 In the early eighties I worked in

         11  Adult Homes in New Jersey, in Asbury Park area, and

         12  I spent a lot of time hanging around those Adult

         13  Homes.  And the horrific conditions that I witnessed

         14  there were very similar to what I have seen in New

         15  York City.  And the good thing is that many of those

         16  homes had been cited for violations and have hence

         17  closed.  Unfortunately, I don't where a lot of those

         18  people are today.

         19                 The other thing is, last night I was,

         20  I saw some clippings of the Willowbrook, the whole

         21  thing when it all happened, and it very much

         22  reminded me of exactly what you said, what we see

         23  here today.

         24                 In meeting the needs of Adult Home

         25  residents with mental illness, which is a policy
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          2  paper which I gave to the Committee up there, this

          3  policy paper was put together by the New York State

          4  Coalition for Adult Home Reform.  It is not part of

          5  the handouts that I gave today, but I have given it

          6  to you in the past. And in that paper there were

          7  several, I'm going to focus just on some of the

          8  immediate recommendations, the short- term immediate

          9  needs.  Which include the need for more advocacy,

         10  both legal, non legal and peer services.  The

         11  presence of attorneys and other advocates not

         12  employed by the home is crucial to help residents

         13  exert their rights, resolve quality of life issues

         14  and access services available in the community.

         15                 The recommendations include, again,

         16  three different things, and attached I have

         17  proposals on each of those recommendations:

         18                 1.  Is to fund the expansion of non-

         19  legal advocacy and Resident Council developments by

         20  groups like the Coalition of Institutionalized Aged

         21  and Disabled.

         22                 2.  Fund the expansion of legal

         23  advocacy services, like groups such as MFY Legal

         24  Services.

         25                 3.  Develop a peer bridger a program
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          2  to assist Adult Home residents in utilizing

          3  community- based services, including alternative

          4  residential programs.

          5                 I have had the pleasure, personally,

          6  of working with both MFY Legal Services and CIAD for

          7  the past several years, and I have been absolutely

          8  impressed and amazed by their outstanding hard work

          9  and dedication to improving conditions for Adult

         10  Home residents.  As Jeanette has explained and

         11  described, I don't have to repeat what MFY has been

         12  doing over the last 20 years to deal with all the

         13  horrific conditions in Adult Homes and protecting

         14  people's rights, but the fact is that you have 1.5

         15  attorneys to deal with the entire New York City

         16  Adult Home resident population.

         17                 Now I have got to turn over.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I'm sorry, I'm

         19  reading something here that is bothering me.

         20                 MS. SILVER:  Okay, so 1.5 legal

         21  attorneys representing over 9,000 residents is what

         22  we have in New York City today.  Also, during the

         23  past two years or so, I have worked closely with

         24  CIAD and watch both George Gitlitz and Geoff

         25  Lieberman do the work that they do, and the fact,
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          2  again, that you have one paid non- legal advocate

          3  who goes into the homes firsthand and works very

          4  closely with residents.  And when I was watching

          5  residents go up to George and talk to him and tell

          6  him their problems, and he was like, they knew that

          7  he was totally their for them.  But again, one

          8  person for 9,000 people.

          9                 The other thing is, and I go on more

         10  about that, but I'm trying to be brief here.  Last

         11  spring I was approached by an adult home resident

         12  who said he would like to move out, he was in the

         13  Leben Home at the time.  And I said, well, let's see

         14  what we can do to help you out.  And this fellow had

         15  been institutionalized most of his life and really

         16  needed a lot of support.  And his main complaint was

         17  the food was lousy, and that he was getting the

         18  wrong medication.  So what I realized was that

         19  because of so many years of neglect and health

         20  problems and not having any kind of, he was very

         21  institutionalized that he stayed at the home, he

         22  rarely left, and I think that that is, even so some

         23  folks are able to travel independently and go out on

         24  their own, there are many people that are just

         25  really stuck there.  As we know, there like many
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          2  institutions in the community.  And what I thought

          3  would be really helpful is to develop a Peer Bridger

          4  type program like Nyapers (phonetic) has done in

          5  working with people transitioning out of State

          6  hospitals.

          7                 So if you were to hire people, like

          8  the people that were sitting up at the first row

          9  residents, like this gentlemen here who has been in

         10  a residence, who now is a peer advocate.  If you

         11  were to hire people to do Peer Bridging, which would

         12  literally help people like the fellow I was working

         13  with, Ron, people need this kind of one- on- one

         14  help.  And people are a lot of times afraid to leave

         15  the home, they don't have half- fare, they don't

         16  have the proper entitlements.

         17                 We were trying to hook this fellow up

         18  with Venture House, one of the club house programs

         19  in Queens, but again, he really needed that one- on-

         20  one support.  And especially for folks who have

         21  already been there, it means the world of

         22  difference.  And I think that it would be really

         23  incredibly helpful to work with folks to help them

         24  transition out of the Adult Home if they choose to.

         25  There is no such thing as informed choice as far as
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          2  I'm concerned when you live in an Adult Home, you

          3  don't know what other options are out there, other

          4  kinds of housing programs.  And even if you did

          5  know, you would be really scared.  There is a lot of

          6  work that needs to be done.

          7                 So what I urge the New York City

          8  Council to do, is to take the following actions:

          9                 Is to allocate funding for increased

         10  legal capacity to groups such as MFY Legal Services

         11  so that the rights of Adult Home residents are

         12  protected.

         13                 To allocate increased funding to

         14  expand non- legal advocacy and outreach services to

         15  organizations such as CIAD.

         16                 And allocate funding to develop an

         17  Adult Home Peer Bridger Project that will enhance

         18  consumer choice and engage and support individuals

         19  in their rehabilitation and recovery efforts.

         20                 Both the City and State must work on

         21  improving the lives of Adult Home residents by

         22  taking immediate steps now.

         23                 In order for Adult Home residents to

         24  improve the quality of their lives by achieving

         25  their life's goals or to access other housing
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          2  options, advocates must be made available to the

          3  residents.  Adult Home residents feel threatened to

          4  speak up, complain about the quality of services and

          5  request alternative housing.  Therefore, there is a

          6  great need for attorneys and other advocates to be

          7  deployed in New York City's Adult Homes.

          8                 Thanks.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Please.

         10                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  My name is Raymond

         11  Schwartz and I am the Associate Executive Director

         12  of Venture House, an agency providing rehabilitation

         13  and recovery focus services to people with mental

         14  illness in Jamaica, Queens.  I'm also a member of

         15  the New York State Coalition for Adult Home Reform,

         16  and Co- Chair of the Public Policy Committee of the

         17  New York Association of Psychiatric Rehabilitation

         18  Services.  And I thank the Council for providing an

         19  opportunity to respond to the Adult Home crisis.

         20                 I will skip some of my testimony.

         21                 While the State Department of Health

         22  has primary responsibility for the licensing and

         23  regulating and oversight of Adult Homes, the State

         24  Office of Mental Health licenses and regulates

         25  mental health providers.  The New York City
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          2  Department of Public Health can assume a role in

          3  reviewing and monitoring the quality of licensed

          4  mental health providers serving Adult Home

          5  residents.  The New York State Commission on the

          6  quality and care in several reports has indicated

          7  that mental health providers serving Adult Homes

          8  have not provided the services that meet the needs

          9  of residents.  Mental health providers need to act

         10  as advocates for the clients, provide coordination

         11  of services, provide treatment that assist

         12  individuals in their recovery and rehabilitation and

         13  as well as prescribing medication.

         14                 The New York City Department of

         15  Public Health, that is the new department that

         16  starts July 1st, can provide another level of

         17  monitoring the way mental health service providers

         18  are serving adult home residents and act as another

         19  governmental agency to support residents and assist

         20  providers in working for Adult Home residents to

         21  ensure that mental health providers are advocates

         22  for the residents.  Mental health providers must put

         23  the residents interest before the Adult Home

         24  operators interest and City agencies can assist in

         25  this area.
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          2                 Another area with City efforts can

          3  help to ensure that people's needs are met, just to

          4  review the discharge practices of local hospitals,

          5  especially HHC facilities.  And I appreciated the

          6  question you had raised earlier, because it is an

          7  area that does require some review.  In Queens

          8  alone, over 60 people per month are referred to

          9  Adult Homes from local hospitals.  It is essential

         10  that discharge plans be complete, that mental health

         11  and physical health providers are identified and

         12  that the hospitals has determined that the Adult

         13  Home is an appropriate place to discharge people.

         14  The Adult Home, any hospital that discharges

         15  individuals has a responsibility to ensure that the

         16  place they are discharging people to is the right

         17  place and can meet people's needs.  How many

         18  discharged planners have visited the places they are

         19  referring people to?

         20                 People succeed in the community with

         21  good housing, and I think the quality and success of

         22  someone's placement in the community will depend on

         23  where they're living.  And we know that housing is

         24  inadequate and not to be had, the hospitals are

         25  clearly in a difficult place.  There is not enough
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          2  housing, the Adult Homes are a place to discharge

          3  to, they're not good places, where else do you go,

          4  because otherwise people stay in the hospitals

          5  inappropriately, but clearly the Adult Homes are not

          6  the best places.  It's a real difficult choice.

          7                 Adult Homes are a housing option

          8  because housing designed to meet the needs of people

          9  with mental illness who require assistance is not

         10  available.  Adult Homes appear to be a low- cost

         11  housing alternative, but this is an illusion.  The

         12  New York State Commission on quality care in their

         13  December 2001 Report on Ocean House in Far Rockaway,

         14  Queens, estimates that the cost to live in that

         15  adult home, with all the services that were provided

         16  by the various mental health care vendors and health

         17  care vendors is about $40,000 per year per resident.

         18    We know from the CQC Report that many of the

         19  mental health and health services billed to Medicaid

         20  were not quality services or appropriate.  If these

         21  estimates of costs hold as an average cost for all

         22  Adult Homes, and there is good reason to assume

         23  that, then in New York City $200 million per year is

         24  being spent to house and provide services to the

         25  5,000 residents in high priority Adult Homes.  These
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          2  funds can be used differently to provide appropriate

          3  housing and services.              New York City

          4  elected officials should actively plan and advocate

          5  with State and Federal agencies for the development

          6  of housing that is designed to meet the needs of

          7  people with mental illness so Adult Homes do not

          8  need to be used.  Developing housing for people with

          9  special needs requires a partnership with all levels

         10  of government and stakeholders.  The housing that

         11  needs to be developed should provide a variety of

         12  options, including mixed housing  In addition, the

         13  City Council and the City Administration need to

         14  push the Governor to have the State Office of Mental

         15  Health assume a greater role in regulating Adult

         16  Homes and actively seek funding to develop more

         17  housing.

         18                 People with mental illness are not

         19  treated fairly. Stigma and discrimination have too

         20  often pushed people with mental illness into

         21  marginal and dangerous situations.  Adult Homes are

         22  now, much to our disgrace, an accepted part of the

         23  service package for people with mental illness.  It

         24  will take time, energy, and a major effort to

         25  redesign Adult Homes to better service people with
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          2  mental illness and develop new housing.

          3                 The Adult Home crisis reflects the

          4  housing crisis. There are immediate enforcement and

          5  monitoring steps that can improve the lives of Adult

          6  Home residents, and there is a role for the city in

          7  this area.  The longer term steps require active

          8  participation of all stakeholders to develop safe

          9  and appropriate housing.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

         11                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  The issue, the

         12  difficulty in the long- term requirements in

         13  developing and finding funding for the mix of

         14  housing is a real one, and there are many groups

         15  working on that, and I think testimony from other

         16  people here may shed some light on that.  But we

         17  would be more than happy to spend more time going

         18  over some of those areas with you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I have a

         20  technical problem here that I had to resolve.  As I

         21  said before, there is going to be an activity here,

         22  I'm going to recess this hearing.  That means I have

         23  the power to call this hearing again when I decide

         24  to have this hearing back in place.  I don't want to

         25  end this hearing, because I have some plans to
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          2  proceed with some issues that I have been seeing in

          3  here.  I have some people who filled up, request to

          4  speak, and I will like to call them to see if they

          5  are here right now.

          6                 Don't leave, I need to ask some

          7  questions of you, and I don't know if Council

          8  member, yes.

          9                 MS. BOLANOS:  Kimberly Velasquez, she

         10  spoke?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

         12                 MS. BOLANOS:  Okay.  Henry Kennedy,

         13  Ernie Tardiolo, he was with the group?  Okay.  Steve

         14  Coe.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

         16                 MS. BOLANOS:  Lauren Pareti, Antonio

         17  Lasicki.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

         19                 MS. BOLANOS:  Jagnanan Ramnanan.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Over there.

         21                 MS. BOLANOS:  Regina Shanley, Giselle

         22  Stolper.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  There.

         24                 MS. BOLANOS:  Jane Doe.  Henry

         25  Kennedy, not here. Okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, I'm going

          3  to move this hearing to the next door in order to

          4  hear the testimony of the remaining people in here.

          5  I hope that you forgive me for this, but I need to

          6  do that in order to be able to accommodate my

          7  friends, and my friends are very good to me, my

          8  enemies are very bad to me. Then I need to take care

          9  of my friends.  If you don't mind, we're going to go

         10  to the next room, and I need you still here, because

         11  I have some questions for you.  And I thank you for

         12  your cooperation. The panel that was here, just go

         13  back in there.  Thank you.

         14                 (Recess taken).

         15                 You're done, we're ready to go?

         16  Okay, thank you. Let me, I want to address this

         17  panel, I need certain answers, specific answers for

         18  what I'm thinking here.  And one of the things that

         19  I am a little concerned about it, and I cannot

         20  understand is I continue to see this issue and I see

         21  criminality on it.  And I don't understand why

         22  criminal charges has not been brought.

         23                 Do you know why, anyone of you know

         24  why?  Push the button.

         25                 MS. ZELHOF:  I cannot speak to what
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          2  the District Attorney is doing.  I know that the US

          3  Attorney is investigating what went on at the Leben

          4  Home.  They started last year after this came to

          5  public light.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  This is the place

          7  where the prostate - -

          8                 MS. ZELHOF: First the prostate

          9  surgeries were done and the Department of Health did

         10  nothing.  Then the cataract surgeries were done.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And nothing.

         12                 MS. ZELHOF:  And nothing.  It took,

         13  I'm sorry to have to keep taking the credit for

         14  this, but it took our lawsuit to embarrass the

         15  State.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You don't need to

         17  be sorry about that.

         18                 MS. ZELHOF:  To get the operator out

         19  of their and to put a receiver in.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But criminal

         21  charges were not brought immediately?

         22                 MS. ZELHOF:  They were not, and they

         23  continue to not to be brought.  The doctor involved

         24  in the cataract surgeries was recently indicted.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The doctor?
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          2                 MS. ZELHOF:  The doctor involved in

          3  the cataract surgeries was recently indicted.  I

          4  know that the investigation is ongoing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Can you clarify

          6  for me what kind of indictment was that, if you

          7  know?

          8                 MS. ZELHOF:  Yes, it has to do with

          9  Medicaid and Medicare fraud.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  That is it?

         11                 MS. ZELHOF:  Yes.  However, the

         12  investigation continues and the attorneys in the US

         13  Attorney's Office cannot really share with us what

         14  they are doing.  So all I can say is that the

         15  investigation continues, and hopefully it will go

         16  beyond the doctors.  That of course does not - -

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The residents of

         18  the place in which the cataract operations took

         19  place and the prostate took place, those residents,

         20  have they filed charges against the individuals who

         21  did these operations on them?

         22                 MS. ZELHOF:  We are representing

         23  those individuals in a Federal lawsuit against the

         24  doctors, the hospital, the - -

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  That is for
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          2  damages, right?

          3                 MS. ZELHOF: - -  the operator of the

          4  home, and the caseworker at the home, who we argue

          5  facilitated the surgeries. That is under the

          6  Americans with Disabilities Act, the Federal

          7  Rehabilitation Act, Federal conspiracy charges, - -

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

          9                 MS. ZELHOF: - -  and various other

         10  charges against them.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But charges, it

         12  requests for arresting these individuals based on

         13  assault.  Did that have happen?

         14                 MS. ZELHOF:  No, no charges have been

         15  brought against them, no.  No criminal, no State

         16  criminal charges have been brought against anybody.

         17  No Federal criminal charges have been brought

         18  against anybody, except the doctors who performed

         19  the cataract surgeries.  But a Federal investigation

         20  continues against all of the players.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, I

         22  understand that.  Let me clarify where it is that

         23  I'm having the problem here.  If I am a person that

         24  somebody walk on the street and punch me, I would go

         25  to the precinct.  And if I am somebody who is taken
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          2  against my will, without my knowing to a hospital

          3  and somebody cut a piece of me, I would go to the

          4  precinct too.  Why they had not gone to the precinct

          5  to file charges against those people?

          6                 MS. ZELHOF:  I cannot answer that

          7  question, Margarita.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

          9                 MS. ZELHOF:  I cannot answer that

         10  question.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Can that, is a

         12  possibility?

         13                 MS. ZELHOF:  It is a possibility.  I

         14  have to tell you that many of the people that this

         15  happened to don't really recognize it in that way.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  They don't.

         17  Okay.

         18                 MS. ZELHOF:  It's a very sad

         19  situation, many of these people have been in the

         20  mental health system for over 10, 15, and 20 years.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Can I get to know

         22  these people?

         23                 MS. ZELHOF:  You are welcome to join

         24  me when I go out to the Leben Home again, it will

         25  probably be within the next couple of weeks.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Can I go?

          3                 MS. ZELHOF:  You absolutely can come.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, I want to

          5  schedule that. I want to meet them.

          6                 MS. ZELHOF:  You should meet them

          7  because it will answer your questions.  Many of

          8  these people have been shuttled from psychiatric

          9  institutions to Adult Homes.  Once they're in the

         10  adult home, they're sent to this doctor, and they're

         11  sent to that doctor, and they're sent to another

         12  doctor.  And there is a sense of resignation that

         13  whatever people tell them to do, they're supposed to

         14  do.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then what you're

         16  telling me is that they are not aware that they have

         17  been assaulted.

         18                 MS. ZELHOF:  They were not aware that

         19  they did not need the surgery.  They were not aware

         20  that they were assaulted until we went out and told

         21  them about what the State Department of Health's

         22  Bureau of Professional Misconduct had found.  And

         23  even then the sense of resignation on the part of

         24  these residents is, I don't know how to describe

         25  that, it is very sad.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I want to meet

          3  them.

          4                 MS. ZELHOF:  You are welcome to.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

          6                 MS. ZELHOF:  I will contact you the

          7  next time I go there.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.  Then the

          9  other question I have, when I asked who provide the

         10  psychiatric care for some of the people who are

         11  there who are mentally ill, I need to understand who

         12  these people are who are providing the psychiatric

         13  care, because it is my understanding that I have an

         14  ethical obligation to report abuses that are

         15  committed against a person that I am treating or

         16  serving.  If I am a psychiatrist, if I am a social

         17  worker, if I am a nurse, certain ethical obligations

         18  that I have. And how could these people did not know

         19  any of this and they did not report all of this, or

         20  some of it, and if they did, I want to know to whom,

         21  and I want to know why nobody did anything?  But I

         22  need to begin finding out who are they?

         23                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Care in the Adult

         24  Homes is broken up into a number of different pieces

         25  and it is fragmented.  In the case of mental health
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          2  services there are several different types of

          3  providers that operate and provide services to

          4  people in Adult Homes.  There are private

          5  psychiatrists, who are invited into the home by the

          6  home operator.  The private psychiatrist acts as an

          7  independent provider to the Adult Home residents.

          8  The Adult Home operator invites that psychiatrist to

          9  come into the home, often the private psychiatrist

         10  then pays rent for office space to the Adult Home

         11  operator.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  In the Adult

         13  Home's place?

         14                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  That is right.  And

         15  will be then the primary psychiatric provider to a

         16  number of residents.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Do we know who

         18  these psychiatrists are?

         19                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  They're all private

         20  psychiatrists, often not affiliated with any clinic

         21  or hospital.  Then in the same home there may also

         22  be a licensed mental health provider, licensed by

         23  the State Office of Mental Health, and licensed to

         24  provide clinic services in that location.  So some

         25  portion of the residents will see a private
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          2  psychiatrist, some portion of the residents will be

          3  seen by this on- site mental health clinic, licensed

          4  mental health clinic, they will see a psychiatrist

          5  probably once a month. They will then been seen by

          6  the staff of the clinic, usually social workers who

          7  will provide individual or group therapy, and may

          8  provide some case, coordination case management

          9  services, may provide some referrals.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, could you

         11  stop there?

         12                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Sure.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Case management

         14  services?

         15                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Who fund the case

         17  management services?

         18                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Well under the clinic

         19  license, and these are all, the clinic license

         20  allows the agency to bill Medicaid for those

         21  services for those people who have Medicaid, so

         22  essentially the psychiatrist bills Medicaid for

         23  their services to the residents of the Adult Home.

         24  The clinic will bill Medicaid for those services.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:   And the clinics
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          2  are where, outside of the home?

          3                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Usually the clinic has

          4  a licensed location in the community and then they

          5  get a license to provide satellite clinic services

          6  in that Adult Home.  So they're licensed by the

          7  State Office of Mental Health to provide services

          8  on- site in the Adult Home.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Wait a moment,

         10  no.  A psyche clinic in neighborhoods has also need

         11  to be licensed by the Mental Health Department of

         12  the City.

         13                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  No.  The State Office

         14   - -

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Why not?

         16                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Because the State,

         17  licensing authority is granted to the State Office

         18  of Mental Health.  The State Office of Mental Health

         19  then sets up the standards and regulations for

         20  licensing mental health providers.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then they are

         22  mental health clinics of the State?

         23                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  That is right.

         24  They're licensed by the State, and they are given a

         25  license to operate a clinic under the State
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          2  regulations and law, and that entitles them to go

          3  Medicaid where appropriate as long as they meet

          4  those standards that the State has laid out.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Is there a place

          6  where I can find out who they are?

          7                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Oh, absolutely, the

          8  State Office of Mental Health has the listing of all

          9  licensed mental health providers in all locations.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  No, no, I'm not

         11  looking for that.

         12                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I'm looking for

         14  the ones who are connected directly to the homes?

         15                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  The State would have

         16  that as well. The State, in fact, has been recently,

         17  because of the Times articles, visiting Adult Homes

         18  where they have licensed mental health providers

         19  operating, and has begun a review of those programs.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And the

         21  medication that is delivered to the residents of the

         22  particular facilities by not authorized personnel

         23  under the law - -

         24                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  The way it operates is

         25   - -
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: - -  where - -

          3                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Let me explain to you

          4  because I think I can help you here.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Do you know what

          6  blow away, how could a pharmacy deliver medication

          7  to a home and not to the person who is buying the

          8  medication for themselves?

          9                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Let me explain to you

         10  what happens, it will not answer the rational

         11  question.  And I think you have to understand that

         12  rational behavior and good care are not part of our

         13  discussion right now.  It should be, but what has

         14  happened in the Adult Homes is not a rational, well

         15  thought out, well designed system to help people get

         16  care.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But it is a

         18  violation of the law, and that is what I'm after

         19  here.

         20                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, - -

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Look, I'm going

         22  to tell you why my question, sorry, in place.  I

         23  don't have no faith in Governor Pataki resolving

         24  this problem.  I don't have no faith on the

         25  Secretary of Health and Mental Health at the State
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          2  level.  I think it is a conspiracy in place in

          3  regard to this issue.  That is what I think.  And I

          4  think that is based on dollars and donations of

          5  money to a campaign when somebody is running for

          6  office.

          7                 Therefore, I'm looking at criminality

          8  right now, and I'm looking at that because I am

          9  willing to go to those particular homes, meet the

         10  people who were violated and escort them myself to

         11  the precinct to file charges against the people who

         12  did this to them.  Because the only way that this is

         13  going to resolved, in my opinion, is through

         14  criminal charges been brought to people and create a

         15  scandal of the Mayor proportion that will trigger an

         16  investigation on the criminality involved in here

         17  that I believe is a conspiracy.

         18                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  The way the medication

         19  has been distributed in Adult Homes is wrong, there

         20  is no question about it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  It is not just

         22  wrong, I think it is criminal.

         23                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  I cannot speak to

         24  that, but the State- -

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But you have
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          2  substances that are controlled substances, you

          3  cannot distribute controlled substances under the

          4  laws of the State and the City of New York by people

          5  who are not authorized to do so.  And that is

          6  criminal, because those particular medications are

          7  used to traffic and to be sold in the black market.

          8                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  However, the State

          9  regulations for the Adult Homes has, in fact,

         10  sanctioned that process.  And in fact the State

         11  regulations for Adult Homes who have permitted the

         12  operators to distribute the medication as described.

         13    That is why- -

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And he does not

         15  want to modify the Rockefeller Drug Law, isn't it, I

         16  guess why now, because soon they're going to go to

         17  jail.  And I guess that he is looking to how he is

         18  going to deal with this.

         19                 MS. KALSON:  The current regulations

         20  permit the operators to dispense medications in the

         21  medication room by a, you know, a non- nurse.  The

         22  proposed laws that are up in Albany now would

         23  actually require that there be a nurse in the

         24  medication room, which would probably be a vast

         25  improvement.
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          2                 I want to also bring to your

          3  attention another issue concerning the mental health

          4  providers that operate in the homes. They are not

          5  independent of the operators.  There is something

          6  that goes on there that is very incestuous (sic),

          7  and so that they do not provide, I'm over

          8  generalizing perhaps, but they do not provide, their

          9  first duty appears not necessarily to be to their

         10  patient, but appears to be to the operator of the

         11  home.  And for example, at Seaport Manor - -

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The one who

         13  operates the psychiatric care?

         14                 MS. KALSON:  Yes.

         15                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes.

         16                 MS. KALSON:  For example, at Seaport

         17  Manor where the on- site mental health provider is

         18  Kingsborough, which is a State Institution, it

         19  appears to us that the Kingsborough staff have

         20  basically been following the directions and the

         21  orders of the operators of the facility.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then this is

         23  conspiracy, right there you have it.

         24                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  The relationships

         25  between the operator and the mental health

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            164

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  providers, whether it's a private psychiatrist or

          3  the licensed mental health provider, is clearly an

          4  area that requires oversight, monitoring and

          5  investigation.

          6                 In Leben Home where this surgery took

          7  place, there is a licensed mental health provider

          8  that provide services to the residents, to a large

          9  number of the residents, in fact, their offices are

         10  virtually next door to Leben.  And how the staff in

         11  this mental health agency, licensed mental health

         12  agency, were completely unaware of what was taking

         13  place, is a question in my mind, and - -

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Well in the

         15  treatment plan they have to be reflected, just by

         16  the treatment plan alone that they are obligated to

         17  submit to the State, they have to reflect in there

         18  that a medical procedure was going to take place.

         19                 MS. KALSON:  In medical records and

         20  the case management notes at many of these

         21  facilities, and I can speak particularly at Seaport,

         22  are a joke.  There is Department of Health report

         23  after report of missing notes, inadequate notes,

         24  notes that lacked any details about hospitalizations

         25  of the particular issues of the residents.  And at
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          2  one point the New York Times reported that the notes

          3  were finally just fabricated at Seaport in order to

          4  coverup the fact that these notes had never been

          5  prepared.

          6                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  There are two sets of

          7  records that you will find in Adult Homes.  One is

          8  that provided to, under the obligation of the DOH

          9  license regulations.  For the mental health provider

         10  they would have records that meet the requirements

         11  of the State Office of Mental Health.

         12                 That the on- site provider staff may

         13  not be aware of some of the breeches of individual

         14  rights, some of the surgeries that took place, is

         15  hard for me personally to understand.  And the fact

         16  that even if up to the Times articles came out,

         17  people were afraid to report.  With the New York

         18  Times articles out, that mental health providers had

         19  not been willing to step up and talk more about

         20  this, I think is a real dishonor to the whole mental

         21  health profession.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Well they're

         23  guilty, they're guilty as the other ones are, as far

         24  as I know.  I mean, like my mother said, (in

         25  Spanish), in every home you can find a rat, and that
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          2  is a bad translation of this.  But I cannot believe

          3  that in the mental health services we will not have

          4  people like that, it is clear to me that we do.  I

          5  mean, after all, don't forget that we have

          6  lobotomies being implemented in this nation of ours.

          7                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  If you read the CQC

          8  Report on Ocean House, I think provides a little bit

          9  of an insight to that problem. And they cited some

         10  poor quality, poor practice on the part of the

         11  several mental health providers.  And I cannot

         12  believe that that is the only place that it takes

         13  place.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, I thank

         15  you.  And I'm sorry about my, how can I categorize

         16  this?

         17                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Your anger, it's okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  No, no, no, I'm

         19  not angry or outraged, that is aside.  I feel that I

         20  am in like in the land of- -

         21                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  You're in wonderland,

         22  Alice in Wonderland.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, something

         24  like that.

         25                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes, you are.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Something like

          3  that.  I mean I only know that you are telling me

          4  the truth because I know you, some of you, and I had

          5  to conclude that you are not psychotic.

          6                 MS. KALSON:  Sometimes.

          7                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, wait a minute,

          8  let's not go too far.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Just because I

         10  know you.

         11                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  I would not go that

         12  grandiose.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And it is

         14  difficult to continue to believe that you're not at

         15  this moment.  No, I'm not, psychosis for me is the

         16  same like being with diabetes, you know, it's the

         17  same story.  The only thing that I get is the

         18  functions of the brain and the way that you perceive

         19  things sometime.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 MS. BOLANOS:  All right, our next

         22  panel is Giselle Stopler, Ms. Lauren Pareti, Mr.

         23  Steven Coe.  We will do three and three.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  He gave me his

         25  testimony because he needed to leave, it is here.
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          2                 MS. BOLANOS:  He is not here, okay.

          3  Okay, so Antonio Lasicki, okay, you can come up now.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  They need to be

          5  sworn in.

          6                 MS. BOLANOS:  Yes, oh, yes.  Please

          7  raise your right hand?  Do you swear, each of you

          8  independently, that the testimony you're about to

          9  provide before this Committee is the whole truth and

         10  to the best of your knowledge?

         11                 ALL:  Yes.

         12                 MS. BOLANOS:  Please state your name

         13  and the organization that you represent, for the

         14  record, before you begin your testimony, and we will

         15  begin with Ms. Giselle Stopler.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  If the light is

         17  off, you're on, the light have to be off.

         18                 MS. STOPLER:  Got it, thank you.  And

         19  thank you for taking all of this time and - -

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  No, no, it's my

         21  pleasure.

         22                 MS. STOPLER:  Honestly, I don't know

         23  how you can do it, sitting here listening to this,

         24  these stories all afternoon. It must take its toll,

         25  because I know it takes its toll on me listening to
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          2  it.

          3                 My name is Giselle Stopler.  I'm the

          4  Executive Director of the Mental Health Association

          5  of New York City, an organization which is dedicated

          6  to advocacy, community education and direct services

          7  to meet the needs of people with mental illnesses,

          8  as well as to the promotion of mental health.  We

          9  very much appreciate your calling this hearing, and

         10  are grateful for the opportunity to speak today.

         11                 The recent New York Times coverage of

         12  the dreadful conditions in some Adult Homes in New

         13  York State did not surprise me, and I'm embarrassed,

         14  quite frankly, to say that.  For those of us who

         15  have been active in the mental health field over the

         16  past 30 years or so, it's an old story that makes

         17  new headlines every few years.

         18                 Previous revelations during the Carey

         19  Administration, and I just want to note that this

         20  goes back many administrations, during the Carey

         21  Administration, during the Cuomo Administration, and

         22  earlier in the Pataki Administration and now, have

         23  reduced a number of efforts to improve conditions in

         24  Adult Homes.  Various improvements and enforcement

         25  have been announced, if not adequately implemented.
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          2  A funding methodology to reward better homes was

          3  created, although, also not fully implemented. And

          4  various programs offering mental health services in

          5  very fragmented and kind of smattering way have been

          6  created for Adult Home residents.  But the simple

          7  fact of the matter is that none of these approaches

          8  has worked, because they all reflect vain hopes to

          9  make a fundamentally flawed policy workable.

         10                 Many years ago there was a man named

         11  John Talbot, in the mental health field, was a very

         12  respected doctor, he called it a policy of

         13  transinstitutionalization in contrast to the profess

         14  policy of deinstitutionalization.  Community mental

         15  health is about integrating people with mental

         16  illnesses into the community.

         17  Transinstitutionalization is about meeting arbitrary

         18  goals in one institutional system, by transferring

         19  people to another institutional system.

         20                 In the beginning, it was a policy of

         21  desperation, a policy adopted because there was no

         22  decent housing in the community for people with

         23  mental illnesses who needed some degree of

         24  supervision or support.  Once New York developed a

         25  policy of providing housing for people with mental
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          2  illnesses in the community, the use of Adult Homes

          3  became a policy of convenience, making it possible

          4  to reduce the perception of the need for more

          5  community- based housing.  When I say that housing

          6  people with serious mental illnesses in Adult Homes

          7  is the wrong policy, I mean that by putting people

          8  in large, congregate living facilities, even if they

          9  are well supervised as some of the Adult Homes are,

         10  violates the most fundamental insights and goals of

         11  the community mental health movement.

         12                 The goal of community mental health

         13  is to help people lead decent lives as full fledged

         14  members of the general community.  Well supervised

         15  Adult Homes do not and cannot fulfill that goal.

         16  And therefore, reforming Adult Homes by making sure

         17  that they are safer and that they provide more

         18  services, in our opinion, is not enough.  We need to

         19  be clear that what we need is not the kind of

         20  patching of an already flawed system that the State

         21  Administration has proposed in response to the

         22  Times' Expose.  We need a fundamental change in

         23  policy.  We need to move towards responsible

         24  deinstitutionalization of Adult Homes.  The goal

         25  should be for all people with serious mental
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          2  illnesses who need supervised or supported housing

          3  in the community to get housing in small, home like

          4  or an independent living settings with supports.

          5  These settings should have a rehabilitative

          6  structure designed to promote recovery, independence

          7  and full integration into the community.

          8                 Obviously, it will take years to

          9  achieve these goals, but some actions can be taken

         10  immediately, which we think will move in the right

         11  direction.  We recommend that:

         12                 First, that New York State establish

         13  a policy that rejects the use of Adult Homes for

         14  people with serious mental illnesses.

         15                 Second, New York State should develop

         16  a long- term plan to create appropriate housing for

         17  all people in Adult Homes now, and for those people

         18  who will be placed in them until adequate,

         19  appropriate housing is available.

         20                 Some small Adult Homes can become

         21  good community residences.  It also may be possible

         22  for some larger Adult Homes to be renovated into

         23  apartment buildings providing independent living

         24  units.  But some Adult Homes will not be usable in

         25  the context of a policy to provide real community-
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          2  based housing.

          3                 Therefore, the long- term plan will

          4  need to include new housing as well as conversions

          5  of existing Adult Homes.

          6                 Third, while moving towards the

          7  creation of appropriate housing for people who are

          8  now in Adult Homes, the State should institute model

          9  programs emphasizing rehabilitation and recovery in

         10  the Adult Homes that remain open.

         11                 Fourth, New York State should

         12  establish adequate systems of oversight and

         13  enforcement with particular emphasis on using the

         14  authority and the methods it created in response to

         15  previous scandals.

         16                 Fifth, the New York State Office of

         17  Mental Health, not the Department of Health, should

         18  take full responsibility for Adult Homes with a

         19  preponderance of people with mental illnesses. Let's

         20  not fool ourselves, proposals of the kind that we

         21  hear now emerging for State agencies to share

         22  responsibility are, based on our experience, totally

         23  futile, because State agencies hardly ever work

         24  together effectively.

         25                 Each time terrible conditions in

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            174

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  Adult Homes have been revealed in the past, we have

          3  tinkered with this system.  Most of us have become

          4  inured to it and cynical about it.  It has been a

          5  bipartisan moral failure.  It's not any one party's

          6  responsibility or failure.  This time I hope we will

          7  all face the truth, that a major change in policy is

          8  the only reform that will make a long- term

          9  difference in the lives of the people we're trying

         10  to help.

         11                 Thank you very much for giving me

         12  this opportunity, I have been wanting to say this

         13  for a while.

         14                 MS. LASICKI:  Am I on?  Hi, my name

         15  is Toni Lasicki, and I'm the Executive Director of

         16  the Association for Community Living.  I was

         17  previously the Executive Director of a provider

         18  agency that operated housing programs under State

         19  OMH, OMRDD, OASAS, and OTDA, as well as local

         20  governments.  I also thank you very much for calling

         21  the hearing, and I also, actually applaud your

         22  passion and your outrage and your focusing on some

         23  very specific common sense questions around

         24  medications and criminality. They're the obvious

         25  questions that not enough public officials ask. So I
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          2  do thank you for focusing on that.

          3                 And I'm going to veer a little bit

          4  away from my testimony at times, because most of it

          5  is exactly like Giselle's. I mean I just completely

          6  agree with everything that she just said. And I do

          7  hope that you will ask me some medication questions,

          8  because I think I can shed a little light on that

          9  whole medication issue.

         10                 But just for your background, ACL is

         11  a statewide organization of 125 non- profit agencies

         12  that provide housing and supports to over 20,000

         13  persons living with severe and persistent mental

         14  illness around the State.  Over 40 of our member

         15  agencies are here in the five boroughs of New York

         16  City.  All of our member agencies are funded and/or

         17  licensed by the State Office of Mental Health either

         18  directly or by way of local government contracts.

         19  Many also access a variety of other funding streams,

         20  for example, HUD, tax credits and local government

         21  dollars in order to provide services to this special

         22  population.

         23                 For a period of time in the early and

         24  mid- eighties, New York State Office of Mental

         25  Health developed housing programs for people with
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          2  mental illness, especially those being discharged

          3  for State psychiatric centers.  For a number of

          4  years in the eighties a thousand or more beds were

          5  funded every year, and those beds now form the

          6  cornerstone of the community- based housing

          7  programs.  However, in 1995, Commissioner Stone

          8  announced that OMH should not be in the housing

          9  business.  At the Assembly hearings in Albany

         10  recently, he told us that OMH is not responsible for

         11  the thousands of people discharged from State

         12  Psychiatric facilities into shelters, onto the

         13  streets and into deplorably and inappropriate Adult

         14  Homes.  He even suggested that clients in Adult

         15  Homes choose to go to Adult Homes, as if a choice

         16  between an Adult Home and the streets is any choice

         17  at all.

         18                 Contrast this with the State Office

         19  of Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities

         20  (OMRDD)'s New York State Cares initiative for

         21  persons with mental retardation and developmental

         22  disabilities.  OMRDD will ultimately provide

         23  individualized housing with appropriate supports for

         24  every person in the state with a developmental

         25  Disability who needs one.  No matter that this has
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          2  taken, and will take, many years, a considerable

          3  investment of money, and changes along the way to

          4  make services more and more responsive to the

          5  individual needs of the consumers and their

          6  families.  There is a sense that OMRDD has a

          7  positive mission, it embraces its consumers, is

          8  proud to sponsor them, and it is a living, breathing

          9  entity that changes with the times.  OMRDD wants

         10  every person returned to their home communities with

         11  supports adequate for them to be in those

         12  communities with dignity.  We should provide no less

         13  for our loved ones who experience mental illness.

         14  OMRDD's highest functioning consumers are the mental

         15  health system lowest functioning consumers, and yet

         16  the OMRDD position is that everyone, no matter how

         17  disabled can live in the community.  Our attitude

         18  needs to be the same towards our citizens with

         19  mental illness.

         20                 When I was first invited to testify,

         21  a staff person, I'm not sure who it was, called me

         22  to ask if I was coming, and asked who we were and

         23  what our organization does?  And in explaining it I

         24  started to talk about some of the problems with the

         25  OMH funding, was that you?  That was you, and you
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          2  had asked me to actually speak to that issue.  So

          3  even though this is a little bit off the focus of

          4  Adult Homes, which might be a relief, actually. I

          5  did want to just give you some background about the

          6  entire mental health housing system in New York

          7  State, some of the programs that are funded by the

          8  Office of Mental Health.

          9                 The Community Residence Program,

         10  which is the group home, the lay person's group

         11  home, they call it group home, and there are

         12  treatment apartment programs, scatter sites

         13  apartment programs.  Those are licensed by the

         14  Office of Mental Health. Those programs were

         15  developed 20 years ago at a time when consumers were

         16  highly institutionalized, they were coming right out

         17  of the hospitals, everybody was on two medications,

         18  Haldol and Cogentin, staff people understood those

         19  medications, there were just two. They had to look

         20  for one side effect, that was it.  And the services

         21  that were provided in those programs were

         22  rehabilitative in nature.  People needed to learn

         23  how to use the washing machine and get on the bus

         24  and those kinds of things.  The staffing patterns

         25  were appropriate at the time for the charge that the
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          2  program had.

          3                 Today people are on eight medications

          4  each, often, that is about the average now.  So in a

          5  particular community residence, and I'm doing

          6  research now, and in the packet you will see an

          7  example of three separate community residences with

          8  the consumer profiles.  And the consumer profiles

          9  show you all the medications that they're on, all

         10  the medical conditions they have, all the

         11  appointments they have, their age and their sex.

         12  And it shows you what, it's just a sample, but I'm

         13  gathering this information from around the State and

         14  I'm finding it is the same every where.

         15                 The community residence program is

         16  grossly outdated for the consumers that we're

         17  serving today.  Supported housing, which is a more

         18  current model and a permanent model, if the licensed

         19  models are transitional.  The supported housing

         20  program is a permanent model, often the clients hold

         21  the lease themselves, sometimes they don't, but

         22  those programs also are grossly under funded.  And

         23  there is an entire report in your packet just on

         24  supported housing.  And so you can read about that

         25  the funding levels are in there, it's about 14
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          2  pages, it is pretty straightforward.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then I will not

          4  read it.

          5                 MS.LASICKI:  Hmm, you won't read it?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  No, because this

          7  is a straightforward, I don't read things that are

          8  straight.

          9                 MS. LASICKI:  Just read page 13.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  If it is gay

         11  forward, I will.

         12                 MS. LASICKI:  Just read page 13.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Gay forward - -

         14                 MS. LASICKI:  Oh, I got you, I'm

         15  sorry.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  If it is

         17  straightforward, I don't.

         18                 MS. LASICKI:  I'm sorry, that went

         19  right over my head, I got you, thank you.  It's gay

         20  forward and straightforward.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I'm prejudice

         22  that way.

         23                 MS. LASICKI:  Four times before I got

         24  it.  But the supported housing programs are also

         25  grossly under- funded.
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          2                 In my testimony it sort of lays out

          3  the different models and what some of the problems

          4  are that we have with all of them.

          5                 So in fashioning a solution, in

          6  talking about smaller programs, and I believe, like

          7  Giselle, that smaller programs are better for the

          8  consumers.  But smaller and more normalizing

          9  settings are far superior and often the path to the

         10  future.  It's long past time that New York makes a

         11  promise to our most disabled citizens and their

         12  families and move aggressively forward to create

         13  home- like environments properly designed and

         14  staffed for the individual needs of the residents.

         15                 To accomplish this New York State

         16  Office of Mental Health and DOH, in this case, needs

         17  to sit down with the many accomplished individuals

         18  who have years of experience in designing and

         19  developing housing programs for people with mental

         20  illness, and begin to implement new program and

         21  fiscal models to meet the current and future needs

         22  of its clients.  A long- term strategic plan is

         23  needed.

         24                 A statewide network of not- for-

         25  profit agencies skilled in the provision of
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          2  providing service to residents already exists and

          3  forms the basis for addressing the adult home

          4  crisis. Within OMH there are talented individuals in

          5  the Housing Bureau with the capability of re-

          6  invigorating New York's Housing Programs for

          7  citizens with mental illness.

          8                 In addition, there is a parallel

          9  network of agencies in New York City that provide

         10  generic, low- income housing that have had success

         11  working with people with mental illnesses in mixed-

         12  use, low- income supportive housing settings.  You

         13  will find no shortage of expertise, creativity or

         14  will in the not- for- profit community.

         15                 I also put some problems and

         16  suggested solutions, it's not anything you have not

         17  already heard today.  But the main point I think for

         18  you to take away today, is that the existing housing

         19  options, all of them, are no longer working for the

         20  complex needs of the consumers we serve today.  And

         21  that there is a finite number, I believe, of persons

         22  with mental illness who need housing with adequate

         23  supports that goes beyond the Adult Home population,

         24  but includes the Adult Home population.  We need a

         25  plan to address the needs of everyone in the system,
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          2  that includes the approximately 15,000 people in

          3  Adult Homes, I think that is closer to the number,

          4  the 10,000 who are homeless or in shelters, the

          5  7,000 or so who are in jails, and the 20,000 or so

          6  that are in inadequately funded programs.

          7                 And about the inadequate funding of

          8  the existing programs, I just want to address the

          9  medication issue.  Because I know that you're

         10  outraged about the medications.  But in a licensed

         11  OMH community residence, the medications are

         12  supervised by a person with a high school diploma.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I am aware of

         14  that.

         15                 MS. LASICKI:  They have no particular

         16  training, none.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I'm aware of that

         18  part.

         19                 MS. LASICKI:  So it's the same

         20  everywhere.  Now I think with the Adult Homes, what,

         21  we do it under an exemption. There is an exemption

         22  in the law that says that as long as you're not

         23  administering the medications, as long as you're

         24  just supervising the medication, you don't have to

         25  have any training of any kind or any licensure of
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          2  any kind.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  That is a

          4  loophole.

          5                 MS. LASICKI:  And I think that, I'm

          6  not sure how the Adult Homes are doing this, it

          7  sounds like they are dispensing, sounds like they're

          8  actually putting it in a cup and giving it to

          9  someone.  My guess is that they think they're under

         10  that exemption, but they're misunderstanding what it

         11  is that they're supposed to do.  We actually hand

         12  all of the bottles to the consumer, the consumer

         13  picks up the bottle, reads it, opens it, dispenses

         14  it for themselves, takes it themselves, and the

         15  staff supervises it.  But my contention is that

         16  with, and you will see on the charts that you have

         17  there, with 166 to 200 medications to supervise in a

         18  group home with one person with a high school

         19  diploma, it's ripe for a disaster.  And that is

         20  where we're at in a licensed programs with OMH.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I used to work in

         22  Project Reach Out, and Project Reach Out had to hire

         23  a nurse in order to proceed to handle the medication

         24  in there.  A full line for that, it was not possible

         25  to do it in any other way.
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          2                 MS. LASICKI:  Well we have providers

          3  all around the State who, they do not have the

          4  funding to hire nurses.  We have been telling it to

          5  OMH for years now.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, thank you.

          7                 MS. LASICKI:  It's a huge problem.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, and thank

          9  you for being so patient.

         10                 MS. PARETI:  Oh, thank you for the

         11  opportunity to testify.  My name is Lauren Pareti,

         12  and I'm the Policy Analyst at the Center for Urban

         13  Community Services.

         14                 Before I begin my official testimony,

         15  I actually want to say something as an individual

         16  and as a taxpayer here in New York City.  And this

         17  is related to what Councilwoman Lopez was saying

         18  about the criminal implications in all of this

         19  scandal, and possible criminal solutions to the

         20  problems.

         21                 I mean, I'm not a lawyer, but I

         22  believe that there are provisions in our law that

         23  allow for properties to be seized when they have

         24  either been, that the income used to purchase the

         25  property was generated through criminal activity, or
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          2  when the property, itself, was used to conduct

          3  criminal activity.  And one of the problems in

          4  finding a solution to this crisis, is going to be

          5  that these properties are owned, you know, it's

          6  private property, and that in order to create

          7  permanent supportive housing there, we're going to

          8  have to acquire those properties.

          9                 So that is as an individual, not as a

         10  representative by organization.

         11                 I'm actually, my testimony is

         12  remarkably similar to Toni's testimony, as well as

         13  Giselle's testimony, so I'm not going to sit here

         14  and read it.  I'm just going to highlight a couple

         15  of things.

         16                 The first thing I want to do is

         17  actually answer a question that was asked before

         18  regarding the relationship between New York/New York

         19  and the Adult Home crisis.  I certainly am a huge

         20  supporter New York/New York III.  I have been

         21  organizing around the City on that issue, I

         22  absolutely believe that this Committee should do

         23  everything in its power to pass New York/New York

         24  III.  And while New York/New York III will certainly

         25  address the overall crisis that Toni just talked
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          2  about, it will not in an immediate and direct way

          3  help the people who are currently in Adult Homes,

          4  because they are not homeless.  And you have to be

          5  homeless in order to access New York/New York

          6  housing.

          7                 It will, hopefully, prevent, I

          8  believe that Shelley Naughts (phonetic) from the

          9  Coalition for the Homeless testified before the

         10  Assembly hearing up in Albany on Adult Homes, that

         11  prior to the first New York/New York Agreement there

         12  were about 900 individuals every year who were being

         13  discharged from DHS shelters into Adult Homes.  And

         14  that subsequent to the New York/New York Agreement,

         15  she believes that that number has dropped to around

         16  100.

         17                 Right now, the vacancies, my agency

         18  tracks vacancies in the mental health supportive

         19  housing system, the vacancy rates both for New

         20  York/New York housing and for non- New York/New York

         21  housing are hovering right around 2 percent.  So we

         22  are virtually at the point of exhausting that

         23  housing stock, and my guess is that without a New

         24  York/New York III Agreement what you will see is

         25  similar levels of discharges from DHS shelters into
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          2  Adult Homes. So in that sort of tangential way, New

          3  York/New York III will help, in part, the crisis,

          4  but not in a direct way.

          5                 I just want to reiterate what Toni

          6  said that the crisis in Adult Homes is a housing

          7  crisis, it requires a housing solution, it is this

          8  much of the larger housing crisis facing people with

          9  mental illness right now in the City.

         10                 I want to reinforce what the

         11  residents from Seaport Manor said earlier today, as

         12  well as the attorneys from MFY Legal Services, we

         13  cannot as a city afford to lose 346 beds, which is

         14  what is about to happen.  If 346 beds, so you know

         15  with a mental health supportive housing vacancy rate

         16  of 2 percent, to give up 346 beds is absurd.  And I,

         17  again, would urge the Committee to do everything

         18  that you can to prevent that from happening.

         19                 There are some real practical

         20  considerations, and I think Giselle talked a little

         21  bit about these.  You know, I wholeheartedly support

         22  converting as many of these properties as we can

         23  into permanent supportive housing.  There are some

         24  real practical considerations, one of them is the

         25  property acquisition issue.  There is also, the way
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          2  that those facilities, the physical plans of those

          3  facilities are designed is not in keeping with

          4  current best practices in supportive housing.  For

          5  example, people are sharing rooms, sometimes three

          6  and four people are sharing rooms.  I don't want to

          7  share my bedroom, people who live in Adult Homes

          8  don't want to share their bedrooms, it is not good

          9  practice to share your bedroom.  People in CRs are

         10  also sharing bedrooms.

         11                 My agency operates supportive

         12  housing, and, you know, we have found through our

         13  many years of experience that people do better when

         14  they have their own bedroom.  So right off the bat,

         15  if you're looking at converting these properties, I

         16  just did some rough calculations before I came here

         17  today, if you were to assume that all of the 29

         18  impacted homes in New York City were available, the

         19  properties could be acquired and were appropriate

         20  that there were not such substantial physical plan

         21  issues, structural issues that made it cost

         22  inhibitive to convert it, you would still end up

         23  losing about 3,000 beds from the system. Because off

         24  the bat, you're going to want to turn those, make

         25  those rooms either single rooms, or even more, you
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          2  know, even better would be efficiency apartments for

          3  people.

          4                 In the cases of people that might not

          5  be, you know, might be very unstable, and you might

          6  feel that it is unsafe for them to have a kitchen in

          7  their own apartment, but they still need to have the

          8  ability to be able to learn those skills, and you

          9  would want to, at least, create some communal

         10  kitchens where people could be helped to develop

         11  those independent living skills, that is going to

         12  require renovations to the physical plan and loss of

         13  beds.

         14                 And then in addition, if you're going

         15  to staff these places at adequate levels, you're

         16  going to need to convert some of that space into

         17  office space.

         18                 So my very rough, you know without

         19  having done, obviously, I mean assessment of the

         20  actual physical plan is that you're going to lose at

         21  least 3,000 beds.  And that just makes the, you

         22  know, the situation that we're in, the crisis that

         23  we're in even worst.

         24                 The last thing that I want to say

         25  from the City's point of view, the City right now
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          2  pays 25 percent of the Medicaid cost in these homes,

          3  the local share of Medicaid.  There was a December

          4  2001 Report by the Commission on the quality of

          5  care, I believe Ray Schwartz recited the report

          6  earlier, that found that an average of $27,000

          7  Medicaid were being spent per resident per year for

          8  often ill- defined and duplicated service.  So 25

          9  percent of that is City money.

         10                 Despite the fact that we're already

         11  spending substantial Medicaid resources on Adult

         12  Home residents, we know that they're not receiving

         13  appropriate quality of care.  In some cases they're

         14  receiving abusive care.  In turn this poor quality

         15  of care carries additional hidden costs in current

         16  systems including HHC hospitals and other hospitals,

         17  city jails and the NYPD.

         18                 So I will just leave you with that

         19  thought that the City is already spending money on

         20  this problem, and I encourage us to spend it in a

         21  way that is more productive.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.  I

         23  disagree with you guys that this is a problem of

         24  lack of housing.  I think this is a nature that had

         25  to do with exploitation of human beings as a good.
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          2  And the reason I believe that is that, yes, we have

          3  a crisis in terms of housing the mentally ill in an

          4  appropriate setting.  But what is going on in there

          5  and the way that the people are handled and the way

          6  which these places are run, the way that all that is

          7  happening, to me, this is a problem of exploitation

          8  of something that they found that they exploit, and

          9  they're going to exploit it to the point that

         10  they're going to go through whatever they have to go

         11  without no remorse.

         12                 Then, for me, yes, we have that

         13  crisis and that is unquestionable.  But if the

         14  mentally ill would not be there, it will be somebody

         15  else who will be exploited.  Then for me the

         16  business of that need to be stopped, the business of

         17  it.  Because it is the only way that I see that to

         18  be fixed.  That is not a profit- making venture.  As

         19  long as that is in place, I see this continued to

         20  happen.

         21                 MS. PARETI:  I agree with you, but I

         22  would just add that you cannot, right now you cannot

         23  stop the business without making all of those people

         24  homeless.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  No, I understand
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          2  the other point that you're bringing, and that we

          3  need to make sure that everybody who lives there is

          4  housed.  Therefore, in my opinion, we should turn

          5  all of those buildings, all of them, into

          6  appropriate housing for people with disabilities.  I

          7  don't care which way, but it should be done because

          8  right now the business that has been used in there

          9  has been used to house them, and that is the excuse

         10  to get the money out of this.  Therefore, what

         11  difference does it make if you take the business

         12  away from them, end the business, the exploitation

         13  will end, and then you produce the housing that is

         14  needed.

         15                 MS. LASICKI:  I agree in part also

         16  around, you know, choking off the business.  But I

         17  don't agree that it is not a housing problem,

         18  because one of the problems with, if we fix the

         19  Adult Homes, the 300- and 400- bed Adult Homes, what

         20  they really are, are institutions.  Right now we

         21  have 17 State Psychiatric Institutions and many of

         22  them have only 100 or 120 beds left, they have lots

         23  of buildings and lots of property, but they only

         24  have, they have few actual patients in those

         25  hospitals.  There are 4,500 patients in the State
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          2  Psychiatric facilities that use, in 17 State

          3  Psychiatric facilities.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But that is

          5  criminality from the State, again.

          6                 MS. LASICKI:  Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Under providing

          8  the services that they're supposed to be providing.

          9                 MS. LASICKI:  But I think the three

         10  or four hundred people in one site creates another,

         11  it creates a community- based institution.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, it is a

         13  psychiatric hospital.

         14                 MS. STOPLER:  Without psychiatric

         15  services, it's a warehouse.

         16                 MS. LASICKI:  Even if the rooms were

         17  made nicer and there is air conditioning and there

         18  is adequate mental health services, I still think

         19  that those things have to be taken down. It's an

         20  institution, we OLMSTEAD on the books, it's the 21st

         21  Century, we have to take people and truly integrate

         22  them into the community.  And the only way to do

         23  that is to do it in smaller settings.  Even if you

         24  create, even if you downsize those to 100 beds or

         25  so, and then create mixed- use housing, some low-
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          2  income housing, some mixed- use housing like the

          3  Prince George or the Times Square here in the City.

          4  I understand in the City there is going to be some

          5  large buildings that have some people with

          6  disabilities in them.  But to designate 300- and

          7  400- bed buildings just to people with mental

          8  illness, I think is creating institutions in the

          9  community.   And it is totally against the ADA and

         10  the interpretation of the ADA as it was stated in

         11  Olmstead.

         12                 MS. STOPLER:  Can I just say, you

         13  know it is an issue beyond housing, there is no

         14  doubt about that.  I mean, this is, I mean, it's a

         15  human rights issue.  This is about people's rights,

         16  this is about, I mean, Jody mentioned she saw

         17  pictures of Willowbrook.  Jody is my friend,

         18  unfortunately, I'm much older than Jody, I did not

         19  see pictures of Willowbrook, I have been in

         20  Willowbrook.  I was there many times, unfortunately,

         21  and when you see human life being treated like

         22  animals, you know, and you walked away from that.

         23  And then see what is happening in the Adult Homes,

         24  you realize this is 30, 40 years later, and we're no

         25  better off.
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          2                 But there was a solution to that and

          3  the State came up with a solution, they developed

          4  New York Cares.  They put money behind it and they

          5  made a commitment not to house people, warehouse

          6  people in these large places like animals.  And that

          7  is what it takes.

          8                 And the only thing, I mean, I feel

          9  that as a City, I mean this is in our backyard, and

         10  it hurts me as a person who lives here and as a

         11  professional in what I do, but we cannot let the

         12  State off the hook.  Because it's really, that is

         13  where we have to work, we have to put the pressure

         14  on them to make the right policy changes, like they

         15  did after Willowbrook, we have to make sure they do

         16  the same things now.

         17                 And there are other things as a city

         18  that we can do and recommendations, and certainly

         19  services and planning, but I don't want to take the

         20  responsibility away from the State, because they're

         21  the ones who created this policy mess.  And they're

         22  the ones who can change that policy.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I don't disagree

         24  with you, I think that you're right.  But there is

         25  one piece that we're missing constantly down here,
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          2  and part of the problem why the mentally ill

          3  continue to be treated this is because they're not

          4  allowed to be part of the people who fight for their

          5  rights.  And this happened and this is done, and I

          6  have seen done, by social workers, by psychiatrists,

          7  by programs, by organizations who do not want the

          8  mentally ill to get empowered with their own issues

          9  and fight for it.  And I have seen this on a

         10  continuum basis, and I hope that, you know, we can

         11  eventually change this for real.  It had changed a

         12  little bit, but not yet.

         13                 And I am of the belief that as a

         14  woman I have to fight for my own liberation.  I

         15  cannot allow a man to fight for my liberation.  Then

         16  if I am mentally ill I have to fight for my own

         17  liberation, and people have to let me fight for that

         18  liberation. And that is something that we are

         19  failing to do, a lot.

         20                 MS. STOPLER:  I agree 100 percent.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  In the mental

         22  health field.

         23                 MS. STOPLER:  Yes, we have far to go.

         24    We have made some headway, tiny, we have far to

         25  go.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Very tiny.

          3                 MS. STOPLER:  I just also want to say

          4  as a family member we have to fight for our

          5  children, for our sisters, for our brothers and

          6  mothers who are experiencing these things as well.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

          8                 MS. STOPLER:  So it's not just

          9  consumers, they absolutely have a right to fight for

         10  themselves and should, but also as a family member,

         11  we have a right to fight for our families.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You're right on

         13  that.  Next panel.  Thank you, it was very

         14  educational for me what you brought to my attention.

         15                 All:  Thank you.

         16                 MS. BOLANOS:  Our final panel is Jane

         17  Doe and Jagnanan Ramnanan.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  If you could

         19  pronounce.

         20                 MS. BOLANOS:  I'm sorry.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You're going to

         22  help us to pronounce your name in a few minutes.

         23                 And please remember everybody here

         24  that this hearing is going to be just recessed.

         25                 MS. BOLANOS:  Please, raise your
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          2  right hand?  Do you swear that the testimony you're

          3  about to provide before this Committee is the whole

          4  truth and to the best of your knowledge?

          5                 MR. KAMNANAN:  Yes, I do.

          6                 MS. DOE:  Yes, I do.

          7                 MS. BOLANOS:  Okay, please state your

          8  name, and if you're with an organization, state that

          9  also, or as you wish to identify yourself?  Thank

         10  you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You can proceed.

         12                 MS. DOE:  Okay, I have come here and

         13  I am testifying incommunicado, because of the

         14  outrageous and extraordinary retaliation and

         15  harassment that I have experienced from management,

         16  social workers, et cetera, in these Adult Homes.

         17  And also because I have been under death threats

         18  ever since I have entered the system.  Therefore,

         19  for my own protection, for the public and for the

         20  people who are running the place that I'm in and the

         21  place that I was in before, they will know who it is

         22  probably, but I don't need anymore than what I am

         23  already burdened with.

         24                 I ended up being dumped into the

         25  system because a doctor at New York Presbyterian
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          2  Hospital never gave me treatment, wouldn't listen to

          3  me and did not sign discharge papers.  And without

          4  those discharge papers, my disability insurer would

          5  no longer make payments.  Thus, making me homeless.

          6  So I ended up in the system, being sent to a

          7  shelter, then being sent to a transitional living

          8  shelter, called Western TLC, run by, it's the

          9  umbrella group is Western United, and the

         10  transitional living center is run by one, Iris

         11  Cohen.

         12                 One of the first things she wanted me

         13  to do, was to get rid of my Arisa (phonetic) Group

         14  Health Insurance, illegally, and I did not know why

         15  at the time, but in order for her to dump me as

         16  easily as possible, I needed not to have my group

         17  health insurance, I needed to have Medicaid to be

         18  put into Level II housing.  I have never belonged in

         19  adult facility with support or anything like that.

         20  However, the social workers, the people who are in

         21  this industry do what is ever most convenient for

         22  themselves.  And if they have to makeup and lie in

         23  the files, they do it.  Truth is irrelevant, rights

         24  are irrelevant, I was specifically told, you have no

         25  rights, while at Western.
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          2                 I had been the President of the

          3  Residents' Council and I was warned off not to bring

          4  up any issues dealing with the staff.  One of the

          5  major problems with Residents' Councils is they are

          6  not run by the residents, they are run by the

          7  owners, managers, and social workers.  Therefore,

          8  they are of no use, yet, you are allowed other

          9  mechanisms under OMH policy.

         10                 I was forced into the place where I

         11  am, which it has another name, but I like to call it

         12  Gonif (phonetic) House, which is Yiddish for

         13  unscrupulous business people, because that is what

         14  it is.  They do not provide services, none of these

         15  places act in the best interest of the people they

         16  are supposedly providing services for.  They act in

         17  a manner which is solely to their advantage and the

         18  least problematic for them.

         19                 And in the New York/New York housing

         20  applications, it is not uncommon for social workers

         21  and psychiatrists to knowingly put in material

         22  misstatements and omissions.  I checked with the

         23  people who go and approve the New York/New York

         24  housing for whatever level you're in, they claim to

         25  know nothing of this, yet, it is fairly common
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          2  knowledge.  And I wondered how could they not know?

          3  They know, they're just saying they don't to cover

          4  up.

          5                 I have tried to the OMH to

          6  investigate Western.  The investigator refused to

          7  even take documents from me, which proved my

          8  allegations.  I requested my entire file back in

          9  1999, and please excuse the language, but when I

         10  first requested them, Iris told me, go get a

         11   "fucking" subpoena, which is not apropos.  There

         12  are laws which make provisions for you to receive

         13  this information. And I also wrote it in such a way,

         14  later on, once I knew more, where there was no way

         15  she could get around turning over those documents,

         16  because if she refused to turn them over to me,

         17  under public health law, your health care proxy

         18  agent is not allowed to be denied any information

         19  whatsoever.  But the entire time I was there, he was

         20  not allowed to contact me or the agency, under Iris

         21  Cohen's orders.  Clear violation of the law.

         22                 Quite frankly, of all the laws that

         23  I'm aware of, which govern these facilities and the

         24  social workers, I can say that I found one needle in

         25  the hay stack where I am that they were not in
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          2  violation of.  Well, for two months they have even

          3  been in violation of that.  And one of the head

          4  people specifically stated to me, "I do not have to

          5  obey the law."  They don't care, they know no one is

          6  going to do anything about them.  This goes right

          7  from the State, Pataki, in here through the City

          8  into DMH itself, which I also requested to

          9  investigate my current place, which I was thrown

         10  into under duress with a quote by Iris Cohen of what

         11  are you going to do, call the Secret Service?

         12                 They refused to take documentation

         13  from me proving my allegations.  They will not

         14  investigate, it's like the three monkeys, hear no

         15  evil, speak no evil, see no evil.  So those people

         16  who should have their licenses removed and should

         17  have had them even removed 10 years ago, they are

         18  still in good standing.  There is no back up way,

         19  and if these agencies have or care to have to double

         20  check the information and see what is going on.  As

         21  a matter of fact, the more times you clear a case

         22  without finding fault, the more likely you are to

         23  get promoted, and that is just the general picture

         24  from the State and in the City as well.

         25                 Therefore, there is no one for the
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          2  mentally ill in these places to go to, to ask for

          3  help, it's even counterproductive, because once they

          4  have been cleared, they're cleared no matter what.

          5                 Also they're frequently in

          6  noncompliance with federal law and city law as well,

          7  OMH policy and regulations.  And I would like to

          8  incorporate all of those relevant laws into my

          9  testimony here today.  As well as my testimonies

         10  twice in front of Marty Luster's Commission, State

         11  Assembly Mental Health.

         12                 I'm living in a facility which looks

         13  nice.  I had a window fall on me because they

         14  wouldn't fix it.  You cannot get anything done

         15  without the HPD.  We have people who do not and

         16  should not be in a Level I facility.  There is two

         17  levels right now under New York/New York housing.

         18  Level I, which is fairly independent, and Level II

         19  where you need a lot of supervision. They just take

         20  people for the money and they keep you there, and

         21  they're supposed to do discharge planning to move

         22  you out, back into the community.  They do not do

         23  that, they have you captive, they get the money,

         24  they don't do the work, and they get paid.  And as a

         25  matter of fact, I filed Lutheran Social Services
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          2  twice.  Once when the social worker tried to get me

          3  to falsify documents with the City of New York and I

          4  refused to do so.  That was the most time I ever

          5  spent with him, 45 minutes trying to convince to

          6  break the law.  It is typical of these places.

          7                 That is when the harassment had

          8  started, it has escalated to the point where it is

          9  untenable.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You need to wrap

         11  up.

         12                 MS. DOE:  Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Because the other

         14  people in there are going to use this room also.

         15                 MS. DOE:  Okay, basically what I'm

         16  saying is none of the people who are supposed to do

         17  their jobs are doing their jobs. They are committing

         18  fraud and ripping everyone off.  They're screwing

         19  the people in these residents, ripping off the

         20  community and also since they do not handle violent

         21  residents appropriately the communities are also in

         22  danger.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

         24                 MS. DOE:  You're welcome.

         25                 MR. RAMNANAN:  My name is Jagnanan
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          2  Ramnanan.  I'm a resident of Queens Adult Care

          3  Center.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Can you repeat

          5  the last name?

          6                 MR. RAMNANAN:  Jagnanan Ramnanan.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Ramnanan.

          8                 MR. RAMNANAN:  Ramnanan.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Did I say it

         10  right?

         11                 MR. RAMNANAN:  Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

         13                 MR. RAMNANAN:  I'm a resident of

         14  Queens - -

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

         16                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Can he spell

         17  his name for the record?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  He said it, he

         19  said it in the beginning.  Okay.

         20                 MR. RAMNANAN:  I'm a resident of

         21  Queens Adult Care Center, and I'm also President of

         22  Resident Council.  We do have our Resident Council

         23  meeting every month.  Well we had a formal with Mr.

         24  Ruben, who was here before, and there be a lot of

         25  ripped off and they get rid of him.  Then he was run
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          2  with Jamaica Hospital came running, until they have

          3  a new operator, which is Mr. Leo Hoffman.  Since

          4  this guy came in, he doing a lot of renovating,

          5  fixing things up all around.

          6                 For the first few weeks we had good

          7  food.  But after that they cut down on the food.

          8  The people complaining about the food, you know.

          9  They don't get better food to eat.

         10                 And they ban the people sitting in

         11  front of the building, they don't want them sitting

         12  in front of the building, there be no chairs or

         13  nothing.

         14                 I spoke to him, he says the people

         15  making a lot of noise, throwing garbage around,

         16  urinating all over the place, the people in the area

         17  are complaining.  I'm trying my best what to do, but

         18  these people are messed up, you know, throwing

         19  garbage all over the place, you know.

         20                 MS. BOLANOS:  Excuse me, are you a

         21  resident of what used to be the - -

         22                 MR. RAMNANAN:  Queens Adult Care

         23  Center.

         24                 MS. BOLANOS:  Right, was that the

         25  former Leben -                MR. RAMNANAN:  Leben
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          2  Home.

          3                 MS. BOLANOS:  Okay, Leben Home.

          4                 MR. RAMNANAN:  But the new owner

          5  changed the name.

          6                 MS. BOLANOS:  Okay, thank you.

          7                 MR. RAMNANAN:  To Queens Adult Care

          8  Center.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And you're

         10  currently in there? Are you currently living in

         11  there?

         12                 MR. RAMNANAN:  Yes, I'm currently

         13  living, right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, you are.

         15                 MR. RAMNANAN:  Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  How many units,

         17  how many people are in that place?

         18                 MR. RAMNANAN:  Approximately 350, I

         19  think now, something like that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  That is a

         21  humongous number.

         22                 MR. RAMNANAN:  Some new residents

         23  came is, you know. They had like 300 before, a lot

         24  of people came in, so about 350.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.  Madam, how
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          2  many people are in the resident that you are?

          3                 MS. DOE:  I'm really not quite sure.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  At least 100?

          5                 MS. DOE:  Oh, yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  More than 100?

          7                 MS. DOE:  It could very well be.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Could very well

          9  be, okay.  Did you finish?

         10                 MR. RAMNANAN:  Well as I said before,

         11  the first few weeks they were given good food, but

         12  after that they cut down on the food, people are

         13  complaining about the food.  And the allowance is

         14  what they got, they don't have enough money to

         15  spend, four dollars per day whatever.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Did they give you

         17  the four dollars every day, or they give it to you

         18  in a chunk?

         19                 MR. RAMNANAN: Well there are some

         20  people on daily allowance, some are weekly, some are

         21  monthly allowance, you know. They give some people a

         22  daily, because if they get it monthly then they

         23  spend the whole thing out, you know.  Like daily,

         24  you have something every day to spend.  So they have

         25  daily, weekly and monthly.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I imagine that a

          3  lot of people stop smoking because cigarettes cost -

          4   -

          5                 MR. RAMNANAN:  Cigarettes are

          6  expensive right now.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  More than four

          8  dollars today, right?

          9                 MR. RAMNANAN:  Some of us smoke

         10  cigars, it's cheaper.  They smoke cigars, it's

         11  cheaper.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, all right.

         13  I was just wondering how people could afford

         14  cigarettes with this amount of money be given to

         15  them daily.  No, I'm not saying that other people

         16  should be smoking, I just was wondering how.

         17                 And you are supposed to be provided

         18  with the meal every day.

         19                 MR. RAMNANAN:  Me?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, everybody

         21  who is living in the residence, right?  Is supposed

         22  to get lunch, breakfast and dinner, right?

         23                 MR. RAMNANAN:  Breakfast, lunch and

         24  dinner, right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.  Then I
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          2  thank you very much for coming here today to

          3  testify, both of you.

          4                 We're going to recess this hearing

          5  now, and we're going to convene this hearing in the

          6  near future.  I cannot set a date right now because

          7  I need to analyze the data that have been provided

          8  to us, and I'm also very interested in going and

          9  visiting the place where the residents who were

         10  submitted to the operations are, and you're going to

         11  hear from me in the next month and a half when we're

         12  going to call this hearing again.

         13                 In between that I'm going to be

         14  studying this information and we're going to come

         15  with some good ideas.  And I intend to come with

         16  some legislation at the level of the City through

         17  this Committee.  I cannot tell you what they are at

         18  this point, but I'm thinking about some ideas that I

         19  have that perhaps we can put in place some

         20  regulations at the level of the City that may change

         21  the way that people are treated in there, until we

         22  can proceed with the idea of changing the residence

         23  into something else.

         24                 I want you to know also that I am not

         25  the only one who think that way.  I cannot disclose
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          2  to you who agree with me on that, but I have had

          3  private conversations with some individuals in the

          4  administration who agree that those residents should

          5  be changed in housing that is appropriate for the

          6  mentally ill.

          7                 With that, this hearing is recessed.

          8                 (Hearing recessed at 5:35 p.m.)
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          9            I, PAT WTULICH, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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